
Town of North Yarmouth 
Select Board Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, April 16, 2024 
Regular Business Meeting 

6:30 PM or 
Immediately Following Budget Workshop  

Wescustogo Hall & North Yarmouth Community Center 

REMINDERS TO THE ATTENDING PUBLIC:  Please mute all digital devices; Select Board meetings are open to the public, 
but the public may not speak unless recognized by the Chairperson first.  Workshops:  The public is welcome to attend 
workshops and listen to the discussion that takes place.  The purpose of holding a workshop is to provide the Select Board 
with the opportunity to focus on specific town matters to later present at a regular business meeting. Therefore, public 
participation is limited to only regular business meetings of the Select Board.   

Version 1.0 – 04/16/2024 

Select Board Members 

Amy Haile, Chair Andrea Berry, Vice Chair Katherine Maloney, Board Member 
Karl Cyr, Board Member Paul Hodgetts, Board Member 

1. Call to Order
A. Pledge of Allegiance

2. Appointments
A. Shellfish Commission Appointment
B. Open Space & Planning Committee Resignation

3. Announcements

4. Public Comment-Non-Agenda Items

5. New Business
A. MSAD #51 Warrant and Election Notice
B. Forest Management Plan Service Agreement
C. Land Acquisition - Tax Map 7 Lot 34-016 (0 Village View Lane)

6. Old Business

7. Consent Agenda
A. Payroll Warrants & Municipal Accounts Payable Warrants
B. Select Board Minutes of March 19, 2024
C. Select Board Minutes of April 2, 2024
D. North Star Planning Services Contract 7.1.2024-6.30.2025

8. Management Reports & Communications
A. Select Board Committee Reports:

1. EDSC-Kit Maloney 6. Recreation Advisory Board-Karl Cyr
2. Parks-Karl Cyr 7. School Fund Committee-Paul Hodgetts
3. Joint Standing Committee-Amy Haile, Andrea Berry   8.  Prince Memorial Library-Amy Haile
4. Waste Reduction Committee-Andrea Berry 9. Shellfish Commission-Karl Cyr
5. Walnut Hill Parkway-Paul Hodgetts , Kit Maloney 10. Budget Committee-Andrea Berry

11. Open Space & Planning-Andrea Berry, Karl Cyr

B. Town Manager’s Report
C. Department Reports
D. Financial Reports-Third Quarter FY 24

9. Any Other Business
10. Adjournment



Town of North Yarmouth 
Select Board Business 

Summary of Recommended Motions & Other Action Items 

April 16, 2024 

3. Appointments

A. Shellfish Commission Appointment

Rachael Whitmarsh 

Suggested Motion 

Appoint Rachael Whitmarsh as a member of the Shellfish Commission with a term ending 

6/30/2026.  

Motion___________, Second __________   Vote___________ 

5. New Business

A. MSAD #51 Warrant and Election Notice

The voters of the Town of North Yarmouth are being notified that a Maine School 
Administrative District No. 51 referendum election will be held at Wescustogo Hall and North 
Yarmouth Community Center on Tuesday, June 11, 2024 for the purpose of determining the 
following question: 

Question 1:  Do you favor authorizing the school board of Maine School Administrative 
District No. 51 (the “District”) to issue bonds or notes in the name of the 
District in an amount not to exceed $53,492,000 to construct and equip a 
new preK-grade 1 primary school building, a maintenance building, and an 
addition to Mabel I. Wilson School on the District’s Cumberland campus 
(the “Project”), which Project shall also include a new artificial turf athletic 
field, vehicular circulation improvements, and other improvements to and 
reconfiguration of Mabel I. Wilson School; and to acquire and convey such 
easements and other real estate interests as the school board deems 
necessary for the Project? 

Suggested Motion 

To Countersign the warrant and notice of election.  

Motion___________, Second __________   Vote___________ 

2



Town of North Yarmouth 
Select Board Business 

Summary of Recommended Motions & Other Action Items 

B. Forest Management Plan Service Agreement

The proposed forest management plan agreement will allow 207 Forestry Consulting Services, 
LLC, to prepare two (2) new forest management plans for the Town of North Yarmouth on the 
Town Forest and Chandler Brook Preserve Parcels in 2024.  The forest management plans will 
meet Maine Forest Service Stewardship Standards. 

The estimated cost to prepare the forest management plans to stewardship standards is $4,500 
which will include formal inventories. 

Suggested Motion 

Approve and authorize the Town Manager to execute the agreement. 

Motion_________________, Second________________ Vote_______________ 

C. Land Acquisition – Tax Map 7 Lot 34-016 (0 Village View Lane)

The Town of North Yarmouth has an opportunity to acquire approximately 5.9 acres of land at 0 
Village View Lane, Tax Map 7, Lot 34-016 from Ben Grover for a purchase price of $15,000. 

This will allow the Town to construct a permanent trail through this property to Knight’s Pond 
Preserve.  Completing a loop trail around Knight’s Pond is something that this community has 
wanted for a long time. 

This purchase and the authorization to expend funds from the Future Land Reserve account or 
the TIF (Recreational Trails) will need voter approval. 

Suggested Motion 

Authorize an article on the Annual Town Meeting Warrant for the purchase of Tax Map 7, 

Lot 34-016. 

Motion_________________, Second________________ Vote_______________ 

3



Town of North Yarmouth 
Select Board Business 

 
Summary of Recommended Motions & Other Action Items 

 

 

8.  Consent Agenda 

 

A. Municipal Accounts Payable Warrants 
#80 $    6,757.12  
#81    $    4,424.93     
#82 $108,165.99  

             Municipal Payroll Warrants 
#83     $  53,806.32 
 

B. Select Board Minutes of March 19, 2024 
C. Select Board Minutes of April 2, 2024 
D. North Star Planning Services Contract Renewal 

 
Suggested Motion 

 
To approve the consent agenda as presented. 

 

Motion___________, Second __________   Vote___________ 

4



5



6



7



8



9



AGREEMENT 

I. PARTIES

This contract (hereinafter referred to as "Agreement") is made and entered into on

this 16th  day of April 2024, by and between the Inhabitants of the Town of North 

Yarmouth with a mailing address of 10 Village Square Road, North Yarmouth, Maine 

04097 (hereinafter referred to as "Town"); and 207 Forestry Consulting Services, LLC, 

with a mailing address of  P.O. Box 181, New Gloucester, ME 04260 (hereinafter 

referred to as "Consultant").  In consideration of the mutual promises contained 

herein, Consultant agrees to perform the following services for the Town. 

II. SCOPE OF WORK

In consideration of the compensation set forth herein, the Contractor shall perform

the services as outlined in and attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

III. COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION

The Contractor will commence work on or before April 17, 2024 and will 

complete work on or before April 17, 2026.

IV. PAYMENT TERMS

The Consultant shall submit invoices as specified in Exhibit A.   The Consultant

understands that the payment for completion of the services outlined in Section II shall 

not exceed Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00) per year, and the Consultant agrees to

perform the services on that basis. Invoices shall list separately all out of pocket 

expenses being billed. Hourly rate for consulting services, field or office: $95.00/hour. 

Hourly rate for travel to required meetings: $50.00/hour

V. TERMINATION

Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause after giving the other party

written notice and a reasonable opportunity to cure. The Town may terminate without 

cause by giving the Consultant fourteen (14) days notice, and compensating the 

Consultant equitably to the termination date. 

10



2 

VI. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

Any controversy or claim arising out of or related to this Agreement, which

cannot be resolved between the parties shall be submitted to the Maine Superior Court 

(Cumberland County). This agreement shall be governed by Maine law. 

VII. QUALIFICATIONS

The Consultant represents it holds, and will continue to hold during the term

hereof any and all qualifications, licenses and certifications required to perform its 

services in Maine. The consultant shall perform all services in accordance with 

professional standards. 

VIII. SUBCONTRACTORS

The Consultant shall be fully responsible to the Town for the acts and omissions

of any subcontractors, and of persons either directly or indirectly employed by it, and 

shall hold subcontractors to the same terms and conditions as Consultant is held under 

this Agreement.  No subcontractors shall be retained on this Agreement without the 

specific prior written approval of the Town. 

IX. INSURANCE

The Consultant shall purchase and maintain Workers' Compensation Insurance,

General Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance including vehicle coverage and 

professional liability insurance, all with limits and terms satisfactory to the Town. The 

Town shall be named as an additional insured on the liability policy. 

X. INDEMNIFICATION

The Consultant will indemnify and hold harmless the Town, its officers, agents

and employees from and against all claims, damages, losses and expenses including 

attorney's fees arising out of or resulting from the performance of the Agreement by the 

Consultant, its officials, employees, agents and subcontractors. 

11



3 

XI. ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This Agreement and its attachments represent and contain the entire agreement

between the parties.  Prior discussions or verbal representations by the parties that are not 

contained in this Agreement and its attachments are not a part of this Agreement. Where 

there is any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and the provisions of any 

attachment, the provisions of this Agreement shall control. 

Date: _______________________ 

By:  Paul Larrivee, Owner 

Date: _______________________ INHABITANTS OF THE   

TOWN OF NORTH YARMOUTH,

MAINE 

By:___________________________ 

Diane Barnes, Town Manager

4/9/24

12



Exhibit A

1. Prepare (2) two new forest management plans for the Town of North Yarmouth on the Town Forest
and Chandler Brook Preserve Parcels in 2024. The forest management plans will meet Maine Forest
Service Stewardship Standards. Estimated cost to prepare the forest management plans to stewardship
standards is $4,500.00 Formal inventories will be completed for the new forest management plans.

2. 207 Forestry will provide forestry advice on an as needed basis for the Town of North Yarmouth
at the rates outlined in the agreement in Section IV, Payment Terms.

13



14



15



16



17



18



115
9

Walnut
Hill

Blueberry
Hill
Blueberry
Hill

Bruce
Hill

Bruce
Hill
447’447’

451’451’

I

View to
Cousins Island

Fire-Rescue
Station

Ball
Field

Town Offices

gate

dams

Boy
Scout
cabin

FAA Tower

I gate

Royal River Watershed

Presumpscot River Watershed

Bobcat MtBobcat Mt
350’350’

Old Town
House

Please respect
private property

Toot’s
Ice Cream

Cumberland 
Center

North
Yarmouth

Knight’s

Pond

M
il

l B
ro

ok

Toddy Brook

Porcupine Stream
Porcupine
Ponds

FARWELL
FOREST

VETERAN’S
MEMORIAL

PARK

VETERAN’S
MEMORIAL

PARK

TOWN
GREEN
TOWN
GREEN

SAM RISTICH
TRAILS

SAM RISTICH
TRAILS

Pleasant Valley Rd
Greely Rd Ext

D
el

w
in

 D
r H
en

ry
 R

d

Walnut Hill Rd

Pa
rso

nag
e R

d

Gray Rd

Tr
ee

 L
n

(p
riv

at
e 

ro
ad

)

Route 9

(0.9 mi)

115

9

M
em

orial Hwy

Wescustogo Hall & North
Yarmouth Community Center

Vi
lla

ge View Ln W
ildlife Ln

NORTH YARMOUTH
CUMBERLAND

NORTH YARMOUTH

CUMBERLAND

Getting There: Trailhead parking exists at 477 Greely Road Extension, Cumberland 
Center, and Wildlife Lane, North Yarmouth.  

April 2024Contour interval: 20 ft

Orange-Blazed Snowmobile Trail

Color-Blazed Trail
Other Trail

Conservation Easement (FAA)

Powerline Corridor

Other Public Land

Knight’s Pond Preserve

Other Snowmobile Trail (selected)
Parking

Picnic Area Bench

Portable Toilet

0.250

Miles

19



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 1 of 19 

Town of North Yarmouth 
Select Board Meeting Minutes  

March 19, 2024, 6:30 PM  
 
Select Board Members  
 
Amy Haile, Chairperson Andrea Berry, Vice Chairperson Katherine Maloney, Board Member  
Karl Cyr, Board Member  Paul Hodgetts, Board Member  
 
 
1. Call to Order (16:00 – 17:30) 

A.  Pledge of Allegiance.   
 
Amy Haile, Chairperson, Andrea Berry, Vice Chairperson, Karl Cyr, Board Member, Paul Hodgetts, Board 
Member, Diane Barnes, Town Manager in attendance.   
 
Katherine Maloney, Board Member, excused.  The Select Board wishes the Maloney family well on the birth 
of their daughter, Dottie. 
 

3.   Special Presentation (17:30 – 24:00) 
A. Greely High School Boys Class B Indoor Track 2024 State Champions 
B. Greely High School Girls Nordic Ski Team State Champions 

 
Two state champion teams were present to accept proclamations from the Select Board. Proclamations 
were read aloud congratulating and thanking the Greeley High School teams for their many 
accomplishments over the course of their respective seasons.   

 
2.   Appointments (24:00 – 30:10) 

A. Animal Control Officer (ACO) – Michael Dark 
 
Discussion:   
Paul Hodgetts asked if the select board had just appointed someone else and what happened to that 
person.  Amy Haile stated that the prior ACO had resigned and hopefully Michael Dark will stay for a 
while.   
 
Paul Hodgetts asked if this was through Cumberland.  Amy Haile affirmed. 
 
Motion to appoint Michael Dark as ACO for a term ending 6/30/2024 made by Amy Haile.  
Seconded by Andrea Berry.  Motion passed 4-0. 
 

B. GPCOG Delegates & Alternates  
 
The Greater Portland Council of Government’s (GPCOG) General Assembly & Annual Summit are 
coming up on Thursday, May 30, 2024. The event will be in person on the beautiful campus of St. 
Joseph’s College in Standish. The lead-in to the Annual Summit is the GPCOG General Assembly 
meeting. GPCOG’s General Assembly is made of delegates from GPCOG members, and Town of North 
Yarmouth is allowed two delegates and an alternate. Last year, our delegates were: 

Delegate 1: Amy Haile 
Delegate 2: Kit Maloney 
Alternate:  NA 

 
Discussion:  
Andrea Berry asked if Amy Haile had attended last year.  Amy said she had not been able to attend 
because of a work conflict.  Kit Maloney did attend and enjoyed meeting people and learning about 
what was going on in other towns.   

20



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 2 of 19 

 
Paul Hodgetts asked what was served for food.  Amy Haile said she didn’t know but does believe 
there was a happy hour.  She said she would be happy to attend again but herself and Andrea meet 
with GPCOG a lot so there is an opportunity if someone else would like to attend.   
 
Karl Cyr stated that he would be interested but wasn’t sure that the date worked for his schedule.  He 
also asked if the delegates had to be Select Board members, pointing out that Kit attended before she 
was voted onto the board.  Amy Haile said that was true and that Kit attended as the head of the 
EDSC committee as a volunteer and she had felt it would be helpful to Kit due to Kit’s connection with 
Economic Development.   
 
Amy Haile asked if this was something that needed to be decided on today.  Diane Barnes stated that 
GPCOG wanted the names as soon as possible and that the delegates should be familiar with 
GPCOG.   
 
Andrea Berry suggested inviting someone from the group working with GPCOG on the climate action 
plan but said it would be fine if it was two Select Board members.  Diane Barnes stated that the 
delegates are typically from the elected body and then an alternate could come from one of the other 
committees. 

 
Motion to appoint Karl Cyr and Kit Maloney as member delegates to the GPCOG General 
Assembly and Annual Summit made by Amy Haile.  Seconded by Andrea Berry.  Motion passed 
4-0. 

 
4.   Announcements (30:10) 

None. 
 

5.   Public Comment – Non-Agenda Items (30:10 – 31:00) 
Please state your name and address and keep comments to 3 minutes. 
None. 
 

6.   New Business (31:00 – 54:55) 
A. Ed MacDonald Safety Scholarship Grant Acceptance 

The North Yarmouth Fire Department has been awarded $1,850 from the Ed MacDonald Safety 
Scholarship to fund a Low Angle Rescue Class for the department. This grant is offered through MMA’s 
Workers’ Compensation Fund.  The purpose of this grant is to assist its’ Workers’ Compensation Fund 
members in their safety efforts.  This grant is designed to fund equipment or items that reduce the risk 
of injury to workers and promote safe and healthy conditions in the workplace. 
 
Discussion:   
Paul Hodgetts asked for an explanation of the Low Angle Rescue Class.  Fire Chief Gregory Payson 
stated the class is specifically designed to help with wilderness rescue calls and properly train to use 
rope systems to bring patients up over embankments and use a Stokes stretcher safely.   It has been 
a very busy four months for calls in North Yarmouth, Gray, and New Gloucester, a weird season, and 
he expects that to continue.  This class will help prepare to bring patients safely back up to roads.   
 
Paul Hodgetts asked if the Town would have to donate any money.  Chief Payson stated that the Town 
would pay for the class up front and then submit documentation and those funds would be paid back.  
It’s 100% funded by the state. 

 
Motion to accept the grant funds and authorize the Town Manager to execute documents made 
by Amy Haile.  Seconded by Paul Hodgetts.  Motion Passed 4-0. 
 

B. Floodplain Management Ordinance 
North Yarmouth recently received a Letter of Final Determination (LFD) from the Federal Emergency 

21



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 3 of 19 

Management Agency (FEMA) which sets the effective date of the new Digital Flood Insurance Rate 
Maps for Cumberland County for June 20, 2024. 
 
The LFD marks the beginning of a six-month time period for communities to update their local 
Floodplain Management Ordinances to reflect any changes since the last ordinance was adopted and 
to incorporate the new map date. 
 
Participation in the NFIP provides protection to those members of North Yarmouth who may be affected 
by flooding.  In addition, federal flood insurance is available to those who have federally backed 
mortgages in the floodplain.  Another benefit is that North Yarmouth is eligible for disaster funding and 
low interest loan when our county is in a declared disaster area. 
 
If the updated Floodplain Management Ordinance is not adopted prior to June 20th, North Yarmouth 
will be suspended from the National Flood Insurance Program on June 21st.  Flood insurance policies 
cannot be renewed, and new policies cannot be written if our community is suspended.  
‘State of Maine Department of Agriculture, Conservation & Forestry, Bureau of Resource Information & Land Use Planning 
 
Discussion:   
Amy Haile stated that from discussions with the Town Manager she understood that this is something 
set by the state and FEMA and there is a level of importance in accepting it to protect folks’ insurance 
and flood insurance as well as the Town’s ability to apply for grants.   
 
Paul Hodgetts said that it was a very long document and he saw a lot of changes in it and then saw 
that the Town had done their own off that.  He saw the federal one in here and then we have flood 
plain management.  Diane Barnes stated that it was the same one, there is a summary sheet and then 
the actual ordinance that is blue lined to show in the ordinance what the changes are and there is a 
clean copy in there as well.   
 
Paul Hodgetts asked if this is all basically federally controlled and that there are no options.  Diane 
Barnes stated that was right.   
 
Andrea Berry asked if this needed to go through the standard public hearing process.  Diane Barnes 
stated that was not required. 

 
Motion to authorize the proposed ordinance amendment to go on the Annual Town Meeting 
Warrant made by Amy Haile.  Seconded by Andrea Berry.  Motion passed 4-0. 
  

C. LUO- Proposed Amendments to Section 1.7 
The state statute dealing with zoning ordinances (30-A M.R.S. § 4352) does not specify the process or 
procedure for LUO amendments; it merely requires a public hearing at the planning board before a 
zoning ordinance or amendment can be adopted.  The Town’s LUO (section 1.7) does not have a 
procedure (including time frames) for amending zoning ordinances. 
 
This proposal specifies the process and procedure including timelines for amendments to the LUO. 
 
Discussion:   
Paul Hodgetts stated that he was not able to review the document prior to the meeting as he could not 
find the document in the packet.  Amy Haile stated that Section 1.7 was on page 72 right before the 
power point and offered a few minutes to review.   
 
Paul Hodgetts asked if the changes could be put off at all and requested more time to review the 
document and make his mind up.  Amy Haile stated that the changes were more of a process thing 
and the question on timing would be sending the document to the planning board for a public hearing.   
 
Amy Haile said candidly that the planning board is up against a lot of timing issues, and she would 

22



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 4 of 19 

rather not hold off.  She stated that if Paul didn’t feel comfortable reviewing the document and voting 
then she didn’t want him to rush.  Paul Hodgetts stated that he didn’t want to vote on it, because he 
hadn’t had the chance to really read it.  He can vote on it, but he would vote no if he voted on it now.   
 
Amy Haile asked how the rest of the Select Board members felt.  She stated that it was more of a 
timing issue and out of consideration for the planning board than anything else.   
 
Andrea Berry asked if this was something that had been created last year and that had been 
discussed at multiple points during the last Select Board fiscal year and is being brought back now 
because it wasn’t at that point moved forward.  Amy Haile stated that the board had run out of time 
and just got caught up with other things.  She offered a few minutes to review the changes.   
 
Karl Cyr asked where this would fit in with other LUO changes that had been discussed.  There is a 
challenge with multiple layers of changes being weaved into one document at the same time.  Diane 
Barnes stated that this doesn’t affect any of those.  Karl Cyr stated that was because this is a part of 
the ordinance that isn’t being touched by the other changes.  Diane Barnes said that was correct and 
this change is in section 1.7 of the ordinance, the administration part for initiation of proposed 
amendments.   
 
Karl Cyr clarified that this was something discussed potentially this time last year that just never made 
the agenda.  Amy Haile said that was right.   
 
Andrea Berry asked what the timeline would look like if this was bumped to the first meeting in April, 
and if that would put the Planning Board under a tight time crunch.  Diane Barnes stated that if this is 
moved to the next Meeting the Select Board can still require that the Planning Board hold a public 
hearing, they just have to hold it before the annual Town Meeting.  The Select Board can still put it on 
the Town Meeting warrant, but the Planning Board has to hold the public hearing before the Town 
Meeting, but the document would go on the warrant as is without any changes based on feedback 
gathered at the public hearing.   
 
Andrea Berry asked if the loss of feedback from the public would happen if we waited to send this to 
the planning board until the next meeting but if the Select Board sent it this meeting, then the 
information from the public that the planning board hears would have a chance to be included.  Diane 
Barnes stated that they cannot make any changes but sending it now allows the planning board to 
bring back any comments or recommendations from the public to be taken into consideration before it 
goes on the warrant.   
 
Andrea Berry asked again that if they wait to send the ordinance change to the Planning Board until 
the next meeting does the Planning Board lose the opportunity to hear those recommendations.  
Diane Barned stated that the Planning Board must put a notice of the public hearing in the paper for 
two weeks and it would be scheduled at their next meeting, which would be the second Tuesday in 
April.  The timing of setting a public hearing and the requirements of putting notice in the paper, takes 
the longest time.   
 
Andrea Barry asked for extra data on the select board deadline on getting this onto the warrant.  
Diane Barnes stated that they have to approve the warrant at the second meeting in May.  Andrea 
Berry asked if they wait to send this to the Planning Board at the first Select Board meeting in April if 
the Planning Board could post the notice and the public hearing could then be held at the second 
Planning Board meeting in April.  Diane Barnes stated that the second meeting of the Planning Board 
is typically a workshop, not a regular meeting unless they have scheduled a special meeting. 
 
Amy Haile asked timing wise does the November election count as a Town Meeting.  Diane Barnes 
stated they could do this as a referendum and that was certainly an option.  Amy Haile stated that the 
most important piece of the ordinance is putting structure where there was not structure before, 
particularly around timing and process.  As a lot of changes were made, it felt like that was a gap.   

23



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 5 of 19 

 
Karl Cyr stated that the reasoning behind the change makes sense, but he was with Paul in terms of 
needing to read it to try to understand it.  Ben from North Star is currently looking at procedural 
changes to recommend.  Is this something that he’s looked at and agreed to?  He didn’t question the 
motivations behind it, but there are multiple layers of changes to the LUO and he wanted to make sure 
this wasn’t being patchworked. 
 
Amy Haile stated it was addressing different parts of the land use ordinance, so it might feel like that, 
because so many people are looking at pieces of the LUO.  She feels this might have been why it 
didn’t go forward last time.  She hoped it would help the process, but if folks feel like they want to wait 
and look at it later, or not look at it for this town meeting but think about it as a referendum in 
November, that could be done as well.  She doesn’t want to lose track of it like last time, because this 
comes up when there are a lot of amendments, and they are looking for timing and then they look for 
the amendment that should have been passed.  That’s her only concern with kicking this can down the 
road again, but it’s true that there are a lot of changes being considered for the land use ordinance 
right now. 
 
Andrea Berry stated that she has been very consistent with her desire for procedure, policy, and 
structure, so she is very interested in being able to lay out a very clear policy for how amendments 
happen.  She thinks that is a piece of clarity that the community will benefit from, and she doesn’t want 
to lose it again.  She doesn’t want to perpetually kick the can down the road, but if Select Board 
members can move it to the next meeting and have time to review and feel comfortable then she is 
okay with that.   
 
Diane Barnes asked if this should be added to the next agenda.  Andrea Berry agreed.  Amy Haile 
withdrew the motion. 
 
Judy Potter, 551 Walnut Hill Road, remembered Brian bringing this forth at the last meeting he was 
here and then hadn’t heard any discussion.  She asked when the Select Board discussed this.  Amy 
Haile stated that it is the same document.  Judy Potter asked when it was discussed in public.  Amy 
Haile said that she thought Andrea meant it was discussed last year by the three that were already on 
the Select Board, along with Brian and Kate.  Judy Potter doesn’t remember public discussion, just 
that Brian presented and dropped it in the Select Board’s hands.  Andrea Berry replied that she was 
referring to the fact that the Select Board members had seen this before, it has been part of a meeting 
before, this isn’t the first time. 
 
Judy Potter, 551 Walnut Hill Road, stated that discussions and decisions need to be held in public.  
That’s the Maine public access law, so when things are discussed, it would be nice to have them done 
in public, so the public knows what is being discussed.  Andrea Berry stated that wasn’t what she was 
saying at all.  She was saying that this was brought before the board before and is something that 
they have had a chance to look at in the past.  They are now postponing this, Amy withdrew the 
motion, and so there will be another chance for discussion at the first meeting in April. 
 
Karl Cyr commented that Paul Hodgetts didn’t recall discussing this as a member of the board and 
Karl had never heard of this before it was on the agenda, because this is the first time there has been 
a discussion about it with this board.  Amy Haile stated that it made a lot of sense, and the board will 
absolutely spend more time on it next time. 
 
Paul Hodgetts stated that he remembers Brian bringing it up but doesn’t remember the discussion.  
Amy Haile stated that there were several changes happening at the time and the remembers getting 
more of a gist than details.  It being more of a clarifying process, she is usually behind that, but there 
can be a lot more conversation about it.   

 
D. Planning Board & Shellfish Applications & Interview Process 

The Select Board has received an application for the Planning Board and an application for the 

24



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 6 of 19 

Shellfish Commission and would like to set up opportunities to talk to those candidates.   
 
Motion for Andrea Berry and Amy Haile to schedule conduct interviews for the Planning Board 
made by Amy Haile.  Seconded by Andrea Berry.  Motion passed 4-0. 
 
Motion for Paul Hodgetts and Karl Cyr to schedule and conduct interviews of Shellfish 
Commission made by Amy Haile.  Seconded by Paul Hodgetts.  Motion passed 4-0. 

 
7.   Old Business (54:55 – 3:02:20) 

A. Property Tax Assistance Ordinance Amendment - Presentation 
Amy Haile presented.  To reorient, this is a discussion on how the Town helps seniors through property 
tax assistance programs.  Mike Mallory and others from the public have brought information on what 
was being done in other towns.  Amy Haile and Kit Maloney have also done research to figure out what 
will work well for the community.   

 
The current program’s purpose is to provide property tax assistance.  Eligibility was limited to those 70 
years of age and older with $40,000 or below household income.  It was a flat benefit, so if you qualified 
you received $1,000 in assistance from the Town of North Yarmouth. 

 
The rationale behind the changes was that the Select Board wasn’t sure they were doing the best job of 
helping those who needed it.  They researched a lot of communities with tiered benefits and wanted to 
explore the possibility of offering more and rethinking the income level along with utilizing resources at 
the state level to streamline the application process. 
 
2024 Proposed changes include: 

• Tiered benefits based on percentage of property tax to household income. 
• Increased max benefit to $1,500. 
• Increased max household income to $50,000. 
• The following table shows proposed tiers: 

 
Benefit Base as Percentage of Property Tax to 
Household Adjusted Gross Income (Range)  

Benefit Amount 

8%-12% $350.00 
12.01%-16% $500.00 
16.01%-20% $750.00 
20.01%-24% $1,000.00 
24.01%-28% $1,250.00 
28.01% and over $1,500.00 

  
 
Diane Barnes had taken Kit Maloney and Amy Haile’s proposed tier changes to legal, and they said the 
benefit ratio needed to be included in the tiered rates to address need more specifically.  Flat rates 
based on income are not allowed and that isn’t what was seen in neighboring communities.  This takes 
into consideration more nuance and impact and fine tunes need. As this change is made for the coming 
year and the results are analyzed, more changes could be coming in following years.  Can the income 
level increase?  Can the age change? 
 
Discussion:   

Andrea Berry asked if this same tiered structure would be a part of the 2025 changes as well.  Amy 
Haile said it would be and Andrea stated that she would ask the rest of her questions after the rest 
of the presentation. 
 
Diane Barnes stated that the table shows the benefit base as a percentage of your property tax or 
rent to household income; that is a requirement under state statute that wasn’t a part of the 

25



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 7 of 19 

ordinance before.  Moving forward the ordinance will be in compliance with the law. 
Karl Cyr asked if the ratio of tax to income was the part that was not in compliance.  Diane replied 
that he was right.  He asked if the state dictates the tiers.  Diane stated that is up to the municipality. 
 
Karl Cyr asked if someone who had been receiving this benefit in the past might receive less of a 
benefit based on the tiers provided.  Any Haile said yes.  Diane Barnes stated that there would also 
be some that receive more.  Amy Haile stated that with the increased income there is also the ability 
to help more people.  Karl Cyr stated that in the current ordinance if you make $40,001 you were 
not even able to be considered.   
 
Paul Hodgetts asked how much was in the original fund when started.  Diane stated that she didn’t 
know what was in the fund when it was started, but in the last two years the most that was spent 
was $34,000.  Amy Haile stated that they had done the math and with the $40,000 income the total 
would come in beneath that which is why they felt comfortable increasing the benefit amount to 
$1,500 and the income level to $50,000.  Paul asked if it would come down lower this way.  Amy 
replied that it would if the limit stayed at $40,000, but what we’ve heard folks asking is if we could 
increase it to $50,000, and they felt comfortable with their calculations increasing it to $50,000. 
 
Andrea Berry asked if this is specifically for the money already allocated by the town for this fiscal 
year.  So, with the proposed changes for 2025, we have more flexibility as a town because that’s 
coming into budget.  Diane replied that there is a dollar amount attached to the warrant article for 
this, so she can add to it whatever the balance is.  If more people apply that qualify than anticipated 
than the benefit amount will be prorated to fit the approved budget, but it’s hard to predict.  Andrea 
Berry said taxes were due the day before the meeting, so there should be an estimate before town 
meeting.  Diane stated that these changes affect the FY 2025 budget.  The applications won’t be 
ready until after the Town Meeting and will need to be adjusted based on the approval of the 
changes.  The proposed changes in the 2024 Town Meeting will be applied in FY 2025. 
 
Amy Haile said there were calculations in the packet around applications and income bands that 
include all who applied.  But it doesn’t include the people who didn’t apply.  There will be a bit of a 
learning curve. 
 
Mike Mallory, 551 Walnut Hill Road, said that in looking at the numbers the first question that comes 
to mind is have we done this to help more people or to fit the program into the budget that we 
already have.  Using an example of someone who is 75 years old that makes $40,000 a year, that 
person pays $10,000 a year in property taxes to receive a $1,250 benefit.  This means that they live 
in at least a half million-dollar house, which probably wasn’t even a quarter of that value when they 
bought it.  That, to me, is indicative of a bigger problem which is runaway property values.  Is this 
chart to fit our budget or is it to try and help more folks.  We have a lot of folks that make less than 
$40,000. 
 
Amy Haile asked if he wanted them to raise the amount and stated that by raising the income they 
were going to be helping more people. 
 
Mike Mallory stated that the Town is asking that someone spend 28% of their total income on taxes 
to receive the maximum benefit.  The benefit amounts aren’t bad, but the percentages may need to 
be changed. 
 
Karl Cyr stated that the answer is yes to Mike’s question of whether the chart was built to fit the 
current budget.  The ratio and the current proposed changes are expanding eligibility and an 
attempt to make the process more equitable and then you can look at adding more funds to the 
budget.   
 
Andrea Berry stated that this first part is making the process more equitable, and it isn’t addressing 
the second part which will be talked about during the budget process. 

26



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 8 of 19 

 
Karl Cyr said that in the budget process if it’s decided that this is a huge priority that they want to 
spend a million dollars on then you allocate that during the budget process.  This is working within 
the current knowledge; the constraints are based on historical use of these funds.  This doesn’t 
assume that everyone will be keen on increasing the budget but that is an option.  He thinks that 
this is really a great step forward.  It shouldn’t be done; it should be looked at next year and ask if 
this had the outcomes we were looking for.  Did it help more people who are struggling with taxes?  
Then the decision will have to be made as to how much money the Town wants to budget for that 
goal. 
 
Amy Haile said we could set aside this enormous budget for this and help people with their taxes.  
Another question is as Mike stated is it that people’s houses are so much more expensive?  Is age 
the issue?  Should we change it to be younger and help more people?  Or is it the income level?  
There are three different pieces to play around with and it makes her nervous to raise the budget 
amount immediately.  She will go over the next thought processes later in the presentation and this 
will need to continue to be looked at to address which of the three elements will be the biggest 
pinch point for the community. 
 
Mike Mallory, 551 Walnut Hill Road, stated that he doesn’t qualify for this, but the board is running 
the risk of telling people they will help them out as long as it doesn’t cost anything extra. 
 
Diane wanted to address something Mike said earlier.  Out of all the applicants nobody has a tax bill 
that is even close to $10,000.  $5,000 is the max, most are in the 3,000 to 5,000 range.   Also there 
are some individuals making between $20,000 and $30,000 and those are the people who need 
help and that is where the 28% and over is going to come in because they are going to get a better 
benefit than what they are getting right now.  If this was in place, the Town could have helped 6 
more people that applied and maybe more that didn’t apply. 
 
Mike Mallory, 551 Walnut Hill Road, stated that if it is being done just to be easier on the budget it’s 
not being done right. 
 
Karl Cyr stated that the board isn’t trying to be easy on the budget.  The income range could be 
raised to 800,000 and the age lowered to 40 and spread it around, but that wouldn’t be good.  It’s a 
matter of trying to dial into those three variables and make sure you address the right issue.   
 
Link Merrill, 1572 North Road, asked that the board move on and explain the next slide because it 
explains how to determine what a household income is, gross vs. adjusted.  If you explain the 
income formula, the process makes more sense. 

 
2025 Proposed changes include: 

• Applicants must demonstrate that they have received a tax credit under the provisions of the 
State of Maine Property Tax Fairness Credit Program, in accordance with 36 M.R.S. § 5219-KK. 

• Applicants who do not file an income tax return but receive Social Security benefits must submit 
their SSA-1099 form with the application. 

• Applicants must file for tax assistance with the Town no later than July 31st.  
• Benefit base will be property taxes paid or rent constituting property taxes paid, less the amount 

received under the State of Maine Property Tax Fairness Credit Program (for applications filed 
on or after July 1, 2025). 

 
If the tax bill was $2,000 but applicant received $1,000 from the state, the amount considered would be 
the amount not covered by the state.   
 
Benefits will be calculated to provide greater benefits proportionally.   
 
Income will have the same meaning as income defined in 36 MRS §6201 (9).  This is the current 

27



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 9 of 19 

formula being used to calculate income threshold for benefits now.  It’s an adjusted gross. 
 
 Discussion:  

Amy Haile concluded that her purpose in presenting today was not to take action, and to Mike and 
Karl’s points, this does need to continue to be a living, breathing document that is checked regularly 
to measure who is being helped, who is not being helped and what changes need to be considered 
going forward. 
 
Link Merril, 1572 North Road, stated that the table might look like the Town believes that 10-16% of 
a household income is a tax bill.  It looks like the Town is setting a goal for acceptable amounts of 
taxes and the table would be excessively high.  Be careful on presentation and promotion because 
on a straight gross basis people will have a coronary if they see those numbers. 
 
Mike Mallory, 551 Walnut Hill Road, just to reiterate, unintended consequences are still 
consequences and they’re very real. 
 
Paul Hodgetts asked if the property tax fairness program is the deferred tax program.   
 
Diane Barnes stated that they are different programs, but if someone qualifies for the state property 
tax fairness credit program that they can also qualify for a sales tax refund as well depending on 
income.  Applicants can receive up to $2,000 on the property tax fairness. 
 
Andrea Berry said that she thinks it would be helpful to operationalize when this ordinance should 
be reviewed.  She has seen very clearly over the last few years how much the economy has 
shifted, how much housing prices have changed, and revaluations happen on a certain schedule, 
so it would be valuable to include a timeframe for review in the ordinance.  Diane Barnes asked if 
this is something they wanted a scheduled review written in the ordinance.  Karl Cyr suggested 
every three years to signal to select boards moving forward that this is something important to 
review.  Amy Haile suggested an annual review for the first three years as they continue to look at 
changes.  Diane Barnes suggested the wording ‘at least once every three years’ to give the 
flexibility to review sooner if necessary and not tie anyone’s hands.  Karl Cyr said it will be good to 
refresh something that has been neglected.   
 
Amy Haile stated that she could look more at percentages but after a year of research she wanted 
to share where they were. 
 
Diane Barnes stated that with so many changes no one will know the answer as to what this is 
going to do and how much it will cost.  As long as you aren’t worried about the cost going in, you will 
help more people and give a better benefit to the people who need it the most. 
 
Andrea Berry said this was money well spent.  As they move through the budget process over the 
next few years this is an important place to consider allocating funds, and the money will be doing 
what she thinks the government should do, which is supporting folks who are struggling.  In the 
future if the number of people who apply and qualify increases to the point where the funds are 
exceeded, and it forces a proration of benefits then that will be brought to the Select Board to 
review. 
 
Judy Potter, 551 Walnut Hill Road, thanked the Select Board for this because it is very important.  
She would like them to consider not just the people making $40,000, there are middle class people 
who are suffering too, and she would like the $50,000 limit to be raised a little higher. 
 
Amy Haile said that this will be put on an agenda for April. 
 
 

 

28



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 10 of 19 

B. LD 2003 - Send to Planning Board for Public Hearing 
 
LD 2003 was passed by the State Legislature and signed by the Governor in April 2022, and went into 
effect July 27, 2022.  The goal of the new law is to alleviate the housing affordability issues in Maine by 
increasing housing opportunities. 
LD 1706 amends LD 2003 by extending the implementation date of July 1, 2003, to July 1, 2024, for 
municipalities that enact ordinances by voters at an annual town meeting. 
The law requires towns and cities to increase housing density allowed in their zoning ordinance in 
several different ways: 

• It requires municipalities to allow additional units on lots zoned for single-family homes. 
• It requires municipalities to allow at least one accessory dwelling unit on lots with existing 

single-family homes. 
• In some areas, it requires municipalities to allow 2 ½ times the currently allowed housing units 

for developments where most of the units meet standard affordability definitions. 
• The extent of the law’s requirements are determined by “growth areas”. 

‘Southern Maine Planning and Development Commission 
 
Amy Haile said that GPCOG came to discuss LD 2003 changes that need to take place and their red-
lined version of the land use ordinance now needs to be sent to the Planning Board for public hearing 
so it can go before Town Meeting in June.  GPCOG will be presenting the changes at the next Planning 
Board meeting. 
 
Diane Barnes said that there may be changes to the document brought to public hearing as GPCOG 
and North Star Planning will be working together on any overlapping changes with the two red-lined 
versions of the land use ordinance.  
 
Discussion:   
Amy Haile stated that GPCOG is suggesting changes to the current land use ordinance that would 
bring it into compliance with the law.  If the Town decides to refuse the changes, the law will rule 
supreme, and the Town would have to submit to the law, and it would open the Town to lawsuits.  
Simultaneously with this change, the Select Board has been making changes to the land use ordinance 
with North Star Planning addressing mostly other aspects of the ordinance and there is some overlap, 
so this presents a bit of a challenge for the planning board to manage the changes.  She would like to 
make sure that this is able to be included in the warrant for the Town Meeting. 
 
Karl Cyr stated that it sounds like North Star and GPCOG are working together but these changes will 
still have to be considered separately.  Not impossible, that one could be accepted, and one could not.  
Amy Haile stated that it was discussed at the prior meeting that there is a way to word the articles so 
that they don’t cancel each other out. 
 
Karl Cyr asked if they would be voting on two motions and there would be one public hearing to discuss 
both items and then they would be on separate but potentially conditional warrants.  Diane Barnes said 
she thinks it will be two separate public hearings. 
 
Karl Cyr asked if there is potentially a third public hearing and a separate warrant article required to 
discuss the ordinance change discussed earlier in this meeting. 
 
Paul Hodgetts asked when the anticipated time for the changes to be done with the two entities working 
together on changes.  Amy Haile believed it was next Tuesday.  Diane Barnes wasn’t sure but stated 
that they both knew the timeline. 
 
Jeff Brown, 470 Moffet Road, Planning Board – GPCOG, North Star, and the Planning Board will be 
workshopping this, and will come up with a document that to present as a warrant out of our workshop.  
That is what will go to public hearing. 
 

29



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 11 of 19 

Amy Haile asked if North Star will be attending the Planning Board meeting.  Jeff Brown said they 
would be.  Amy Haile and Karl Cyr thanked Jeff for the update and clarification. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh, 110 Wild Turkey Lane, Planning Board – The Planning Board plans to combine the 
edits so that all overlap is written into one article.  Traditionally each section of the LUO ends up as a 
separate warrant article.  Each warrant will contain the changes from both LD 2003 and the North Star 
recommendations.  At their April meeting they will make the motion to hold a public hearing as long as 
everything is workshopped through on the 26th.  
 
Amy Haile asked whether the Planning Board was creating a different warrant from the warrant that the 
Select Board was sending to them. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh said typically, the Planning Board created the warrants and would send the proposal 
through the Town for legal review and then hold a public hearing and send that to the Select Board to 
approve to be included in Town Meeting. 
 
Amy Haile asked what they are asking the Planning Board to do at this time.  Diane explained that the 
Select Board is directing the Planning Board to hold a public hearing.  Karl Cyr stated that the Planning 
Board is taking the two versions and piecing them together into a document that can be taken to a 
public hearing. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh stated that whatever comes out of their workshop will be sent to the Town for legal 
review, so the public hearing is held with the correct legal language. 
 
Diane Barnes stated that the notice requirements will take up over two weeks.   
 
Paul Whitmarsh said the Planning Board’s timeline includes a vote at their next business meeting to 
send the documents to legal first and then to public hearing after legal review.  The public hearing 
would be the first meeting on the 2nd Tuesday in May. 
 
Diane Barnes said she would review the deadline for setting and posting the warrant articles before the 
Town Meeting. 
 
Andrea Berry asked if the Select Board is following a state required process in this directive.  She 
wants to make sure that all requirements are met. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh said that the state is mandating that this is adopted at Town Meeting.  The Town 
Meeting can vote it down if they want.   
 
Amy Haile stated that it’s the Select Board’s job to make it a choice for the Town Meeting.   
 
Andrea Berry expressed comfort in hearing that the Planning Board taking this initiative to public 
hearing is already within process and she wanted to make sure that the Select Board didn’t need to 
take this additional step of directing the Planning Board to have the public hearing as part of their 
responsibilities to LD 2003.   
 
Diane Barnes stated that it is no different than any other land use ordinance amendment.  It has to go 
to a public hearing and then the Select Board has to approve the warrant article by the timeline set forth 
by Mark Bower. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh said that the Planning Board will meet with Matt Panfil of GPCOG on March 26th.  Ben 
Smith of North Star Planning will be there as well.  They have been in touch to find where the changes 
overlap.  The Planning Board will work through each section to make sure that all changes are included 
and the changes for each section will go out as a separate warrant article. 
 

30



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 12 of 19 

Amy Haile thanked Paul Whitmarsh for the explanation of the plan and rescinded the motion with the 
acknowledgement that all were in agreement that the Planning Board had a workable plan. 
 

C. Land Use Audit - Send to PB for Public Hearing 
Discussion and motion not necessary as these changes will be coordinated between GPCOG and 
North Star Planning by the Planning Board at their March 26th meeting.  At the Planning Board’s next 
business meeting on April 10th the changes will be voted on to go to legal review and then a public 
hearing.  Public hearing to be held on the second Tuesday in May. 
 

D. Sign Ordinance Amendment 
Discussion: 
Amy Haile stated that the Select Board has been discussing an electric sign and to continue the 
discussion the Town would need a change of ordinance.  Mark Bower came up with language and the 
Select Board voted to send it to the Planning Board for a public hearing.  There was discussion at the 
March 12th Planning Board meeting surrounding issues with the ordinance as written.  She had planned 
to call for a vote to send the ordinance to a public hearing as it had been written, but she knew the 
Planning Board had issues with that.  She asked if it was the Planning Board’s interpretation that all 
changes to the land use ordinance needed to originate and be written by the Planning Board. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh, 110 Wild Turkey Lane, Planning Board – As stated earlier, all changes, with the 
exception of citizen initiates, went from the Planning Board up.  Select Board can come up with the idea 
and request a change, but the Planning Board would then from their position of familiarity with the land 
use ordinance would work that issue and make the change, if necessary, otherwise be able to answer.  
They have had citizens try to get different things onto a Planning Board agenda for them to be able to 
do that too.  Previously it has always originated at the Planning Board level for the actual start, 
discussion, and language.  The idea can come from somewhere else but the actual language that gets 
written, in this Town, originated in the Planning Board other than citizen’s initiative. 
 
Amy Haile thought it was in part where the clarifying land use ordinance Section 1.7 came up earlier in 
the meeting.  Can the Select Board come up with an ordinance?  Understanding the concerns the 
Planning Board had with the way it was taken under, she wanted to share Mark Bower’s concern with 
the current ordinance language.  She said he was concerned that variances are only available to 
provide property owners with relief from dimensional requirements, quote, including but not limited to, 
street frontage, percent of lot coverage, and setback requirements.  Therefore, I do not believe the ZBA 
(zoning board of appeals) could issue a variance to exempt anyone, including the town, from the town 
sign regulations. Even if a variance was available, the town would need to meet the, quote, undue 
hardship standard, which is very difficult to meet.  She thought that is why in his perspective creating 
this additional piece was the way to go as opposed to a variance.  At the end of the day, she would like 
the Planning Board to make it so that someday the Town could have an electric sign.  If with the ZBA 
consideration that’s not the case, then maybe the change to the sign ordinance is necessary. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh said he had been looking at section 10.1.8 and the availability of the town to not follow 
the sign ordinance as written.  It allows for site plan review but may need an amendment with a 
provision that would allow the Planning Board to waive the other restrictions for the Town.  He went on 
to say that in the March 12th meeting the discussion came up from three different people on the 
Planning Board that the Town didn’t feel it had to follow the same rules as its citizens.  The changes as 
written provided a broad exemption for the Town that isn’t granted to anyone else.  Amending 10.1.8 
would give the Planning Board the authority to grant the exemption through site plan review and apply 
different restrictions for both the Town and other members of the community.  He said that the 
ordinance amendment language was written in a way that does not give authority to any Town 
residents, board members or committees.  No one had a problem with the sign, but the ordinance 
change felt like a really broad brush for a really small problem. 
 
Amy Haile said conversely her concern would be that the Town’s ability to put up a sign would be at the 
whim of either the Planning Board or the ZBA. 

31



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 13 of 19 

 
Paul Whitmarsh said ultimately, yes, it would be up to the Planning Board or if there is an appeal the 
ZBA.  You would end up doing a site plan review and holding a public hearing on it.  If the town wanted 
to put up a sign you would want to get the public’s input and then decide from there.  Residents are 
appointed to different boards, and he hadn’t heard any issues with the sign but next year that could 
change.  But a broad exemption where the people have zero say is maybe a step too far. 
 
Karl Cyr asked if the amendment to the sign ordinance was passed would Planning Board approval still 
be required in some way. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh said no, the amendment is a complete exemption.  To exaggerate the point, the Town 
could put up a billboard, obviously that is a ridiculous assumption but there are zero exceptions, it is a 
complete exemption from the sign ordinance section of the land use ordinance.  That is where the 
Planning Board felt there should be some input from site plan review. 
 
Andrea Berry said based on Mark Bower’s opinion that a variance is not possible she would like to take 
a vote to say that the Select Board requests that the Planning Board bring forth a workable proposal so 
that the Town can have an electric sign.  She doesn’t want to find this stuck in a cycle of legal struggle.  
She would like to issue a directive to have the planning board go through the process of identifying 
necessary changes for legal review, hold a public hearing and bring their suggested language back to 
the Select Board. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh stated that he would be very supportive of such a vote and he believes that revising 
the site plan review language allows the town to put up signs that don’t meet current restrictions.  He 
also stated that he couldn’t guarantee the time frame with so many other changes. 
 
Andrea Berry stated that the Select Board was trying to be proactive knowing that communication is a 
priority and a goal of the Select Board and having the ability to have a sign is an important part of being 
able to apply for grant funding, so the Town doesn’t have to pay for the sign.  The Town needs to go 
through the process to prepare to be fiscally responsible as a board, and as a town, to avoid incurring 
large amounts of cost.  The time frame is more flexible than the other items in terms of the land use 
ordinance and yet it is not unimportant.  Delays will cause a longer process to get approved grant 
funding so that the sign can be purchased.  Her goal is to set this up so she doesn’t have to ask 
townspeople for increased taxes pay for the cost of the sign. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh said the Planning Board would do their best.  Amy Haile thanked him for being present 
to have this conversation with the board. 
 
Motion to request of the Planning Board an update to the land use ordinance that would allow 
for an electronic sign for municipal purposes made by Amy Haile.  Seconded by Andrea Berry.  
Motion passed 4-0. 
 

E. Yarmouth’s Dam Removal Initiative 
This discussion is on the agenda because the Select Board is keeping this at the forefront.   
 
Andrea Berry stated that she and Karl Cyr had met with the Royal River Conservation Trust recently 
and talked about the Dam Removal Initiative.  The Royal River Conservation Trust is the land trust that 
is covering North Yarmouth and they have taken the positive, encouraging stance on the prospect of 
dam removal.  Andrea and Karl were able to learn a bit about their perspective, but at this time there 
isn’t anything more specific to report.  There was encouragement to meet with Yarmouth Town Council 
to get an update and to offer feedback that North Yarmouth would like to be a part of the conversation 
and included in the decision-making process. 
 
Karl Cyr has heard from Yarmouth Town Council that the expectation is that they will have to take into 
consideration our consultation and we would likely have to have formal approval of any action taken.   

32



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 14 of 19 

 
Diane Barnes read a statement given to her by the Fire Chief from ISO insurance regarding statements 
made by Norman Miller regarding the river and fire protection at a previous meeting.  Removing a dry 
hydrant in your fire protection area may not have any effects on the actual score of your survey.  The 
area where you would see negative effects would be for properties that are falling within the 1000-foot 
radius from the dry hydrant.  Right now, those properties are considered covered by a credible water 
source; removing that hydrant would cause the insurance rates to increase, because they would not 
have credible water source within a thousand-foot radius. 
 
Paul Hodgetts said that in his opinion it would affect a greater area than the one-thousand-foot radius, 
because other properties also use the Royal River as a source and don’t have a dry hydrant set up. 
 
Marty Kramer, 621 Sligo Road, would like the board to be actively involved in this process, not merely 
observing, or asking Yarmouth and the Army Corp of Engineers.  There was a public hearing last 
month.  They will be proposing a remedy to Yarmouth and Yarmouth doesn’t have to accept it but it’s a 
process and is going to take another year or two before anything happens.  He doesn’t want to wait to 
be invited to the table by Yarmouth.  He would like the Select Board to have their legal department look 
into the permit process, and state statutes regarding the upstream consequences of dam removal.  He 
would like the board to also look into property owners’ rights, and property valuations within the Town 
tax base that might be affected.  There are intermediate remedies for fish passage that should be 
researched and promoted including extending the rapids.  He is suggesting the board take an active 
position on remediation that isn’t so drastic.  He suggested that the Town contribute to the fish ladder 
maintenance fees to be more involved and proactive. 
 
Linc Merrill, 1572 North Road, talked about issues from a cost standpoint.  He doesn’t want to be 
passive on this issue.  He asked how does the water drop and additional dry land on his properties 
affect his tax bill?  And what does it mean for current ordinance?  Do the resource protection, setbacks, 
flood zones, maps all need to be rewritten?  He said the Town can’t afford to be passive about this. He 
thinks it’s important to recreation and agreed that supporting the fish ladders might be beneficial. 
 
Chris Herreid, 823 North Road, agrees that the Town needs to engage with North Yarmouth because 
when the river goes back into its banks it will affect things.  He’s paying attention to the Klamath River 
dam removal in California.  There are four dams being removed and hundreds of miles of salmon 
restoration that will revolutionize the area.  He believes the dam removal will help the fish and wildlife 
and that property values would go up with the river in its natural state. 
 
Paul Hodgetts stated that the Royal River Conservation people had stated that the dam removal would 
drop the river level 6 feet last year and came back this year and said it would be 3.5 – 5 feet, and that 
the Army Corps of Engineers had not done a study on this. 
 
Amy Haile stated there are many implications and differing information coming from sources regarding 
the impacts.  There is a public hearing in June to ask those questions and figure out what the changes 
are. 
 
Andrea Berry thinks it would be helpful as a board to identify members of the board and the Parks 
Committee or other members of the town to actively participate in the conversation.  She wants to 
understand what is happening in Yarmouth and understand what the wider community thinks about this.  
She asked when should that be triggered? 
 
Karl Cyr stated that there is a USACE section 206 study biweekly project update from March 11th that 
talks about, specifically, the drawdown at Boston Park being approximately two feet during normal 
annual median flow conditions. 
 
Marty Kramer, 621 Sligo Road, said that number is from 6 miles above the dam, and it gets shallow 
quickly and at Chandler Brook there is 10-12 inches.  The river ranges from 4 to 30 feet.  He does a lot 

33



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 15 of 19 

of canoeing on the river, and he can stick his paddle to the bottom in several spots.  Stantec original 
estimate was a 5–8-foot drop.  He doesn’t believe it has been mapped completely.  He doesn’t believe 
the salmon will ever come back as the river isn’t fast enough or cold enough. 
 
Amy Haile agreed with Andrea Berry on a proactive delegation approach on this clear passion point for 
the Town.  She asked that it be added to the agenda for the next meeting to discuss who should be 
involved and expectations. 
 
Andrea Berry thanked the members of the community for keeping this on the board’s radar and feels 
that it is important to hear from all sides and perspectives.   Marty Kramer has been to a few meetings 
and she’s excited to jump in and hear all perspectives and see where the community lands. 
 
Amy Haile joined Andrea in thanking Chris Herod and Linc Merrill for their remarks.  She felt that the 
Board received a nice wide perspective of the things to take into consideration. 
 

F. Committee Policy Amendment-Discussion 
Amy Haile would like to discuss committee meetings being recorded by request.  Most committee 
meetings are held monthly so she would like to see the decision to record made at a meeting, and 4 
weeks before the next meeting requests come through the liaison to Diane who can work with staff on 
scheduling.  The request gives the Town flexibility with scheduling rooms but doesn’t prohibit 
committees meeting when scheduling doesn’t permit recording.  Select Board, Planning Board, and 
Zoning Board of Appeals meetings will still be required to be recorded. 
 
Andrea Berry said this falls in line with the request of the Waste Reduction Committee. 
 
Amy Haile said the EDSC wanted to be able to record. 
 
Paul Hodgetts doesn’t believe it should be a request, he believes it should just be done.  Recent 
meeting minutes were inaccurate, and people had to go back and listen to the recording.  It’s a useful 
tool.  If they change their meeting time it can still be recorded even if it isn’t streamed it would be 
available later on.  He doesn’t understand why it’s such a big deal. 
 
Amy Haile said that if it’s a requirement then it has to be enforced for all committees and it will 
significantly shift what is available for rooms, community activities, and staffing.  For the Boards it is 
required, whereas for committees it is nice to have.  She thinks making it something requested is a 
good compromise.  She asked if Paul was asking that recording be required. 
 
Paul Hodgetts said the meetings could be recorded even if they aren’t streamed but be recorded and 
available online.   
 
Amy Haile wasn’t sure what the video capabilities are for each room. 
 
Karl Cyr asked if this would be a change to current policy.  Amy Haile said it would be. 
 
Judy Potter, 551 Walnut Hill Road, EDSC said they wanted their meetings recorded.  Kit said if it was 
cancelled it wouldn’t be mandated but they could have it recorded in another room and be able to be 
watched the next day.  That’s an important committee, there’s a lot going on, and people want that 
recorded. 
 
Amy Haile said she had heard that, but she is offering a different compromise. 
 
Karl Cyr said what is being proposed enables the option to record.  There isn’t a policy today that would 
require or even create a path for a committee to request to have their meeting recorded and there isn’t 
recording equipment set up in all the spaces to properly record meetings so there would need to be an 
investment in more recording equipment.   

34



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 16 of 19 

 
Diane Barnes said that availability and staffing are going to be the issues.  The other two rooms are 
busy all the time and there is no way for current staff to be able to do every committee meeting and 
other work within regular hours.  Someone won’t be able to use rooms if every committee is recorded 
and this is supposed to be a community center.  The Anderson room wasn’t included in the original 
hardware upgrade for audio, but the Grover Room can be used. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh, 110 Wild Turkey Lane, said he isn’t against the compromise as long as the end goal is 
to record all the meetings.  Decisions are made and money is spent, and it would be nice to know the 
background before it gets to the Select Board.  Hundreds of thousands of dollars were invested with the 
expectation that all the meetings would be recorded.  He would like to see the Select Board keep 
working towards the goal of all meetings being recorded even if it isn’t something that can happen right 
now within the limitations. 
 
Amy Haile agreed.  She would like to propose this change and wait to see how it goes and adjust as 
needed.  She suggested that if equipment wasn’t available maybe a tripod with a phone could be used.  
She wanted to clarify that she understands EDSC is a passion point for folks and there are 
conversations and background that could be recorded, but she wants to be clear they do not spend 
money, they do need to come to Select Board for financial approval.  If they had statutory 
responsibilities like Select Board, Planning Board and Zoning Board of Appeals then they would be held 
to a different standard. 
 
Rachel Whitmarsh, 110 Wild Turkey Lane, said that she likes to watch all the committees and asked 
what is needed to expand the recording access.  She was disappointed to hear that the committee work 
wasn’t opened up to the town as she understood it would be at the Town Meeting.  As the Select Board 
works towards expanding communication and getting involvement, she would love for them to keep this 
in mind. 
 
Amy Haile agreed and said that another issue is physical space.  At the end of the day, it is really about 
access to the meetings.  Maybe these meetings could be recorded and posted.  All of the committees 
should have minutes that are being posted but video is great so can we modify that making sure we 
see the purpose at the end of this. 
 
Paul Hodgetts said when the system was first put in it was stated that chairs would be able to run it.  
 
Diane Barnes said for the sophisticated equipment it’s not that easy. 
 
Amy Haile noted that there were upgrades to it as well. 
 
Paul Hodgetts said that one of the EDSC meetings he attended wasn’t recorded and microphones 
weren’t used so the audience couldn’t hear the meeting. 
 
Andrea Berry felt that it was important to remember that for this policy change the EDSC can request 
on a regular basis that meetings be recorded.  Waste reduction just had an event and had to partner 
with the library to broadcast and record the event.  There are lots of levers at play here.  Last year or 
two years ago there was a huge conversation around the amount of revenue that this building is 
bringing in.  Taking up this room and the other room more and more specifically for broadcast meetings 
is going to impact substantially the amount of revenue that's coming in.  Then there's also the other 
layer of hiring additional staff where we're still struggling to get the part-time staff that we've approved.  
There are varying requests to keep our taxes low and continue to lower them and balancing that with 
knowing that we're taking minutes of meetings and looking at that balance seems like an important 
thing.  She does not disagree with the fact that recording meetings is an important opportunity and if we 
can do it we should.  She is very passionate about writing in the ability for committees to request 
recording.  Waste Reduction isn’t considered at all right now and has a very substantial impact on the 
Town’s bottom line when it comes to managing waste streams.  She feels that this is a continuation of 

35



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 17 of 19 

distrust or questions around the EDSC being one of the major pushes about this. She wants to continue 
to help focus on making shifts to operationalize and create policy and procedure to bring real clarity to 
the work.  Putting something in place doesn't mean that that's what it is forever, but right now there is 
nothing.  She feels that it is very important to take the emotions out of one committee vs. another 
committee and instead look at how to improve overall.  This would be short term and then gather more 
information regarding financial implications of improving recording and staffing, lost revenue, cost of 
additional technology, and then make informed decisions moving forward. 
 
Paul Hodgetts asked if there was a lot of overlap with meeting schedules.  Amy Haile replied that there 
were other events using the spaces as well.  Paul offered to train on the equipment and learn how to 
record the meetings and volunteer his time for the project.   
 
Judy Potter, 551 Walnut Hill Road, brought the public facilities use policy and listed the uses of the 
building. The first thing is for Town and public emergencies.  The second thing is for town boards and 
committee meetings.  The seventh thing is for special interest groups. This building was done for 
meetings to be held. It was not just supposed to be a source of revenue. In this new policy who gets to 
choose what meeting will be recorded.  The public decided that EDSC should be recorded, and the 
public brought that to the attention of the Select Board and the Town Manager, and they agreed.  If the 
public wants this then it shouldn’t be committee members who make that decision. 
 
Amy Haile answered that the public does not decide which meetings get broadcast now.  The board 
that agreed to record and broadcast EDSC meetings was a different board, times have changed how 
the building is being used and how many groups are involved.  What the Select Board is doing now is 
trying to expand the recordings to include other groups.  They are still having meetings, just expanding 
the use of the recordings.   
 
Karl Cyr requested that the discussion be tabled.  Amy Haile agreed. 

 
8.   Consent Agenda (3:02:21 – 3:02:40) 

A. Payroll Warrants & Municipal Accounts Payable Warrants 
B. Select Board Minutes of 2/20/2024 
C. Select Board Special Meeting Minutes of 02/27/2024 
D. FY 24 Audit and Fixed Assets Engagement Letters 

 
Motion to accept the consent agenda as presented made by Amy Haile.  Seconded by Karl Cyr.  
Motion passed 4-0. 
 

9.   Management Reports & Communications (3:02:40 – 3:13:25) 
A. Select Board Committee Reports: 

1.  EDSC-Amy Haile spoke in Kit Maloney’s absence.    
 Sidewalk forum will be March 28th and hope that people can attend.        
2.  Parks-Karl Cyr  

There has been positive movement on the Village Center Trail.  Bob has met with Ben Grover 
and they walked the land and marked the entrance.   Karl believes they mapped out where the 
trail will go.                 

3.  Joint Standing Committee-Amy Haile, Andrea Berry   
Meeting coming up in April.  Cumberland Town Council began discussions around the 
percentage distribution breakdown between Cumberland and North Yarmouth.  They will bring 
that to the Joint Standing Committee.  Numbers and questions are being prepared to continue 
conversations from previous meetings.  

4.  Waste Reduction Committee-Andrea Berry  
Wonderful event on March 9th talking about diversion from the waste stream and particularly 
things that schools and other large institutions can do to prioritize composting and to reduce 
food waste overall. It is available as a recording on the library's website. Suzanne Lee, who is a 
resident and also works at the University of Maine was the presenter.  

36



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 18 of 19 

5.  Walnut Hill Parkway-Paul Hodgetts, Kit Maloney  ‘ 
October updates 

6.  Recreation Advisory Board-Karl Cyr   
 No meeting                                                                         
7.  School Fund Committee-Paul Hodgetts 
 Nothing  
8.  Prince Memorial Library-Amy Haile 

Meeting on the 20th to discuss fundraising around the expansion that was originally discussed 
before COVID and they are trying to reignite. 

9.  Shellfish Commission-Karl Cyr 
 No updates.  There is an applicant for that seat. 
10.  Budget Committee-Andrea Berry 
 April begins budget season. 
11. Open Space & Planning-Andrea Berry & Karl Cyr 

7 openings and 10 applicants and interviews were conducted.   
 
Andrea heard from others that didn’t apply after hearing the number of applicants.  One of the 
folks recommended that 18-24 months is a long time, and not a long time with the amount of 
work that needs to be done.   The suggestion was made to identify and appoint alternates to 
avoid losing momentum through the long process.  When they bring full position appointments 
to the first meeting in April, they would like to also bring three alternates.  These would be non-
voting appointments unless voting member was unavailable, at which point the chair would 
recognize one to act as a full voting member.   
 
Karl said it seemed like a lot of people but a lot of the work that will need to be done will be 
independent research and working in tools like GIS and looking up deeds and trying to 
understand things. What they found was a good mix of skills and then a fair amount of 
redundancy and it seems like having everybody potentially would be a strength rather than just 
being more noise.  They aren’t keeping everyone because they don’t want to say no, they want 
to keep everyone because they provide good skills and energy that can be leveraged. 

12. Town Manager, Diane Barnes 
Select Board Reminders 
Nomination Papers are available now for the June 11th Election of Municipal Officers.  
Nomination papers must be filed with the Clerk’s Office no later than 5pm on April 11th.  

• 1 seat for Select Board (3-year terms) 
• 1 seat for MSAD#51 Board of Directors (3-year term) 
• 3 seats for Budget Committee (3-year terms) 
• 1 seat for Cemetery Commission (5-year term)  
• 1 seat for Yarmouth Water District Trustee (3-year term) 

 
Cleanup Day is scheduled for Saturday, May 4th 8am – 1pm 
 
Candidates Night is scheduled for Wednesday, May 22nd at 6:30pm 
 
Election Day Tuesday, June 11th 7am – 8pm 
 Ballots:  State Primary Ballot, 2 MSAD 51 Referendums & Municipal Officers   
 
Annual Town Meeting is Monday, June 17th at 6:30pm 
 
County Assessing:  The current Assessor for Cumberland County Assessing is stepping down 
from his current duties but will remain part of the team.  He has agreed to stay on in his current 
capacity to complete the FY 25 commitments for member communities. 
 
Ben Scipione, CEO, has tendered his resignation.  He has accepted a position in the private 
sector.  His last day of work will be March 28th.  We will be advertising the position as soon as 

37



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of March 19, 2024 
Page 19 of 19 

possible. 
 

Amy Haile reminded everyone that there would be a regular meeting the first Tuesday in April and that 
budget meetings would be each Tuesday after that for the month of April at 6 pm. 

 
10.  Any Other Business (3:13:25 – 3:13:30) 
None 

 
11.  Adjournment (3:13:30) 
 

Motion to adjourn made by Amy Haile.  Seconded by Paul Hodgetts.  Motion passed 4-0. 
 
 
 
Select Board 

   
 ________________________________                             ______________________________ 
        Amy Haile, Chairperson                                                       Andrea Berry, Vice Chairperson    
 
 
 
 ________________________________                              _____________________________ 
         Paul Hodgetts                       Karl Cyr 
 
 
 

________________________________ 
Katherine Maloney 

 
 
 
 

38



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of April 2, 2024 
Page 1 of 15 

Town of North Yarmouth 
Select Board Meeting Minutes  

April 2, 2024, 6:30 PM  
 
Select Board Members  
 
Amy Haile, Chairperson Andrea Berry, Vice Chairperson Katherine Maloney, Board Member  
Karl Cyr, Board Member  Paul Hodgetts, Board Member  
 
1. Call to Order (18:30 – 19:00) 

A.  Pledge of Allegiance.   
 

Amy Haile, Andrea Berry, Karl Cyr, Paul Hodgetts, Katherine Maloney, and Diane Barnes, Town 
Manager in attendance.  Kit Maloney’s new baby, Dottie, was also in attendance, and Amy Haile 
officially welcomed her to the meeting after her long-awaited arrival. 

 
2.   Special Presentation (19:00 – 23:00) 

A. Spirit of America Proclamation 
 
Amy Haile presented the 2024 Spirit of America tribute recognizing three different groups in an 
awesome representation of the collaboration between communities.  Folks from all three groups were 
present to watch the tribute and accept the award.   
 
The 2024 North Yarmouth, Maine Spirit of America Foundation Tribute honors the volunteers from 
North Yarmouth’s Parks Committee, Royal River Conservation Trust, and the Cumberland Recreational 
Trails Committee for commendable community service.   

 
3.   Appointments (23:00 – 25:10) 

A. Election Clerks-Bi-annual Appointment 
The municipal officers shall appoint election clerks by May 1st of each general election year to serve at 
each voting place during the time that polls are open and as counters after the polls close.  The 
election clerks shall be appointed for a 2-year term. 
 
Democratic     Republican 
 
Elizabeth Chandler    Charles T. Hansel 
John Fulton     Margaret Hansel 
Sheryl Jameson    Stacey Holden 
Kristen Linstrom    David Hyde 
Audrey Lones     James Knight 
Stanley Saucier    Lois Knight 
Steven Smith     Ann Seitz 
Gregory Soper    James Smith 
Virginia VanDyke    Rebecca Tiedemann 
Robert Wood     Gail Turner 

 
A motion to appoint the list of Election clerks as presented with a term ending 6/30/2026 was 
made by Amy Haile.  Seconded by Katherine Maloney.  Motion passed 5-0. 
 

7.   Old Business (25:10 – 31:10) 
A. Open Space & Planning Committee Member Amendment 

Amy Haile proposed a change to the Open Space and Planning Committee membership as follows. 
 
The Committee will consist of seven (7) voting members and three (3) alternate members made up of 
North Yarmouth residents, and one (1) or two (2) non-voting Select Board Liaison(s). The Select Board 

39



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of April 2, 2024 
Page 2 of 15 

may also appoint additional non-voting liaisons from local conservation organizations or other 
interested parties as appropriate. The term of the Committee shall be two years, which may be 
extended by the Select Board for additional terms if deemed necessary. 
 
Discussion: 
Amy Haile requested that Karl Cyr and Andrea Berry explain the need for the proposed change to the 
committee. 
 
Andrea Berry stated that there were several questions from applicants about the duration of time.  This 
is a time-bound intensive process, and if in some situation someone would need to step down over the 
two-year appointment due to a life change or just the inability to make meetings, there was concern that 
potentially the process would lose momentum.  The inclusion of alternate members keeps that process 
moving forward and allows for additional voices and people with different types of skills added to the 
committee.  
 
Paul Whitmarsh, 110 Wild Turkey Lane, interjected with a point of order and asked that a motion be 
made to move this discussion from old business to the appointments portion of the meeting. 
 
A motion to take up old business out of order of the agenda was made by Amy Haile.  Seconded 
by Andrea Berry.  Motion passed 5-0. 
 
Paul Hodgetts pointed out that the North Yarmouth Open Space Planning Committee document states 
it is an Ad Hoc Committee, and the Town of North Yarmouth Committee Policy, to be addressed later in 
the meeting, states that it’s a standing committee.   
 
Amy Haile agreed and stated that they could make an amendment to the policy when they addressed 
the policy later in the meeting. 

 
A motion to approve the amendment to the committee membership as presented was made by 
Amy Haile.  Seconded by Karl Cyr.  Motion passed 5-0. 
 

3.   Appointments (31:10 – 37:45) 
 

B. Open Space & Planning Committee Appointments 
Amy Haile presented the following proposed members and alternate members of the committee. 
 
Voting Member    Alternate Member 
Rob Wood     Harry Nelson 
Scott Bernady    Keith Bubblo 
Christopher Franklin    Scott Douglas 
Laurie Gilman 
Chris Cabot 
Steve Morrison 
Stacey Cramp 
 
Discussion:   
Andrea Berry clarified that the reason that this term is ending 6/30/2024 is to finish out this fiscal year 
and then the same people will be presented in the appointment process for the two full years starting 
in the beginning of next fiscal year. 
 
Diane Barnes stated that she'll be bringing the whole slate of appointments to be approved in June 
before the terms expire. 
 
Andrea Berry wanted to thank all of the people who applied for this committee. She stated it was really 
thrilling to have so much energy, and enthusiasm about this committee and about this process.  She 
deeply appreciates all the time and energy and thought that went into applications and interviews.  

40



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of April 2, 2024 
Page 3 of 15 

She had nothing but wonderful things to say about them and is very excited to be supporting their work 
after their appointment. 
 
Karl Cyr echoed the same sentiments.  He stated that it was difficult to determine who to appoint as 
the three alternates, but a lot of folks openly said they would participate even if not a voting member, 
which was very appreciated.  The group has good energy and the mix of skill set that the committee 
has will be very strong for its charge.  He is excited to see what they can do. 
 
Amy Haile agreed that the Town is very lucky with the appointment of this group of individuals. 
 
A motion to appoint the slate of members to the Open Space and Planning Committee as 
presented with a term ending 6/30/2024 was made by Amy Haile.  Seconded by Andrea Berry.  
Motion passed 5-0. 
 

C. Code Enforcement Officer Appointment 
Amy Haile said that recently the Town Manager was on the news to speak about the new Code 
Enforcement arrangement with Gray.  Amy expressed excitement and appreciation that when the 
previous code enforcement officer put in notice Diane Barnes knew she had a problem to solve.  She 
reached out to her network and Gray stepped forward and helped with a solution.  Tammy Munson, 
Code Enforcement Officer for the Town of Gray, has already been to the Town Office and met with 
Casey Bacon, Code Enforcement Administrative Assistant, and all are excited about the arrangement. 
 
Discussion: 
Paul Hodgetts asked when she will be working.  
 
Diane Barnes stated that she will not just be sitting in the office as that would be a wasted resource.  
Casey will be setting appointments and Tammy will be available by appointment to come and inspect.  
She has already been on one this week. She will only be in the office if needed for a specific reason. 
 
Paul Hodgetts asked if the Town will be dealing with just Tammy Munson or if her assistants in Gray 
would be helping as well. 
 
Diane Barnes said all three will be involved as needed.  The term will be through the end of the fiscal 
year to start and then there will be the option to re-appoint for an annual term. 
 
Karl Cyr asked if this was something that could be a long-term arrangement or just a stop gap. 
 
Diane Barnes said they would be evaluating that and would be working on a memorandum of 
understanding (MOU) that will be brought back to the Select Board.  Two years ago, she would have 
said no, but with things dying down some she thinks it is doable.  Between Tammy Munson and the 
two part-time assistants there is more than one person available to do inspections. 
 
A motion to appoint Tammy Munson as Code Enforcement Officer with a term ending 6/30/2024 
was made by Amy Haile.  Seconded by Katherine Maloney.  Motion passed 5-0. 

 
4.   Announcements (37:45 – 37:50) 

None. 
 

5.   Public Comment – Non-Agenda Items (37:50 – 59:00) 
Please state your name and address and keep comments to 3 minutes. 
 
Audrey Lones,107 Baston Road, felt that the Select Board pulled together a great committee for Open 
Space. The Town's fortunate to have residents with this diverse set of technical skills. She was hopeful that 
some money had been budgeted to support this committee for whatever technical assistance they need.  
 
Leanne Candura, 176 Christopher Road, lcandura@msad51.org, Chair of the MSAD 51 Board of Directors, 

41

mailto:lcandura@msad51.org


Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of April 2, 2024 
Page 4 of 15 

brought the Select Board some important updates.  The School Board has been looking for a solution for 
the community regarding the growing student population for several years.  The proposal at 80 Gray Road 
failed in November 2022 and they are working to find other options.  They worked to remove features and 
lower the cost of the 80 Gray Road project from 80+ million to below 74 million.  With the acquisition of land 
contiguous to campus made possible by taxpayers, they have looked at planning an on-campus solution.  
She thanked the Towns of Cumberland and North Yarmouth and their staff, elected leadership, and 
community members who have spoken or written to the board.  The School Board and administration have 
been working to balance priorities.  Three guiding priorities are providing appropriate space to serve the 
students, keeping the short- and long-term costs to the communities as low as possible, and long-term 
sustainability of the facilities and district.  The one-campus plan best accomplishes goals and balances 
priorities.  The 80 Gray Road plan did not include any updates to the existing Cumberland campus, 
including many that were badly needed.  To make a one-campus model work, they needed to address 
issues within the campus itself.  This new plan encompasses key features that set up the district for long-
term sustainability and provides our students and community with value for the money. This project 
represents a reduction of almost 25 million dollars and addresses long-term issues that will set the schools 
up for success for the next decade.  Changes were made based on input from the community, they want a 
cost-conscious solution that is sustainable for the long term and one where more things wouldn’t be added 
year after year that weren’t included in the vision the first time.  On April 1,2024, the School Board 
unanimously voted to send this project to referendum on June 11th.  The School Board will be working until 
then to ensure information is dispersed to the community regarding the cost and benefits of the project.  
She brought a list of events and a handout with a QR code that will be posted around town to make 
information on the project available to the community. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh, 110 Wild Turkey Lane, brought to the attention of the Select Board that his wife, who had 
applied for the Shellfish Commission open position, was being interviewed under the standing committees 
of statutory responsibilities. He doesn’t believe that is the correct procedure.  He said that it is nice to see 
that applications are available online but that there had been discussion around redacting personal 
information so that cell phones and email addresses wouldn’t be publicly available as they were in the 
Select Board packet. 
 
Karl Cyr stated that it was his understanding that there needed to be an interview.  He was hoping to have 
the interview done in time for the meeting, but scheduling was difficult during the previous week.  He 
understood an interview to be part of the process that he needed to follow. 
 
Amy Haile was under the impression that an interview needed to be conducted as well but didn’t have the 
policy in front of her.  She said she could take another look. 
 
Paul Hodgetts remembered Eliza Bachelder being appointed to EDSC from a recommendation to the 
board and they didn’t do a normal process for the appointment process.  He was wondering if they could 
move forward with the appointment with the time crunch and two committee members already 
recommending Rachael Whitmarsh.  The committee was supposed to meet and might not be able to have 
a quorum. 
 
Andrea Berry thought the Select Board held up Eliza Bachelder’s appointment so she could go through the 
process. 
 
Paul Hodgetts stated that the appointment was held up when she was applying as an alternate member, 
but when she applied to a full position, they moved based on the recommendation of the EDSC as he 
remembers. 
 
Andrea Berry stated her memory of events was different, but they have a process that was set up and it’s 
important to go through the process even for single applicants to committees.  They just did 10 interviews 
and are about to go through more for single applicants.  They did 15-minute zoom interviews, and they 
were flexible and available. 
 
Amy Haile asked if the question had come up before the meeting.  Paul Hodgetts affirmed that it had.  Amy 

42



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of April 2, 2024 
Page 5 of 15 

Haile stated that if people have a question regarding a process, they should contact someone before the 
meeting to ask the question.  She wanted to pause the conversation and get back to the meeting, and not 
decide without all the information. 
 
Karl Cyr stated that he felt that doing the interview covered all bases. 
 
Amy Haile looked up the North Yarmouth Committee Appointment Process approved February 7, 2023 
https://www.northyarmouth.org/sites/g/files/vyhlif1006/f/uploads/ny_committees-
appointment_process_2.7.2023.pdf.  She asked if the Shellfish Conservation Committee was a standing 
committee, received a general affirmation, and went through the process for appointments to standing 
committee. 

 
 
Amy Haile asked if anyone was saying they shouldn’t interview her. 
 
Paul Hodgetts stated he wasn’t saying that, but with the timeline, where the interview fell apart last week, 
and the meeting wouldn’t have a quorum, he just wanted to bring it up.   
 
Amy Haile stated that she was glad he had as she had to look it up to review the process and that it now 
feels that doing the interview is the right course of action not only for the Select Board but also for the 
applicant. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh pointed out that conducting the interviews fell under the tasks of the interview 
subcommittee of committee chair and committee members, not the Select Board. 
 
Amy Haile said that was a great point. 
 
Mike Mallory, 551 Walnut Hill Road, came up to pass out documentation on what he would be addressing 

43

https://www.northyarmouth.org/sites/g/files/vyhlif1006/f/uploads/ny_committees-appointment_process_2.7.2023.pdf
https://www.northyarmouth.org/sites/g/files/vyhlif1006/f/uploads/ny_committees-appointment_process_2.7.2023.pdf


Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of April 2, 2024 
Page 6 of 15 

later in the meeting. 
 
Karl Cyr asked if there was an interview subcommittee. 
 
Amy Haile clarified that what is being pointed out is there is an inconsistency with the standing committee 
process.  Clarification is needed regarding developing the interview subcommittee of committee chair and 
committee members. The addition of other interested parties or other relevant parties may be necessary.  
In the unusual case of the Shellfish Commission, she is not sure how interested they are in being part of 
this process.  She felt that the conversation should be paused to either make an amendment to the 
standing committee appointment process at the next meeting and/or invite the Shellfish Commission to do 
the interview for consistency. 
 
Andrea Berry stated that it seemed reasonable to ask the Shellfish Commission if they would like to do the 
interview or if they would like to have Karl and Paul do the interview. 
 
Amy Haile said she had gone through a similar process with the library and they were delighted to have a 
say.   
 
Paul Hodgetts asked if they would be able to get an answer from the Shellfish Commission by Friday in 
time for the scheduled interview. 
 
Amy Haile stated that the Board should also look at how they want to reword the language.  In the 
meantime, she recommended reaching out to the Shellfish Commission and asking if they would like to join 
the interview. 
 
Karl Cyr asked if the Shellfish Commission does the interview and gives the thumbs up, can Rachael 
Whitmarsh then be appointed at the next meeting.  Amy Haile agreed.  Karl Cyr then stated that he agreed 
they should also look at amending the appointment process. 
 
Amy Haile stated that when they were originally thinking about process, they were thinking about 
committees just for North Yarmouth.  Adding some flexibility could be discussed. 
 
Karl Cyr suggested adding language requiring committee members representing North Yarmouth for 
shared or multi-town committees. 
 
Andrea Berry agreed that there are quite a few committees that fall under that category, and they may need 
a separate section for those. 
 
Amy Haile also suggested adding the Select Board Liasson to the interview process.  She then asked if the 
Board agreed as to the next steps.   
 
Karl Cyr said they would reach out to the Shellfish Commission to conduct the interview and ask for their 
recommendation. 
 
Andrea Berry also suggested offering to allow them to abdicate the role so they could continue with the 
interview process.  
 
Paul Hodgetts stated that Len Kaminow had recommended her when he spoke previously at a meeting. 
 
Amy Haile said they should follow the rules and since it has been pointed out that there is an error in the 
rules, that would be a good thing to address. 
 
Alicia Dostilio of the Economic Development and Sustainability Committee (EDSC) stated that with the last 
two members they went through the interview subcommittee process and recommendation to the Select 
Board for appointment. 
 

44



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of April 2, 2024 
Page 7 of 15 

6.   New Business (59:00) 
      None 

 
7.   Old Business (59:00 – 2:35:10) 

A. Property Tax Assistance Ordinance  
 
One of the Select Board Goals for fiscal year 2024 is to review and make amendments to the Property 
Tax Assistance Ordinance. 
 
After legal review of the existing ordinance, certain sections needed to be updated as follows: 

• The reference to Title 36, Chapter 908-A is incorrect. 
• The ordinance uses the term “credit” instead of “benefit”- changes were made throughout. 
• The statute requires benefits for renters as well, and so “rent constituting property taxes 

accrued: needed to be spelled out in the ordinance. 
• The statute says to calculate benefits “in a way that provides greater benefits proportionally to 

applicants with lower incomes in relation to their property taxes accrued or rent constituting 
property taxes accrued”.  This proposed amendment takes this into account. 

• Proposing to increase Household Income to $50,000. 
• Household Income shall have the same meaning as “income”, as defined in 36 M.R.S § 6201 

(9). 
• Applicants who do not file an income tax return but receive Social Security benefits must submit 

their SSA-1099 form with the application. 
• Applications filed on or after July 1, 2025 for the FY 26 benefit year, must show proof that they 

have received a tax credit under the provisions of the State of Maine Property Tax Fairness 
Credit Program in accordance with 36 M.R.S. § 5219-KK. 

 
Discussion: 
Amy Haile asked for any comments or questions from the Select Board first. 
 
Paul Hodgetts said he thinks they are lowering the amount that people were receiving.  More people 
will be included with a higher income, but no more money is being applied to this immediately in the 
budget.  He asked if someone makes $20,000 and has property tax of $4,000 what will they receive for 
a benefit?  Would anyone hit the $1,500 benefit? 
 

 
 
Amy Haile said looking at the chart if someone’s property tax is 20% of their income they would receive 
a $1,000 benefit.  She stated that the percentages were based on last year’s applications and there are 
people who will receive the highest benefit.  If someone has a tax bill that is 28% of their income, they 
will receive the highest benefit.  The Select Board will be looking at this and adjusting year to year.  
Some people who received $1,000 in the past will not receive $1,000 this year, but proportionally their 
tax burden is different from someone receiving a higher benefit.  Hopefully by being able to offer more 
money to those with the greatest need and by increasing the income limit this will make more of a 

45



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of April 2, 2024 
Page 8 of 15 

difference for more people in their property tax burden. 
 
Diane Barnes stated that section 10, regarding periodic review or the ordinance, was added after the 
last meeting and that was the only difference. 
 
Karl Cyr questioned whether at least every three years might be confusing or ambiguous, and whether 
future boards would recognize the intent.   
 
Amy Haile stated that ‘at least three’ was how it was written to give flexibility, because they discussed 
reviewing the set up every year early on but that might not be necessary later. 
 
Paul Hodgetts stated that they could review every year if they want. 
 
Karl Cyr wanted to add ‘once’ before ‘every three years’ to make it very clear that this should never go 
more than three years without being reviewed.   
 
Diane Barnes stated that they could add the word to the document. 
 
Mike Mallory, 551 Walnut Hill Road, passed out a table showing the property tax bill people will be 
required to pay at each income level to receive each level of benefit.  The income level has increased 
to $50,000 annually.  To receive a $1,500 benefit at that income, a person has to have a $14,000 tax 
bill.  People that bought a $200,000 house 30 years ago, now have a house worth $600,000.  If they 
are still making $30,000, they have a big tax bill in order to receive a modest benefit.  He has brought 
up Yarmouth before and stated that they take 4% of your income and you have to have a tax bill of 
$3,800.  Whatever you pay over 4% of your income, they give you half of that back up to a maximum of 
$1,200.  Somebody making $20,000 a year will need a $5,600 tax bill in order to receive $1,500.  He 
doesn’t see how this will do any real help for the people who need it.  The limit is increased so that 
means more people will be eligible.  He thought this should be tabled until they find something that is 
going to work.  Decreasing the benefit to $350 for someone who used to receive $1,000 is not a reason 
to be patting ourselves on the back.  People need help and he doesn’t see this helping. 
 
Judy Potter, 551 Walnut Hill Road, wanted to echo Mike’s speech.  Yarmouth’s income threshold is 
$107,000, and there are people getting $1,200 back.  $50,000 is close to poverty level and she thinks 
it’s sad that that’s all the income level was raised.  And the tax at 28% is a high tax rate.  Diane said 
that nobody pays over $10,000 in taxes.  She just doesn’t see how this is going to help, especially 
when you have a 10% Town budget increase, 12% electricity increase, 19% insurance policy increase 
due to flooding, fires and volcanoes, food increases, gas, heating, and everything else.  She just 
doesn’t see this helping the seniors at all and she’s really upset that the Town isn’t doing more for them. 
 
Katherine Maloney said that in looking at the comparisons handed out by Mike Mallory, she agrees that 
the $1,500 benefit might not be reached by some of the examples just thrown out in the discussion. In 
reviewing the new policy, she looked at how this would affect the people who had submitted 
applications last year.  She feels that they are still offering a very good benefit, if not the top benefit of 
the surrounding communities, whilst extending the benefit max from $1,000 to $1,500.  This also makes 
sure that the Town avoids what she saw in Yarmouth’s numbers, where a significant number of people 
are getting between $20 to $100.  It adds up when a lot of people get that.  They sent her a 
spreadsheet and she went through hundreds of data points.  She is grateful for Diane Barnes’s 
leadership and for the thoughtfulness and research behind this and that the Board is writing in a regular 
review process to allow it to evolve as they learn more.  She feels confident that this offers a good 
package to seniors in the area. 
 
Andrea Berry recalled what Kit Maloney was describing in the North Yarmouth numbers.  The point of 
the process is to ensure that people who are truly struggling are getting more.  She understood from 
the numbers Diane Barnes had run that the folks who are struggling the most are going up from $1,000 
to $1,500, which is the core goal. She stated that someone with a $300,000 home will pay 
approximately $6,000 in taxes and someone with a bigger home will pay more.  She feels that folks 

46



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of April 2, 2024 
Page 9 of 15 

who are paying a disproportionate amount of their income towards their taxes are going to receive more 
money.  Statute also requires this to be set up on a percentage basis and using the numbers of the 
people who had applied for the program in the past felt like the right choice. 
 
Mike Mallory, 551 Walnut Hill Road, said someone making $20 to $30,000 a year is not going to be able 
to afford a house with a $10,000 tax bill, so that demographic will never be able to access that benefit.  
When was the last time any of us tried to live on $20,000 a year?  He thinks the Select Board is making 
a big mistake if they pass this. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh, 110 Wild Turkey Lane, thought it should shock everyone that someone is paying 28% 
of their income in property taxes.  He felt that it was unsustainable, and they wouldn’t last in the house.  
He hopes that the Select Board will think about the people paying 30% of their income on their tax bill 
during budget season. 
 
Karl Cyr added that all the comments made were relevant and this was an important problem.  The 
Select Board is amending an ordinance that hasn’t been touched on in 7 years and is updating the 
benefit and increasing the income level.  It doesn’t fully solve the problem, and building something that 
requires future boards to review it and keep it in mind is probably the best thing to be done.  This is a 
good thing to do now, it’s an incremental improvement. 
 
Amy Haile agreed and appreciated Karl’s statements and wanted to remind that this is one of many 
benefits.  This partners with aid from the state and she wanted to better inform folks as to other aid 
available to offer some relief.  It’s hard to have to be in a position to offer benefits, but she is glad they 
can do this and continue to look at this. 
 
A motion to approve the amendments to the Property Tax Ordinance and authorize the 
ordinance to be included in the June 17th annual town meeting warrant for voter approval was 
made by Amy Haile.  Seconded by Andrea Berry.  Motion passed 4-1.  Paul Hodgetts opposed. 
 

B. Committee Policy Amendment 
The proposed amendments consist of the following: 

• Added and updated current committee and boards list 
• Added Remote Participation Policy 
• Added Qualifications and Appointment Process 
• Added Broadcasting Committee & Board Meetings 

 
Amy Haile stated this was another topic from the meeting last week.  It’s straightforward and redlined in 
the packet.  The change that Paul Hodgetts noted earlier will be made to remove the Open Space and 
Planning Committee from the list of standing committees.  Section 8 Broadcasting Committee & Board 
Meetings has been discussed for a while.  As written, broadcasting committee meetings shall be upon 
request and room availability. The request must be made to the Select Board Liaison one month prior to 
the scheduled meeting. For this section, committees mean the following, Parks Committee, Economic 
Development and Sustainability, Joint Standing Committee, Waste Reduction Committee, School Fund 
Committee, and Open Space and Planning Committee. 
 
Discussion: 
Paul Hodgetts asked why the Parks and Waste Committee are being held in the community room.  He 
would like to see all meetings of all committees recorded. 
 
Amy Haile said this was the first step towards that, this is a shift to give the ability to more committees 
to be broadcast and recorded and then as space and facilities allow more can be discussed.  For this 
discussion, the focus is making sure that people know how to request and how their requests will be 
handled. 
 
Paul Hodgetts stated that recording is a tool and very useful when mistakes are made in meeting 

47



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of April 2, 2024 
Page 10 of 15 

minutes.  Mistakes have been made in the Select Board meeting minutes. If there isn’t a recording, how 
do you know that a mistake was made? 
 
Amy Haile said that was why statutory committees are required to be recorded. 
 
Paul Hodgetts said other committees are important too and asked if this was a money thing. 
 
Amy Haile replied that there is no denying their importance but there are legal implications of mistakes 
that are different.  There are timing, space and priority issues within the community center. 
 
Paul Hodgetts didn’t see the issue with space or timing.  The meetings are on different nights.  He is at 
a loss as to why they can’t at least be recorded. 
 
Karl Cyr thought it was worth having that conversation as a separate topic but it’s not relevant to this 
amendment now.  That would be a separate discussion to amend the policy.  He thinks it is worth 
thinking about, the technology is there.  AI is available in recordings to take minutes and public 
comment with names attached so it’s all searchable and findable.  There are benefits and costs 
involved that should be discussed at a different time. 
 
Katherine Maloney said after meetings discussing this change in depth and checking in with the EDSC 
as liaison two things emerged as priorities.  Certain meetings should be able to be broadcast, and not 
all meetings should be required to be broadcast because of the implications that has on scheduling 
issues.  She felt that this updated language checks off both of those important considerations. 
 
Andrea Berry stated that she thinks this gives a much wider group of committees the opportunity to be 
broadcast and she appreciates the opportunity to give them access when there are high interest topics.  
She has seen meetings where committee members would have wished the meeting had been recorded 
but also had discussions where appreciation was expressed for the flexibility that this amendment 
allows. 
 
Amy Haile felt that there was a need to be careful when using the terms broadcast and recording 
interchangeably.  Recording and posting after would be different from broadcasting.  For this 
amendment, broadening the opportunity and making clear the process for requesting meetings be 
broadcast are the issues.   
 
Paul Hodgetts said that sound quality for meetings should also be addressed.  He attended an EDSC 
meeting that wasn’t recorded that couldn’t be heard.   
 
Amy Haile stated that she would love for him to take charge of that issue and run with it.  It’s different 
than this, but it’s related and should be researched and addressed.  
 
Katherine Maloney said that it would be appropriate to ask for people to speak up so the audience 
could be heard during meetings.   
 
Amy Haile said it could also be possible to ask for the meeting to have microphones. 
 
Andrea Berry stated it could also be a room configuration problem. 
 
Amy Haile felt like the issues of broadcasting vs. recording, sound quality, and room set up are valuable 
discussion topics that should be addressed as separate issues to continue working on. 
 
Katherine Maloney wanted to amend the amended policy to allow more flexibility surrounding the 
timeframe for scheduling meetings.   
 
Amy Haile said that the timeframe for scheduling meetings was put in place to avoid last minute 
changes that won’t be able to be accommodated. 

48



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of April 2, 2024 
Page 11 of 15 

 
Karl Cyr suggested using the wording ‘will make a reasonable effort’. 
 
Andrea Berry suggested changing ‘must’ to ‘should’ in the second sentence and asked about adding 
staffing availability to the first sentence of Section 8. 
 
Amy Haile said that would be a good addition.  She would like to assume good intent by all town 
employees. 
 
Katherine Maloney stated that she didn’t expect that staff would turn down a request for being a day or 
two late, but she wanted to give the flexibility for a committee member to feel comfortable to ask. 
 
Paul Hodgetts asked why the EDSC meeting in December was cancelled and he didn’t know about it 
for 45 days. 
 
Amy Haile said she didn’t know and asked to move on.  She hoped to move forward to clarity and 
process. 
 
Paul Hodgetts said in his opinion that is always the problem with the Select Board.  Everyone wants to 
move forward, and nobody wants to look back. 
 
Alicia Dostilio of the Economic Development and Sustainability Committee (EDSC) wanted to gain 
clarity.  Kit had asked if they would like the meetings to continue to be recorded and the consensus was 
that nobody wants being able to be recorded to stop a meeting because they only have one a month.  
However, the preference is, since the room is set up and it has for several years been recorded the 
consensus was that the entire committee would like that to continue.  The recording of that meeting is 
available to be reviewed and she asked if the Select Board had seen it.  She is concerned that the 
committee was asked, and she feels like the Board is ignoring the answer. 
 
Katherine Maloney stated that she had reported on that meeting to the Select Board.  They did receive 
the update even if they didn’t watch the meeting.  She also stated that she could understand where the 
committee members might feel that they were being ignored, but that she would personally be 
surprised if anything changed for the EDSC.  Since there was a consensus all around, she felt that they 
would just get in the rhythm of making requests monthly but that now they would not be so confined 
around rescheduling. 
 
Alicia Dostilio stated that she was concerned about the bigger message and that it looks like the EDSC 
is just optics and decisions are being made separately from the committee. 
 
Amy Haile said there are times when the Select Board asks, ‘what do you think’, but they are gathering 
input from a variety of sources and must take other things into consideration.  Then they can’t always 
do exactly what one group wants.  She stated that is government writ at large.  She doesn’t feel that the 
EDSC wasn’t heard or that they are being disrespected or ignored, just that other things were taken into 
consideration.  If EDSC would still like to be recorded, then they still have the opportunity to do that.  
She feels this is a common misconception when the Select Board cannot follow an individual’s or 
group’s instructions to the letter. 
 
Alicia Dostilio asked what triggered the discussion around recording the EDSC meeting. 
 
Amy Haile stated she believed it was a meeting conflict that prompted the discussion that non-statutory 
meetings didn’t need to be limited by recording. 
 
Katherine Maloney stated that she thought maybe they were talking about two different meetings. She 
thought there was a December meeting that the decision was made not to record because no 
committees that were non-statutory were being recorded. That kicked off this discussion at the Select 
Board meeting where time was spent talking about just not having any non-statutory committee 

49



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of April 2, 2024 
Page 12 of 15 

meetings recorded.  The public was heard, and the vote was delayed, to give time to connect with 
committees so something that was more thoughtfully inclusive of committee feedback could be created.  
She felt this policy achieved that by allowing recordings and allowing flexibility to meet outside of 
recording. 
 
Alicia Dostilio asked why they changed something that wasn’t broken.  She agrees that no one should 
be limited by recording and importance is across the board, but it’s hard to wrap her head around why 
they are making it a different requirement.  EDSC isn’t the issue, it’s always in this room on the same 
day. 
 
Andrea Berry stated that this is about all of the committees, EDSC is just one of the committees that 
are in consideration in this process.  The same discussion was had with all committees.  This piece of 
the policy was created to reflect the feedback from all the committees.  This is the Select Board looking 
at the entire committee process around broadcasting committees and creating a process that makes 
room for what the EDSC has been doing and has asked for, as well as the other committees’ requests.  
This policy allows the flexibility for the EDSC to be able to have meetings that aren’t recorded if it’s 
going to impact the ability of the committee to meet and allows for other committees to request to be 
recorded that are currently not being recorded at any time.  This is the compromise that makes it 
possible for every committee to have access to recording.  She wanted to reflect that the Select Board 
is in the process of taking the information gathered to create a policy that works for the entire Town. 
 
Alicia Dostilio said that her point was that it was unnecessary to pull from one committee to add 
everyone else in. 
 
Karl Cyr said he might have lost the plot.  There wasn’t a broadcasting policy for these committees 
before and this is an amendment to the Committees policy to add the option for committees to 
broadcast their meetings where there was not an option before in policy language. 
 
Amy Haile said that was correct. 
 
Judy Potter, 551 Walnut Hill Road, said this building was built to have meetings in.  That’s why it was 
built, so it was the number one priority.  She thinks they need to look at that and make sure that the 
meetings are held here.  She also asked how anyone was going to know a month ahead of time that 
they had something important to be recorded. 
 
Amy Haile stated that she chose the month because these committees meet monthly.  Events and 
upcoming agendas are discussed within the meetings. 
 
Judy Potter went on to say that all the committee meetings are on different days so there is really no 
reason why they couldn’t all be recorded.  It’s an important communication tool, which is a goal of the 
Board.  Letting people know what’s going on in the committees is good communication for the Board to 
promote.  She feels that the Select Board is eliminating the residents and putting all ownership with the 
committee and that isn’t a good idea.   
 
Paul Whitmarsh, 110 Wild Turkey Lane, had something other than the broadcast section to address.  
Amy mentioned that broadcasting and recording are being conflated.  The equipment and capability are 
available to record every single meeting in any room.  An iPad could be used to record, and Jackson 
could be asked to upload it the next time he works.  There should be at least one person on every 
committee that can operate an iPad.  It is more important to record than to broadcast, because if he has 
the time to watch it live then he can come and watch it in person.  It is when he is not able to attend or 
watch that he wants to be able to refer back to the meeting, especially as budget season approaches 
and people are talking about the reasons behind the budget they are looking for.  Section 5 B contains 
conflicting information regarding when the committee chairperson submits their recommendations to 
the Select Board and or Town Manager.  Section 5 D also needs clarifying wording on the state and 
local laws that require expertise to be appointed.  He thinks that the document should be bounced off 
the committee appointment policy to make sure that the two don’t conflict and confuse people. 

50



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of April 2, 2024 
Page 13 of 15 

 
Andrea Berry, speaking to 5 D, stated that she didn’t believe that specific expertise was being required 
in state and local laws.  She thinks it’s specific expertise in state and local laws such as an 
understanding of the land use ordinance.   
 
Paul Whitmarsh suggested taking ‘the’ out before ‘specific expertise’. 
 
Amy Haile suggested changing the wording in 5 B from ‘after the appointment process’ to ‘after the 
interview process’. 
 
Karl Cyr asked about the Remote Participation Policy item.  The Parks Committee asked for clarity 
regarding what that was.   
 
Diane Barnes stated that each committee would have to have their own Remote Participation Policy in 
place to meet remotely.  For each of the committees that have adopted one, the policy is the same as 
the Select Board’s. 
 
Karl Cyr clarified that a committee would already have a policy or would just need to adopt the general 
template of a policy. 
 
A motion to approve the amendments to the Committee Policy as presented was made by Amy 
Haile.  Katherine Maloney seconded the motion.  Motion passed 4-1.  Paul Hodgetts opposed. 
 

C. Open Space & Planning Committee Member Amendment 
Addressed and approved during 3. Appointments (25:10 – 31:10). 

 
D. LOU – Proposed Amendments to Section 1.7 

Amy Haile introduced another topic from the last meeting.  Everyone has had time to review the 
proposed Land Use Ordinance amendment.  The intention is to put clarity on the process for 
amendment to the Land Use Ordinance.  Having the time to review was helpful as she found the Select 
Board had started talking about this last year at around the same time and was brought forward in 
goals from August or September of 2022 from the fiscal year before.   The origins predate everyone on 
the Board except Paul and the concept is to provide clarity for all as to how to make amendments.  This 
is a process-oriented document.  The Select Board received an email from the Chair of the Planning 
Board with thoughts and reflections on it.   She talked to him before the meeting and let him know that 
she couldn’t review the documents side by side, but there is another document out there for review.  
Taking into consideration what is on the Planning Board’s plate right now with the other time sensitive 
projects under their review, she suggested pushing pause on this amendment. 
 
Karl Cyr has taken a deeper look at the Select Board proposed amendments document, and he thinks 
overall it’s a good idea to look at amending this section as what is there is inadequate.  It explains how 
something is ratified but doesn’t explain how an amendment would get to that point.  This amendment 
does that.  He doesn’t want the amendment to be dropped but believes this should be a post budget 
planning discussion that collaborates with the Planning Board.  He doesn’t have any major concerns 
with what was written and believes it does a good job of outlining the possible paths to amendment as 
he understood them.  Specifics surrounding when it will be considered and the process to get it to the 
Town Meeting are important and this does a good job of that.  This may be the first draft and will have 
to go through some iteration to get there.   
 
Paul Whitmarsh, 110 Wild Turkey Lane, apologized for the timing of his email.  He said that what he 
sent was just a rough draft drawn up by him, after the last meeting prior to the workshop, trying to 
capture the historical process that had been used to amend the land use ordinance and add some 
framework and procedures that would allow feedback back and forth between the boards.  He put it on 
the workshop agenda so he could get it to the Planning Board without holding an illegal meeting.  He 
wanted to make sure it was out there for the public and the other members to look at and discuss it as a 
first draft.  He agreed it would be good to codify the procedure.  He expressed concern with the version 

51



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of April 2, 2024 
Page 14 of 15 

that the Select Board was discussing and felt it created a pay to play situation surrounding fees.   He 
doesn’t want to see groups of residents trying to make changes get lost in a money game that large 
outside developers would be more than willing to pay.  He did not put any time frames or state law 
references in his very rough first draft.  He hasn’t workshopped it with the Planning Board yet, and he 
wants their input and the Select Board’s input. 
 
Amy Haile pointed out that the Select Board’s version has already been through legal once.  She 
wondered what would work timing-wise to get the amendment ready for a November ballot, so 
September time frame. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh stated that the time frame would be doable if other projects don’t take time away from 
this. 
 
Amy Haile asked if he had redlined changes to the Select Board document.   
 
Paul Whitmarsh stated that it was a completely different document.  Just a one-page rough draft. 
 
Amy Haile said this sounded like a nice summer reading project and asked the rest of the Select Board 
if they felt waiting for summer was okay. 
 
Andrea Berry stated that she would like to see the Select Board’s version and Paul Whitmarsh’s version 
go to the Planning Board to be workshopped and discussed together, to pull together both documents 
into a single cohesive version. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh asked for clarification. 
 
Andrea clarified that she hadn’t had much time to compare the two documents before the meeting, but 
what she saw was very different to what the Select Board is discussing.  She doesn’t want two sets of 
competing documents floating out there.  She wants the Planning Board to look at both documents for 
reference when workshopping to use the useful and effective pieces of both to create a combined 
document that will be strongest as a policy. 
 
Paul Whitmarsh stated that he was happy to bring this document forward to the Planning Board and he 
wanted to work together with the Select Board to make sure that they include their input.  He will use 
the Select Board’s version as a reference document to pull parts to merge in order to complete it. The 
Planning Board will only end up going to the Public Hearing with a single document. 
 
Rachael Whitmarsh, 110 Wild Turkey Lane, was curious about the push for both of these.  She stated 
that the document presented by the Select Board had been drafted by the previous chair on his own 
initiative, who used Town resources for something he identified as a personal thing.  She was confused 
by the tone she was hearing. She said it sounds like the Select Board is saying their document has to 
take precedence because it went through legal.  She stated that this was never workshopped or 
developed in public and was delivered at his last meeting and dropped off the radar until very recently.  
She asked why the Select Board didn’t go to the Planning Board to work in collaboration to move this 
forward.  She said it seems very intractable, that the Select Board was insisting their piece be a part of 
the final document.  Her perception is there is a recurring tone coming out in the way things are 
discussed.  Residents are bringing things forward and the way it is coming out the Select Board is 
showing no openness to consideration or willingness to amend.   
 
Karl Cyr said that he doesn’t have a history with this document and there are a lot of parts of it that 
make sense to him.  When compared to the Land Use Ordinance, it details very specific processes.  He 
didn’t see it as a pay to play, but rather that processes initiated by a group of citizens could end up 
costing the Town resources.  He saw this document as protecting the Town from incurring those costs 
and thought the pay to play perspective was interesting.  He doesn’t see the amendment as an 
immediate problem, but something that should be edited and discussed before moving forward.  It’s 
written in a way that could be dropped in a document today, but he wants the time to test it out and 

52



Town of North Yarmouth Select Board Meeting Minutes of April 2, 2024 
Page 15 of 15 

make sure everyone is comfortable with it because it is a serious change.  This is a good start, but the 
Planning Board will be able to look at it and edit from a point of experience. 
 
Rachael Whitmarsh said she appreciated that and was just shocked to see a four page, very explicit 
document to address what was originally less than a page, but she agrees the Town needs something 
like this. 
 

E. Yarmouth’s Dam Removal Initiative 
Andrea Berry said this was on the agenda to continue to recognize this as an ongoing point of 
discussion for the Select Board.  She wanted to report that the Town of Yarmouth reached out through 
one of their councilors and the interim town manager to invite her, Karl, and Diane to have an initial 
discussion to learn more about the process and to discuss a list of questions to bring to the Army 
Corps.  They also want to set up a time to discuss the findings after they come out, knowing that there 
will also be a public comment process.  She is appreciative to the Town of Yarmouth for bringing the 
Town of North Yarmouth into the initial conversation in a formal way and opening the opportunity to 
submit questions prior to findings being finalized. 

 
8.   Consent Agenda (2:35:10 – 2:35:30) 

A. Payroll Warrants 
#78 $  54,726.61    

B. Municipal Accounts Payable Warrants 
#76 $    3,011.70    
#77    $    3,389.56 
#79 $861,297.26    

 
Motion to accept the consent agenda as presented made by Amy Haile.  Seconded by Karl Cyr.  
Motion passed 5-0. 
 

9.   Management Reports & Communications (2:35:30 – 2:35:35) 
A. Town Manager Report: None 

 
10.  Any Other Business (2:35:35 – 2:35:10) 

Andrea Berry thanked Katherine Maloney for bringing the baby, who had the most amazing baby 
participation in a meeting ever.  Amy Haile agreed and welcomed her to any other meetings. 
 

11.  Adjournment (2:35:10 – 2:35:20) 
 

Motion to adjourn at 8:51pm made by Amy Haile.  Seconded by Andrea Berry.  Motion passed 5-
0. 

 
 
Select Board 

   
 ________________________________                             ______________________________ 
        Amy Haile, Chairperson                                                       Andrea Berry, Vice Chairperson    
 
 
 
 ________________________________                              _____________________________ 
         Paul Hodgetts                       Karl Cyr 
 
 
 

________________________________ 
Katherine Maloney 

 

53



 
Town of North Yarmouth 

Code Enforcement Department 
Quarterly Report 

January-March 2024 
 

Permit Comparison 
 

 

 
CEO Overview  
 
The subdivision approved in Q3 of 2023 was the Carriage Hill Extension project which has 
started construction. 
 
 
Respectfully, 
Ben Scipione 
 
 
Submitted by Cassandra Bacon 
Administrative Assistant  
Date: 4/8//2024 

Permit Type Q3 2023 Q3 2024 
Occupancy Certificates CC 1 / CO 10 / CU 3 CC 6 / CO 2 / CU 0 
Building Permits 29 14 
     New Homes 12 3 
Plumbing Permits 15 15 
Septic Permits  7 5 
Electric Permits 26 24 
Subdivisions 1 0 
Contract Zoning 0 0 

54



 Town of North Yarmouth 
 Quarterly Department Head Report 
 Fire Rescue Department  
   

Reporting Period:3rd Quarter January 2024 through March 2024 

Activity                   FY2023        FY  2024 

Medical Calls 58 59 
Fire Calls 49 48 
Patient Evaluations 51 50 
Transports 38 40 
Public Assistance 7 5 
Vehicle Accidents 8 3 
Mutual Aid 15 24 
Unauthorized Burning 0 0 
Total Incidents 107 107 

 
Changes/Updates 

Over the last quarter continue to transition into our NIFIRs reporting system due to our previous program being phased 

out by the manufacturer. We are still Very much in the learning stage of the program’s capabilities. Our new program is 

called first-due, and it encompasses 4 programs in one.  

Over the last quarter, one of our live-in students has completed his Advanced EMT program and in now practicing at the 
Advanced EMT Level.  
 
 

Project(s) Update 

1. Port City Architecture is still working on the Green the station assessment study. With everything else going on, 
we have not completed anymore work on the assessment.  I am looking to have a meeting with Port City to go 
over the results of the green space and discuss next steps.  
 

2. The new Engine – Squad-51 is now in service. We took delivery of Squad-51 on January 30th. We spent the next 
two weeks installing all the department equipment on the truck, Radio Communications Management 
completed the radio installation on the truck on February 6th. Greenwood Emergency Vehicles completed the 
factory Inservice on the new engine on two dates: February 17th 2024 and again on February 24th. We had 18 
members complete the factory in service. Members completed their driver training on the truck over the next 
few weeks. Squad-51 officially went in service on February 21st with members that had been certified on the 
truck. 
 
 

3. The past few months have been steady for our UTV. We have responded to Gray 3 times, New Gloucester 2 
times, and 1 incident in the town of North Yarmouth. On all incidents our UTV played an important role is the 
rescue of the person involved. Our UTV was utilized in all incidents to transport the patient out of the woods to 
the awaiting ambulance.  
 

55



 Town of North Yarmouth 
 Quarterly Department Head Report 
 Fire Rescue Department  
   

4. Roof repairs are still being completed at the station. The contractor has been working around the cold and wet 
weather to get this completed. They are in the final stages of completing the project. Once the roof repairs are 
complete, we will have a contractor come in and make the repairs to the ceilings. 
 

5. On January 18th, 2024, Our fulltime Firefighter paramedic begin his shift. We hired Mike Watts who worked for 
many years at Standish Fire prior to being hired at the Town of North Yarmouth 
 

6. On March 23rd, North Yarmouth experienced a wind/snow and sleet storm that crippled the town for numerous 
days. The department responded to multiple calls for service to include a Wilderness Rescue on the power line 
on New Gloucester Road and Town Farm. Crews spent about 2 hours in the snow/wind/sleet making an 
effective rescue. The department also stood up a warming shelter at the Fire Rescue station which about 20 
residents took advantage of. We offered a warm shower, coffee, sandwiches, electricity for charging items, and 
water. 

 

Coming Up 

In November 2023, North Yarmouth Fire Rescue requested radios through a grant awarded to Cumberland County 

Regional Communications Center. The CCRCC approved our request of 27 portable radios and 7 mobile radios to help 

update our aging radio systems. This is a value of approximately $50,828.27. 

North Yarmouth Fire Rescue has received a grant for $1850.00 to hold a low angle rescue class. This class will better 

prepare our members in the use of ropes and equipment when in the wilderness. This training will greatly enhance the 

departments capabilities during wilderness rescue calls with our UTV. The Grant is provided by the Ed McDonald Safety 

Scholarship from MMA. The class will be held on June 1st, 2024.  

Respectfully Submitted, 
April 9, 2024 
 
Gregory Payson 
Fire Rescue Chief/EMA Director/ Public Health Officer, Fire Rescue Department 

56



 

Town of North Yarmouth 

Quarterly Report – Municipal Administration Department 
Reporting Period:  January | February | March - FY24 

Voter Registration 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Elections 
 March 5, 2024, Presidential Primary, North Yarmouth had a 22% voter turnout.  
 Tuesday, June 11, 2024 – State Primary | MSAD 51 Referendums | Municipal Officers 

o An additional ballot scanning machine has been rented due to the number of ballots for this 
election and State ballots cannot be scanned with local ballots.  

o Nomination papers for Municipal Officers have been available since March 4th and need to be 
filed with the Clerk’s office no later than April 11th at 5pm.  

o April 14, 2024, MSAD 51 and Municipal draft ballots will be submitted to ES&S for printing 
and programing.    

o Absentee Ballots available May 10, 2024. 
o Candidates Night is Wednesday, May 22, 2024, 6:30pm. 

Communications (number of subscribers)                     FY23              FY24 
• Reminders From Town Hall    1009              1060 
• Facebook                1810              1993 
• Instagram       707     731 
• Twitter        375          385 
• TextMyGov (Opt-Ins/Help Notification Messages)                  60     140 
• Town Hall Streams – Live Connections*  667                151 

*Note:  Connections are not necessarily 1 person per meeting, if someone lost their connection 5 times 
and reconnected 5 times, those numbers are included in these totals. See Attached Reports.   

Notes 
o Calendar year end reporting completed for Federal, State, IRS, MSHA and OSHA.  
o Budgets for Fiscal Year 2025 working with Town Manager and Department Heads. 
o Renewal packets for MMA Property and Casualty have been completed.  
o Filings for Workers Compensation Audit have been completed.  
o Preparing for Spring burials has begun in the cemeteries and in the office.  
o Cleanup Day confirmed for Saturday, May 4, 2024 (8am to 1pm). 
o Moderator for the June 17, 2024, Annual Town Meeting has been confirmed. 

 
Submitted by Debbie Grover, Assistant Town Manager  

Fiscal Year Democrat Green Libertarian Republican Un-Enrolled Total Voters 

2023 1533 135 2 1043 1082 3795 

2024 1547 126 2 1053 1132 3868 

 

57

https://www.northyarmouth.org/home/pages/reminders-town-hall-0
https://www.facebook.com/northyarmouth.maine
https://www.instagram.com/northyarmouth/
https://twitter.com/north_yarmouth
https://townhallstreams.com/


Quarterly Report - Public Works Department 
 2024-January/February/March  
 
General Maintenance of Parks & Grounds 

• Dump trash cans at Parks, restock dog waste bags. 
• Moved warning signs back from riverbank erosion areas due to the many river flooding events this year.  
• Grade parks parking lots and driveways. 
• Split rail fence repairs 

 
 

 
 
 

PW Building Mainetenance: 

• Extra Snow  removal at WH&CC for snow sliding of solar panels. To prevent flooding of building. 
• Salt shed door issues, door will not close, process of replacing door with new. 
•  Waste Oil furnace (New last year) hit by power surge and melted control board 

 
 

 
 

 Heavy Equipment:   
• Maintenance of equipment   
• Assist Fire/rescue with maintenance of Fire rescue equipment. 

 
 
  

 
        

Road Maintenance:   
 

• Repair and install street signs at various locations. 
• Pick up roadkill. 
• Tree, limb and brush removal due to winter storms 
• Pothole patching. 
• Spring road heavy load road postings- Started Feb.15-ended April 4th. 

 
 
 
 

 
Other: 

•  Open Wood Waste facility as needed. 
• Hosted at WH&CC a Maine DOT- Local roads center, Work Zone Safety class, Attended by Public Works and 

other public agencies from all over southern Maine, including all our public works employees. 
• Installed public information signs as directed by the Town clerk. 
• Assist WH&CC and other town depts as requested. 
• Pick up waste oil for winter heat. 
• On-call snowplow driver taking Class b commercial driver’s class 
• Winter salt usage: Budget for 850 tons per year, Purchased for the 23-24 season, 716 tons for 22 storms up 

until April 1st. 
• Work on pw’s annual budget for 24-25. 
• Wood waste facility -brush pile ground- and removed to Re energy power plant in Jay, Maine 
• Clean up of Dirty adult diapers on Walnut Hill Road, Cumberland road and Doughty road . 
 

58



2 

  
 
          Changes/Updates: 
 

• Working on underground culvert inventory 
• Working on. “Municipal Disaster Debris management plan”  
• Updates, additions,  correct conflicts with LUO, and other corrections to Road Ordinance 

 
 

Projects: 

• Working on Sligo Road/Toddy brook culvert- Smart Stream Crossing, replacement grant process and Olver 
engineering. 

• Working on New Sidewalk from end of last years sidewalk project to Baston Road.  Sections to be built as a 
PACTS project and by developer of Crossroads development. 

• New section of Sidewalk to be built in village center area by developer of Village view development. 
• New section of sidewalk to be built by developer of Village green apartments. 
• New section of sidewalk under construction at Deacon Hays development 
•  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Storms: 14 winter storms, 8-January,3 -February, 3 -March 

 
 

59



 Town of North Yarmouth 
 Quarterly Department Head Report 
 Wescustogo Hall & North Yarmouth Community Center 
   

Reporting Period: January 2023 – March 2023 

Department Head: Jackie Hersey 

STATISITCS 

Usage January February March 

Open Gym 34 33 33 

Pickleball 301 381 339 

Meetings 10 9 8 

Programs 102 104 105 

Community 
Groups/Programs 

19 20 23 

Rentals 8 6 10 

TOTALS 474 553 518 

Operating Hours January February  March  

Monthly 278 272 254 

Weekly Average 69.5 68 63.5 

REPORT 

The past quarter has been bustling here at the Community Center. There were several nights during the week 
where we had a program, event, meeting, or community gathering in every room. Pickleball continued to reach 
maximum attendance in nearly every session available, kiddie gym gained in popularity, and we’ve pulled more 
library events to the center.  
 
In January, we hosted Prince Memorial’s Square-Dancing event, which brought all ages together for a fun-filled 
night. We also hosted our local Girl Scout troops for a movie night and provided a space for their cookie rally, 
which included troops from neighboring towns.  
 
In February, we hosted the Prince Memorial Library’s Storytelling Supper, which brought over 80 people together 
and speakers from all over. We also made a partnership with the American Red Cross to house a blood drive 
every other month for the foreseeable future. All the drives to-date have collected at least the collection goal with 
several exceeding it. We also worked with GHS for their Pathways event, which included performances, 
interviews, and presentations from several students.  
 
In the month of March, we had 3 teams reach out and reserve the gym. These practices alone brought in $1,200 
in rental fees. We also saw an increase in rentals, particularly birthday party packages. GHS Girls and Boys 
basketball teams both held their end of the season sports banquets with us in March and the GHS Hunger 
Banquet was held in the Merrill Room.  

60



 Town of North Yarmouth 
 Quarterly Department Head Report 
 Wescustogo Hall & North Yarmouth Community Center 
   

 
The Community Center continues to provide space multiple times a week for community-based gatherings like 
Boy Scouts, Cub Scouts, Girl Scouts, Storytimes and GHS events/meetings at no cost.  
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
Jackie Hersey 
Wescustogo Hall & North Yarmouth Community Center Director 

61



EX
PE

N
SE

 S
U

M
M

AR
Y 

RE
PO

RT

JU
LY

 T
O 

M
AR

CH
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T(
S)

: 1
10

 - 
17

0
10

:5
8 

AM
No

rth
 Y

ar
m

ou
th

Pa
ge

 1
04

/0
8/

20
24

BU
DG

ET
BU

DG
ET

CU
RR

 M
NT

H
CU

RR
 M

NT
H

YT
D

UN
EX

PE
ND

ED
PE

RC
EN

T
AC

CO
UN

T
OR

IG
IN

AL
NE

T
DE

BI
TS

CR
ED

IT
S

NE
T

BA
LA

NC
E

SP
EN

T
11

0 
- M

UN
IC

IP
AL

 A
DM

IN
IS

TR
AT

IO
N

1,
91

6,
71

0.
00

11
,4

74
,4

33
.8

0
8,

69
7,

86
0.

74
6,

72
7.

03
8,

69
1,

13
3.

71
2,

78
3,

30
0.

09
75

.7
4

   
 0

1 
- M

U
N

IC
IP

AL
 A

D
M

IN
 O

PE
RA

TI
O

N
S

61
0,

30
2.

00
61

0,
30

2.
00

41
7,

55
7.

95
4,

46
8.

85
41

3,
08

9.
10

19
7,

21
2.

90
67

.6
9

   
   

  5
10

0 
- F

UL
L 

TI
M

E 
W

AG
ES

37
5,

43
0.

00
37

5,
43

0.
00

26
8,

32
3.

83
2,

26
7.

70
26

6,
05

6.
13

10
9,

37
3.

87
70

.8
7

   
   

  5
11

2 
- S

EL
EC

T 
BO

AR
D 

ST
IP

EN
D

6,
50

0.
00

6,
50

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

6,
50

0.
00

0.
00

   
   

  5
12

0 
- O

VE
R 

TI
M

E 
W

AG
ES

5,
00

0.
00

5,
00

0.
00

1,
76

0.
26

0.
00

1,
76

0.
26

3,
23

9.
74

35
.2

1
   

   
  5

13
0 

- A
LL

OW
AN

CE
S

3,
98

0.
00

3,
98

0.
00

1,
49

5.
46

0.
00

1,
49

5.
46

2,
48

4.
54

37
.5

7
   

   
  5

14
0 

- T
RA

IN
IN

G
2,

00
0.

00
2,

00
0.

00
81

5.
00

13
0.

00
68

5.
00

1,
31

5.
00

34
.2

5
   

   
  5

15
0 

- D
UE

S/
M

EM
BE

RS
HI

PS
/L

IC
EN

SE
S/

SU
BS

7,
86

3.
00

7,
86

3.
00

7,
54

4.
39

0.
00

7,
54

4.
39

31
8.

61
95

.9
5

   
   

  5
21

0 
- P

OS
TA

GE
4,

90
0.

00
4,

90
0.

00
3,

61
1.

38
49

.9
2

3,
56

1.
46

1,
33

8.
54

72
.6

8
   

   
  5

21
4 

- A
DV

ER
TI

SI
NG

3,
50

0.
00

3,
50

0.
00

60
5.

30
0.

00
60

5.
30

2,
89

4.
70

17
.2

9
   

   
  5

21
8 

- P
RI

NT
IN

G
10

,8
55

.0
0

10
,8

55
.0

0
3,

30
7.

14
0.

00
3,

30
7.

14
7,

54
7.

86
30

.4
7

   
   

  5
22

0 
- B

AN
K 

FE
ES

0.
00

0.
00

34
.2

0
0.

00
34

.2
0

-3
4.

20
---

-
   

   
  5

22
2 

- S
PE

CI
AL

 E
VE

NT
S

1,
75

0.
00

1,
75

0.
00

90
7.

47
10

.5
5

89
6.

92
85

3.
08

51
.2

5
   

   
  5

22
4 

- O
FF

IC
E 

SU
PP

LI
ES

8,
00

0.
00

8,
00

0.
00

4,
22

1.
89

59
.5

6
4,

16
2.

33
3,

83
7.

67
52

.0
3

   
   

  5
22

6 
- O

FF
IC

E 
EQ

UI
PM

EN
T

10
,1

90
.0

0
10

,1
90

.0
0

10
,0

78
.1

3
0.

00
10

,0
78

.1
3

11
1.

87
98

.9
0

   
   

  5
22

8 
- E

LE
CT

IO
NS

/R
EG

IS
TR

AR
 O

F 
VO

TE
RS

12
,6

05
.0

0
12

,6
05

.0
0

86
2.

48
0.

00
86

2.
48

11
,7

42
.5

2
6.

84
   

   
  5

71
0 

- H
EA

LT
H 

& 
LI

FE
 IN

SU
RA

NC
E

78
,6

47
.0

0
78

,6
47

.0
0

59
,9

22
.6

6
67

4.
49

59
,2

48
.1

7
19

,3
98

.8
3

75
.3

3
   

   
  5

71
5 

- H
EA

LT
H 

PA
YO

UT
2,

83
4.

00
2,

83
4.

00
1,

36
2.

11
0.

00
1,

36
2.

11
1,

47
1.

89
48

.0
6

   
   

  5
72

0 
- D

EN
TA

L 
IN

SU
RA

NC
E

4,
87

1.
00

4,
87

1.
00

3,
83

2.
13

0.
00

3,
83

2.
13

1,
03

8.
87

78
.6

7
   

   
  5

73
0 

- I
CM

A 
RE

TI
RE

M
EN

T
0.

00
0.

00
10

,3
03

.8
4

0.
00

10
,3

03
.8

4
-1

0,
30

3.
84

---
-

   
   

  5
73

5 
- M

EP
ER

S 
RE

TI
RE

M
EN

T
38

,8
04

.0
0

38
,8

04
.0

0
15

,0
39

.1
1

51
0.

17
14

,5
28

.9
4

24
,2

75
.0

6
37

.4
4

   
   

  5
74

0 
- F

IC
A

29
,6

01
.0

0
29

,6
01

.0
0

21
,2

47
.9

0
0.

00
21

,2
47

.9
0

8,
35

3.
10

71
.7

8
   

   
  5

75
0 

- W
OR

KE
RS

 C
OM

PE
NS

AT
IO

N
1,

39
5.

00
1,

39
5.

00
1,

43
0.

00
35

.0
0

1,
39

5.
00

0.
00

10
0.

00
   

   
  5

76
0 

- U
NE

M
PL

OY
M

EN
T

1,
57

7.
00

1,
57

7.
00

12
1.

81
0.

00
12

1.
81

1,
45

5.
19

7.
72

   
   

  5
77

5 
- L

IF
E 

OV
ER

 5
0K

0.
00

0.
00

73
1.

46
73

1.
46

0.
00

0.
00

---
-

   
 0

2 
- C

O
N

TR
AC

TS
/P

RO
FE

SS
IO

N
AL

 S
ER

VI
CE

11
2,

61
0.

00
11

2,
61

0.
00

79
,0

04
.9

0
0.

00
79

,0
04

.9
0

33
,6

05
.1

0
70

.1
6

   
   

  5
31

0 
- A

UD
IT

OR
18

,0
00

.0
0

18
,0

00
.0

0
18

,8
00

.0
0

0.
00

18
,8

00
.0

0
-8

00
.0

0
10

4.
44

   
   

  5
31

6 
- L

EG
AL

50
,0

00
.0

0
50

,0
00

.0
0

28
,7

35
.4

1
0.

00
28

,7
35

.4
1

21
,2

64
.5

9
57

.4
7

   
   

  5
31

8 
- W

EB
SI

TE
2,

17
0.

00
2,

17
0.

00
2,

76
1.

31
0.

00
2,

76
1.

31
-5

91
.3

1
12

7.
25

   
   

  5
32

2 
- T

EC
HN

OL
OG

Y
42

,4
40

.0
0

42
,4

40
.0

0
28

,7
08

.1
8

0.
00

28
,7

08
.1

8
13

,7
31

.8
2

67
.6

4
   

 0
3 

- T
O

W
N

 O
FF

IC
E

83
,0

14
.0

0
83

,0
14

.0
0

84
,1

29
.5

3
1,

98
1.

42
82

,1
48

.1
1

86
5.

89
98

.9
6

   
   

  5
41

0 
- P

HO
NE

7,
00

0.
00

7,
00

0.
00

4,
32

8.
11

0.
00

4,
32

8.
11

2,
67

1.
89

61
.8

3
   

   
  5

41
2 

- I
NT

ER
NE

T 
CA

BL
E

2,
29

5.
00

2,
29

5.
00

1,
65

5.
59

0.
00

1,
65

5.
59

63
9.

41
72

.1
4

   
   

  5
41

4 
- E

LE
CT

RI
CI

TY
7,

00
0.

00
7,

00
0.

00
4,

51
1.

44
0.

00
4,

51
1.

44
2,

48
8.

56
64

.4
5

   
   

  5
41

8 
- P

RO
PA

NE
30

0.
00

30
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
30

0.
00

0.
00

   
   

  5
42

0 
- W

AT
ER

23
8.

00
23

8.
00

17
8.

08
0.

00
17

8.
08

59
.9

2
74

.8
2

   
   

  5
51

0 
- A

LA
RM

S
1,

00
0.

00
1,

00
0.

00
1,

41
2.

73
45

0.
00

96
2.

73
37

.2
7

96
.2

7
   

   
  5

51
2 

- P
ES

T 
CO

NT
RO

L
4,

52
5.

00
4,

52
5.

00
45

0.
00

0.
00

45
0.

00
4,

07
5.

00
9.

94

62



EX
PE

N
SE

 S
U

M
M

AR
Y 

RE
PO

RT

JU
LY

 T
O 

M
AR

CH
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T(
S)

: 1
10

 - 
17

0
10

:5
8 

AM
No

rth
 Y

ar
m

ou
th

Pa
ge

 2
04

/0
8/

20
24

BU
DG

ET
BU

DG
ET

CU
RR

 M
NT

H
CU

RR
 M

NT
H

YT
D

UN
EX

PE
ND

ED
PE

RC
EN

T
AC

CO
UN

T
OR

IG
IN

AL
NE

T
DE

BI
TS

CR
ED

IT
S

NE
T

BA
LA

NC
E

SP
EN

T
11

0 
- M

UN
IC

IP
AL

 A
DM

IN
IS

TR
AT

IO
N 

CO
NT

'D
   

   
  5

51
4 

- F
LO

OR
 M

AT
S

81
6.

00
81

6.
00

58
7.

16
44

.2
5

54
2.

91
27

3.
09

66
.5

3
   

   
  5

51
6 

- C
US

TO
DI

AL
 M

AI
NT

EN
AN

CE
 S

UP
PL

IE
S

1,
41

5.
00

1,
41

5.
00

88
9.

61
53

.8
5

83
5.

76
57

9.
24

59
.0

6
   

   
  5

51
7 

- B
UI

LD
IN

G 
RE

PA
IR

S
2,

62
5.

00
2,

62
5.

00
13

,3
94

.6
7

0.
00

13
,3

94
.6

7
-1

0,
76

9.
67

51
0.

27
   

   
  5

90
0 

- C
AP

IT
AL

 P
RO

JE
CT

S
55

,4
00

.0
0

55
,4

00
.0

0
56

,7
22

.1
4

1,
43

3.
32

55
,2

88
.8

2
11

1.
18

99
.8

0
   

   
  5

95
8 

- G
EN

ER
AT

OR
 E

XP
EN

SE
40

0.
00

40
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
40

0.
00

0.
00

   
 0

4 
- M

U
N

IC
IP

AL
 I

N
SU

RA
N

CE
46

,5
16

.0
0

46
,5

16
.0

0
48

,3
34

.0
0

0.
00

48
,3

34
.0

0
-1

,8
18

.0
0

10
3.

91
   

   
  5

79
0 

- P
RO

PE
RT

Y/
CA

SU
AL

TY
/V

OL
UN

TE
ER

46
,5

16
.0

0
46

,5
16

.0
0

48
,3

34
.0

0
0.

00
48

,3
34

.0
0

-1
,8

18
.0

0
10

3.
91

   
 0

5 
- A

SS
ES

SI
N

G
,C

EO
 &

 P
LA

N
N

IN
G

31
8,

35
0.

00
31

8,
35

0.
00

22
5,

39
2.

18
27

2.
92

22
5,

11
9.

26
93

,2
30

.7
4

70
.7

1
   

   
  5

10
0 

- F
UL

L 
TI

M
E 

W
AG

ES
13

0,
68

7.
00

13
0,

68
7.

00
95

,7
65

.1
6

0.
00

95
,7

65
.1

6
34

,9
21

.8
4

73
.2

8
   

   
  5

12
0 

- O
VE

R 
TI

M
E 

W
AG

ES
3,

00
0.

00
3,

00
0.

00
1,

14
5.

40
0.

00
1,

14
5.

40
1,

85
4.

60
38

.1
8

   
   

  5
13

0 
- A

LL
OW

AN
CE

S
2,

10
0.

00
2,

10
0.

00
2,

10
7.

88
0.

00
2,

10
7.

88
-7

.8
8

10
0.

38
   

   
  5

14
0 

- T
RA

IN
IN

G
2,

00
0.

00
2,

00
0.

00
28

5.
00

0.
00

28
5.

00
1,

71
5.

00
14

.2
5

   
   

  5
15

0 
- D

UE
S/

M
EM

BE
RS

HI
PS

/L
IC

EN
SE

S/
SU

BS
80

0.
00

80
0.

00
77

6.
25

0.
00

77
6.

25
23

.7
5

97
.0

3
   

   
  5

21
0 

- P
OS

TA
GE

1,
00

0.
00

1,
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

1,
00

0.
00

0.
00

   
   

  5
21

2 
- R

EG
IS

TR
Y 

OF
 D

EE
DS

30
0.

00
30

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

30
0.

00
0.

00
   

   
  5

21
4 

- A
DV

ER
TI

SI
NG

1,
00

0.
00

1,
00

0.
00

21
2.

00
0.

00
21

2.
00

78
8.

00
21

.2
0

   
   

  5
21

6 
- S

OF
TW

AR
E

5,
25

0.
00

5,
25

0.
00

5,
25

0.
00

0.
00

5,
25

0.
00

0.
00

10
0.

00
   

   
  5

21
7 

- M
AP

PI
NG

 E
XP

EN
SE

10
,5

00
.0

0
10

,5
00

.0
0

8,
39

5.
00

0.
00

8,
39

5.
00

2,
10

5.
00

79
.9

5
   

   
  5

21
8 

- P
RI

NT
IN

G
25

0.
00

25
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
25

0.
00

0.
00

   
   

  5
22

4 
- O

FF
IC

E 
SU

PP
LI

ES
50

0.
00

50
0.

00
40

1.
78

0.
00

40
1.

78
98

.2
2

80
.3

6
   

   
  5

22
6 

- O
FF

IC
E 

EQ
UI

PM
EN

T
50

0.
00

50
0.

00
47

7.
00

25
0.

00
22

7.
00

27
3.

00
45

.4
0

   
   

  5
24

1 
- P

RO
FE

SS
IO

NA
L 

SE
RV

IC
ES

2,
90

0.
00

2,
90

0.
00

2,
90

0.
00

0.
00

2,
90

0.
00

0.
00

10
0.

00
   

   
  5

31
2 

- A
SS

ES
SO

R
56

,8
90

.0
0

56
,8

90
.0

0
42

,2
13

.9
9

0.
00

42
,2

13
.9

9
14

,6
76

.0
1

74
.2

0
   

   
  5

31
3 

- P
LA

NN
ER

 C
ON

TR
AC

T
20

,0
00

.0
0

20
,0

00
.0

0
8,

86
6.

50
0.

00
8,

86
6.

50
11

,1
33

.5
0

44
.3

3
   

   
  5

60
0 

- E
NG

IN
EE

RI
NG

 &
 P

EE
R 

RE
VI

EW
2,

50
0.

00
2,

50
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
2,

50
0.

00
0.

00
   

   
  5

71
0 

- H
EA

LT
H 

& 
LI

FE
 IN

SU
RA

NC
E

50
,0

00
.0

0
50

,0
00

.0
0

36
,5

68
.7

7
0.

00
36

,5
68

.7
7

13
,4

31
.2

3
73

.1
4

   
   

  5
72

0 
- D

EN
TA

L 
IN

SU
RA

NC
E

1,
51

0.
00

1,
51

0.
00

1,
08

8.
64

0.
00

1,
08

8.
64

42
1.

36
72

.1
0

   
   

  5
73

0 
- I

CM
A 

RE
TI

RE
M

EN
T

0.
00

0.
00

54
4.

53
0.

00
54

4.
53

-5
44

.5
3

---
-

   
   

  5
73

5 
- M

EP
ER

S 
RE

TI
RE

M
EN

T
13

,6
36

.0
0

13
,6

36
.0

0
8,

83
1.

59
0.

00
8,

83
1.

59
4,

80
4.

41
64

.7
7

   
   

  5
74

0 
- F

IC
A

10
,2

27
.0

0
10

,2
27

.0
0

7,
26

5.
77

0.
00

7,
26

5.
77

2,
96

1.
23

71
.0

4
   

   
  5

75
0 

- W
OR

KE
RS

 C
OM

PE
NS

AT
IO

N
2,

27
4.

00
2,

27
4.

00
2,

27
4.

00
0.

00
2,

27
4.

00
0.

00
10

0.
00

   
   

  5
76

0 
- U

NE
M

PL
OY

M
EN

T
52

6.
00

52
6.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
52

6.
00

0.
00

   
   

  5
77

5 
- L

IF
E 

OV
ER

 5
0K

0.
00

0.
00

22
.9

2
22

.9
2

0.
00

0.
00

---
-

   
 0

6 
- T

EC
H

N
O

LO
G

Y
44

,4
47

.0
0

44
,4

47
.0

0
34

,7
11

.0
3

0.
00

34
,7

11
.0

3
9,

73
5.

97
78

.1
0

   
   

  5
21

6 
- S

OF
TW

AR
E

28
,9

47
.0

0
28

,9
47

.0
0

23
,7

45
.6

7
0.

00
23

,7
45

.6
7

5,
20

1.
33

82
.0

3
   

   
  5

32
2 

- T
EC

HN
OL

OG
Y

10
,0

00
.0

0
10

,0
00

.0
0

10
,0

00
.0

0
0.

00
10

,0
00

.0
0

0.
00

10
0.

00
   

   
  5

52
2 

- E
QU

IP
M

EN
T 

M
AI

NT
EN

AN
CE

 &
RE

PA
IR

S
5,

50
0.

00
5,

50
0.

00
96

5.
36

0.
00

96
5.

36
4,

53
4.

64
17

.5
5

63



EX
PE

N
SE

 S
U

M
M

AR
Y 

RE
PO

RT

JU
LY

 T
O 

M
AR

CH
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T(
S)

: 1
10

 - 
17

0
10

:5
8 

AM
No

rth
 Y

ar
m

ou
th

Pa
ge

 3
04

/0
8/

20
24

BU
DG

ET
BU

DG
ET

CU
RR

 M
NT

H
CU

RR
 M

NT
H

YT
D

UN
EX

PE
ND

ED
PE

RC
EN

T
AC

CO
UN

T
OR

IG
IN

AL
NE

T
DE

BI
TS

CR
ED

IT
S

NE
T

BA
LA

NC
E

SP
EN

T
11

0 
- M

UN
IC

IP
AL

 A
DM

IN
IS

TR
AT

IO
N 

CO
NT

'D
   

 0
8 

- D
EB

T 
SE

RV
IC

E
26

4,
90

0.
00

26
4,

90
0.

00
22

1,
26

2.
50

0.
00

22
1,

26
2.

50
43

,6
37

.5
0

83
.5

3
   

   
  5

70
0 

- W
H&

NY
CC

 D
EB

T
26

4,
90

0.
00

26
4,

90
0.

00
22

1,
26

2.
50

0.
00

22
1,

26
2.

50
43

,6
37

.5
0

83
.5

3
   

 1
1 

- M
IS

CE
LL

AN
EO

U
S 

G
EN

 G
O

VE
RN

M
EN

T
43

6,
57

1.
00

9,
99

4,
29

4.
80

7,
58

7,
46

8.
65

3.
84

7,
58

7,
46

4.
81

2,
40

6,
82

9.
99

75
.9

2
   

   
  5

83
0 

- E
DU

CA
TI

ON
 M

SA
D 

#
51

0.
00

9,
14

4,
53

0.
00

6,
85

8,
39

7.
78

0.
00

6,
85

8,
39

7.
78

2,
28

6,
13

2.
22

75
.0

0
   

   
  5

84
0 

- C
OU

NT
Y 

TA
XE

S
43

6,
57

1.
00

43
6,

57
1.

00
43

6,
88

9.
39

0.
00

43
6,

88
9.

39
-3

18
.3

9
10

0.
07

   
   

  5
85

0 
- O

VE
RL

AY
0.

00
14

4,
18

2.
80

23
,1

70
.4

8
3.

84
23

,1
66

.6
4

12
1,

01
6.

16
16

.0
7

   
   

  5
85

2 
- T

IF
 V

IL
LA

GE
 C

EN
TE

R
0.

00
26

9,
01

1.
00

26
9,

01
1.

00
0.

00
26

9,
01

1.
00

0.
00

10
0.

00

64



EX
PE

N
SE

 S
U

M
M

AR
Y 

RE
PO

RT

JU
LY

 T
O 

M
AR

CH
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T(
S)

: 1
10

 - 
17

0
10

:5
8 

AM
No

rth
 Y

ar
m

ou
th

Pa
ge

 4
04

/0
8/

20
24

BU
DG

ET
BU

DG
ET

CU
RR

 M
NT

H
CU

RR
 M

NT
H

YT
D

UN
EX

PE
ND

ED
PE

RC
EN

T
AC

CO
UN

T
OR

IG
IN

AL
NE

T
DE

BI
TS

CR
ED

IT
S

NE
T

BA
LA

NC
E

SP
EN

T
12

0 
- C

OM
M

UN
IT

Y 
SE

RV
IC

ES
 C

ON
T'

D
12

0 
- C

OM
M

UN
IT

Y 
SE

RV
IC

ES
16

,7
68

.0
0

16
,7

68
.0

0
14

,2
65

.9
4

1.
57

14
,2

64
.3

7
2,

50
3.

63
85

.0
7

   
 0

1 
- C

EO
 S

ER
VI

CE
S 

&
 P

LA
N

N
IN

G
0.

00
0.

00
1.

57
1.

57
0.

00
0.

00
--

--
   

   
  5

74
0 

- F
IC

A
0.

00
0.

00
1.

57
1.

57
0.

00
0.

00
---

-
   

 0
4 

- G
EN

ER
AL

 A
SS

IS
TA

N
CE

6,
90

0.
00

6,
90

0.
00

4,
39

6.
37

0.
00

4,
39

6.
37

2,
50

3.
63

63
.7

2
   

   
  5

64
5 

- O
UT

 S
OU

RC
E 

SE
RV

IC
ES

 F
OR

 G
A

3,
30

0.
00

3,
30

0.
00

2,
81

6.
67

0.
00

2,
81

6.
67

48
3.

33
85

.3
5

   
   

  5
64

7 
- G

A 
IN

TE
RP

RE
TE

RS
 S

ER
VI

CE
60

0.
00

60
0.

00
45

0.
00

0.
00

45
0.

00
15

0.
00

75
.0

0
   

   
  5

65
0 

- G
EN

ER
AL

 A
SS

IS
TA

NC
E

3,
00

0.
00

3,
00

0.
00

1,
12

9.
70

0.
00

1,
12

9.
70

1,
87

0.
30

37
.6

6
   

 0
5 

- S
O

CI
AL

 S
ER

VI
CE

S
9,

86
8.

00
9,

86
8.

00
9,

86
8.

00
0.

00
9,

86
8.

00
0.

00
10

0.
00

   
   

  5
60

1 
- R

EG
IO

NA
L 

TR
AN

SP
OR

TA
TI

ON
50

0.
00

50
0.

00
50

0.
00

0.
00

50
0.

00
0.

00
10

0.
00

   
   

  5
60

3 
- N

OR
TH

ER
N 

LI
GH

T 
HE

AL
TH

50
0.

00
50

0.
00

50
0.

00
0.

00
50

0.
00

0.
00

10
0.

00
   

   
  5

60
4 

- M
AI

NE
 H

EA
LT

H 
HO

M
E 

CA
RE

50
0.

00
50

0.
00

50
0.

00
0.

00
50

0.
00

0.
00

10
0.

00
   

   
  5

60
5 

- L
IF

EF
LI

GH
T

1,
01

8.
00

1,
01

8.
00

1,
01

8.
00

0.
00

1,
01

8.
00

0.
00

10
0.

00
   

   
  5

60
6 

- S
O.

 M
AI

NE
 A

GE
NC

Y 
OF

 A
GI

NG
1,

25
0.

00
1,

25
0.

00
1,

25
0.

00
0.

00
1,

25
0.

00
0.

00
10

0.
00

   
   

  5
60

7 
- M

AI
NE

 P
UB

LI
C 

RA
DI

O
10

0.
00

10
0.

00
10

0.
00

0.
00

10
0.

00
0.

00
10

0.
00

   
   

  5
60

9 
- O

PP
OR

TU
NI

TY
 A

LL
IA

NC
E

4,
00

0.
00

4,
00

0.
00

4,
00

0.
00

0.
00

4,
00

0.
00

0.
00

10
0.

00
   

   
  5

61
1 

- T
HR

OU
GH

 T
HE

SE
 D

OO
RS

2,
00

0.
00

2,
00

0.
00

2,
00

0.
00

0.
00

2,
00

0.
00

0.
00

10
0.

00

65



EX
PE

N
SE

 S
U

M
M

AR
Y 

RE
PO

RT

JU
LY

 T
O 

M
AR

CH
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T(
S)

: 1
10

 - 
17

0
10

:5
8 

AM
No

rth
 Y

ar
m

ou
th

Pa
ge

 5
04

/0
8/

20
24

BU
DG

ET
BU

DG
ET

CU
RR

 M
NT

H
CU

RR
 M

NT
H

YT
D

UN
EX

PE
ND

ED
PE

RC
EN

T
AC

CO
UN

T
OR

IG
IN

AL
NE

T
DE

BI
TS

CR
ED

IT
S

NE
T

BA
LA

NC
E

SP
EN

T
12

5 
- C

OM
M

UN
IT

Y 
CE

NT
ER

 C
ON

T'
D

12
5 

- C
OM

M
UN

IT
Y 

CE
NT

ER
60

5,
31

8.
00

60
5,

31
8.

00
22

4,
40

1.
18

2,
05

9.
43

22
2,

34
1.

75
38

2,
97

6.
25

36
.7

3
   

 0
1 

- O
PE

RA
TI

O
N

S
35

9,
46

8.
00

35
9,

46
8.

00
22

4,
40

1.
18

2,
05

9.
43

22
2,

34
1.

75
13

7,
12

6.
25

61
.8

5
   

   
  5

10
0 

- F
UL

L 
TI

M
E 

W
AG

ES
15

5,
58

4.
00

15
5,

58
4.

00
10

7,
36

7.
23

0.
00

10
7,

36
7.

23
48

,2
16

.7
7

69
.0

1
   

   
  5

11
0 

- O
TH

ER
 W

AG
ES

19
,2

40
.0

0
19

,2
40

.0
0

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

19
,2

40
.0

0
0.

00
   

   
  5

12
0 

- O
VE

R 
TI

M
E 

W
AG

ES
1,

00
0.

00
1,

00
0.

00
2,

28
6.

05
0.

00
2,

28
6.

05
-1

,2
86

.0
5

22
8.

61
   

   
  5

13
0 

- A
LL

OW
AN

CE
S

1,
00

0.
00

1,
00

0.
00

81
6.

02
0.

00
81

6.
02

18
3.

98
81

.6
0

   
   

  5
14

0 
- T

RA
IN

IN
G

25
0.

00
25

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

25
0.

00
0.

00
   

   
  5

15
0 

- D
UE

S/
M

EM
BE

RS
HI

PS
/L

IC
EN

SE
S/

SU
BS

60
.0

0
60

.0
0

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

60
.0

0
0.

00
   

   
  5

21
4 

- A
DV

ER
TI

SI
NG

0.
00

0.
00

92
.0

0
0.

00
92

.0
0

-9
2.

00
---

-
   

   
  5

21
6 

- S
OF

TW
AR

E
50

0.
00

50
0.

00
14

4.
00

26
3.

99
-1

19
.9

9
61

9.
99

-2
4.

00
   

   
  5

22
2 

- S
PE

CI
AL

 E
VE

NT
S

10
,0

00
.0

0
10

,0
00

.0
0

66
5.

81
0.

00
66

5.
81

9,
33

4.
19

6.
66

   
   

  5
22

4 
- O

FF
IC

E 
SU

PP
LI

ES
5,

00
0.

00
5,

00
0.

00
39

6.
76

0.
00

39
6.

76
4,

60
3.

24
7.

94
   

   
  5

22
6 

- O
FF

IC
E 

EQ
UI

PM
EN

T
3,

46
1.

00
3,

46
1.

00
2,

78
6.

68
0.

00
2,

78
6.

68
67

4.
32

80
.5

2
   

   
  5

24
0 

- C
ON

TR
AC

T 
SE

RV
IC

ES
6,

71
0.

00
6,

71
0.

00
4,

99
9.

00
0.

00
4,

99
9.

00
1,

71
1.

00
74

.5
0

   
   

  5
24

2 
- M

AR
KE

TI
NG

/P
RI

NT
IN

G/
AD

VE
RT

IS
IN

G
1,

00
0.

00
1,

00
0.

00
20

8.
00

0.
00

20
8.

00
79

2.
00

20
.8

0
   

   
  5

24
4 

- P
RO

GR
AM

 S
UP

PL
IE

S
3,

32
5.

00
3,

32
5.

00
35

3.
08

0.
00

35
3.

08
2,

97
1.

92
10

.6
2

   
   

  5
31

7 
- L

IC
EN

SE
S

1,
02

0.
00

1,
02

0.
00

1,
62

0.
59

0.
00

1,
62

0.
59

-6
00

.5
9

15
8.

88
   

   
  5

41
2 

- I
NT

ER
NE

T 
CA

BL
E

1,
50

0.
00

1,
50

0.
00

1,
79

2.
58

0.
00

1,
79

2.
58

-2
92

.5
8

11
9.

51
   

   
  5

41
4 

- E
LE

CT
RI

CI
TY

22
,7

00
.0

0
22

,7
00

.0
0

13
,4

73
.7

4
0.

00
13

,4
73

.7
4

9,
22

6.
26

59
.3

6
   

   
  5

41
5 

- S
OL

AR
 P

AN
EL

 L
EA

SE
13

,5
90

.0
0

13
,5

90
.0

0
5,

52
8.

87
0.

00
5,

52
8.

87
8,

06
1.

13
40

.6
8

   
   

  5
42

0 
- W

AT
ER

3,
60

2.
00

3,
60

2.
00

2,
70

1.
20

0.
00

2,
70

1.
20

90
0.

80
74

.9
9

   
   

  5
51

0 
- A

LA
RM

S
1,

05
0.

00
1,

05
0.

00
22

5.
00

0.
00

22
5.

00
82

5.
00

21
.4

3
   

   
  5

51
2 

- P
ES

T 
CO

NT
RO

L
66

0.
00

66
0.

00
49

5.
00

0.
00

49
5.

00
16

5.
00

75
.0

0
   

   
  5

51
4 

- F
LO

OR
 M

AT
S

80
0.

00
80

0.
00

1,
60

1.
97

0.
00

1,
60

1.
97

-8
01

.9
7

20
0.

25
   

   
  5

51
6 

- C
US

TO
DI

AL
 M

AI
NT

EN
AN

CE
 S

UP
PL

IE
S

3,
32

9.
00

3,
32

9.
00

4,
48

5.
69

1,
71

7.
44

2,
76

8.
25

56
0.

75
83

.1
6

   
   

  5
51

7 
- B

UI
LD

IN
G 

RE
PA

IR
S

11
,7

34
.0

0
11

,7
34

.0
0

1,
09

6.
38

0.
00

1,
09

6.
38

10
,6

37
.6

2
9.

34
   

   
  5

52
2 

- E
QU

IP
M

EN
T 

M
AI

NT
EN

AN
CE

 &
RE

PA
IR

S
1,

44
9.

00
1,

44
9.

00
5,

67
1.

38
0.

00
5,

67
1.

38
-4

,2
22

.3
8

39
1.

40
   

   
  5

52
6 

- G
AS

/D
IE

SE
L

1,
06

0.
00

1,
06

0.
00

1,
12

9.
34

0.
00

1,
12

9.
34

-6
9.

34
10

6.
54

   
   

  5
71

0 
- H

EA
LT

H 
& 

LI
FE

 IN
SU

RA
NC

E
36

,7
54

.0
0

36
,7

54
.0

0
26

,8
80

.3
3

0.
00

26
,8

80
.3

3
9,

87
3.

67
73

.1
4

   
   

  5
71

5 
- H

EA
LT

H 
PA

YO
UT

2,
83

4.
00

2,
83

4.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

2,
83

4.
00

0.
00

   
   

  5
72

0 
- D

EN
TA

L 
IN

SU
RA

NC
E

1,
87

8.
00

1,
87

8.
00

1,
35

4.
14

0.
00

1,
35

4.
14

52
3.

86
72

.1
1

   
   

  5
73

0 
- I

CM
A 

RE
TI

RE
M

EN
T

0.
00

0.
00

5,
70

4.
04

69
.3

6
5,

63
4.

68
-5

,6
34

.6
8

---
-

   
   

  5
73

5 
- M

EP
ER

S 
RE

TI
RE

M
EN

T
15

,9
72

.0
0

15
,9

72
.0

0
4,

15
8.

12
0.

00
4,

15
8.

12
11

,8
13

.8
8

26
.0

3
   

   
  5

74
0 

- F
IC

A
13

,4
51

.0
0

13
,4

51
.0

0
8,

31
6.

54
0.

00
8,

31
6.

54
5,

13
4.

46
61

.8
3

   
   

  5
75

0 
- W

OR
KE

RS
 C

OM
PE

NS
AT

IO
N

2,
49

2.
00

2,
49

2.
00

2,
49

2.
00

0.
00

2,
49

2.
00

0.
00

10
0.

00
   

   
  5

76
0 

- U
NE

M
PL

OY
M

EN
T

1,
05

2.
00

1,
05

2.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

1,
05

2.
00

0.
00

   
   

  5
77

5 
- L

IF
E 

OV
ER

 5
0K

0.
00

0.
00

8.
64

8.
64

0.
00

0.
00

---
-

   
   

  5
90

0 
- C

AP
IT

AL
 P

RO
JE

CT
S

14
,8

11
.0

0
14

,8
11

.0
0

14
,8

11
.0

0
0.

00
14

,8
11

.0
0

0.
00

10
0.

00

66



EX
PE

N
SE

 S
U

M
M

AR
Y 

RE
PO

RT

JU
LY

 T
O 

M
AR

CH
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T(
S)

: 1
10

 - 
17

0
10

:5
8 

AM
No

rth
 Y

ar
m

ou
th

Pa
ge

 6
04

/0
8/

20
24

BU
DG

ET
BU

DG
ET

CU
RR

 M
NT

H
CU

RR
 M

NT
H

YT
D

UN
EX

PE
ND

ED
PE

RC
EN

T
AC

CO
UN

T
OR

IG
IN

AL
NE

T
DE

BI
TS

CR
ED

IT
S

NE
T

BA
LA

NC
E

SP
EN

T
12

5 
- C

OM
M

UN
IT

Y 
CE

NT
ER

 C
ON

T'
D

   
   

  5
95

8 
- G

EN
ER

AT
OR

 E
XP

EN
SE

60
0.

00
60

0.
00

74
0.

00
0.

00
74

0.
00

-1
40

.0
0

12
3.

33
   

 0
2 

- C
O

N
TR

AC
TE

D
 S

VS
24

5,
85

0.
00

24
5,

85
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
24

5,
85

0.
00

0.
00

   
   

  5
80

0 
- P

RI
NC

E 
M

EM
OR

IA
L 

LI
BR

AR
Y

21
4,

90
5.

00
21

4,
90

5.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

21
4,

90
5.

00
0.

00
   

   
  5

81
0 

- R
EC

RE
AT

IO
N

30
,9

45
.0

0
30

,9
45

.0
0

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

30
,9

45
.0

0
0.

00

67



EX
PE

N
SE

 S
U

M
M

AR
Y 

RE
PO

RT

JU
LY

 T
O 

M
AR

CH
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T(
S)

: 1
10

 - 
17

0
10

:5
8 

AM
No

rth
 Y

ar
m

ou
th

Pa
ge

 7
04

/0
8/

20
24

BU
DG

ET
BU

DG
ET

CU
RR

 M
NT

H
CU

RR
 M

NT
H

YT
D

UN
EX

PE
ND

ED
PE

RC
EN

T
AC

CO
UN

T
OR

IG
IN

AL
NE

T
DE

BI
TS

CR
ED

IT
S

NE
T

BA
LA

NC
E

SP
EN

T
12

8 
- C

OM
M

IT
TE

ES
 C

ON
T'

D
12

8 
- C

OM
M

IT
TE

ES
3,

40
0.

00
3,

40
0.

00
1,

59
6.

19
0.

00
1,

59
6.

19
1,

80
3.

81
46

.9
5

   
 0

3 
- P

AR
KS

 C
O

M
M

IT
TE

E
1,

10
0.

00
1,

10
0.

00
1,

00
0.

00
0.

00
1,

00
0.

00
10

0.
00

90
.9

1
   

   
  5

15
0 

- D
UE

S/
M

EM
BE

RS
HI

PS
/L

IC
EN

SE
S/

SU
BS

1,
00

0.
00

1,
00

0.
00

1,
00

0.
00

0.
00

1,
00

0.
00

0.
00

10
0.

00
   

   
  5

64
0 

- P
AR

KS
 C

OM
M

IT
TE

E
10

0.
00

10
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
10

0.
00

0.
00

   
 0

7 
- L

IV
IN

G
 W

EL
L

1,
20

0.
00

1,
20

0.
00

26
4.

55
0.

00
26

4.
55

93
5.

45
22

.0
5

   
   

  5
62

5 
- G

EN
ER

AL
 E

XP
EN

SE
1,

20
0.

00
1,

20
0.

00
26

4.
55

0.
00

26
4.

55
93

5.
45

22
.0

5
   

 0
8 

- W
AS

TE
 R

ED
U

CT
IO

N
1,

10
0.

00
1,

10
0.

00
33

1.
64

0.
00

33
1.

64
76

8.
36

30
.1

5
   

   
  5

62
5 

- G
EN

ER
AL

 E
XP

EN
SE

1,
10

0.
00

1,
10

0.
00

33
1.

64
0.

00
33

1.
64

76
8.

36
30

.1
5

68



EX
PE

N
SE

 S
U

M
M

AR
Y 

RE
PO

RT

JU
LY

 T
O 

M
AR

CH
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T(
S)

: 1
10

 - 
17

0
10

:5
8 

AM
No

rth
 Y

ar
m

ou
th

Pa
ge

 8
04

/0
8/

20
24

BU
DG

ET
BU

DG
ET

CU
RR

 M
NT

H
CU

RR
 M

NT
H

YT
D

UN
EX

PE
ND

ED
PE

RC
EN

T
AC

CO
UN

T
OR

IG
IN

AL
NE

T
DE

BI
TS

CR
ED

IT
S

NE
T

BA
LA

NC
E

SP
EN

T
13

0 
- P

UB
LI

C 
SA

FE
TY

 C
ON

T'
D

13
0 

- P
UB

LI
C 

SA
FE

TY
90

9,
37

5.
00

90
9,

37
5.

00
58

6,
00

6.
98

28
,0

50
.5

6
55

7,
95

6.
42

35
1,

41
8.

58
61

.3
6

   
 0

1 
- F

IR
E 

RE
SC

U
E 

D
EP

AR
TM

EN
T

77
5,

72
9.

00
77

5,
72

9.
00

50
8,

05
5.

55
21

,0
45

.7
7

48
7,

00
9.

78
28

8,
71

9.
22

62
.7

8
   

   
  5

10
0 

- F
UL

L 
TI

M
E 

W
AG

ES
11

1,
12

0.
00

11
1,

12
0.

00
68

,5
71

.6
0

0.
00

68
,5

71
.6

0
42

,5
48

.4
0

61
.7

1
   

   
  5

11
0 

- O
TH

ER
 W

AG
ES

16
6,

64
0.

00
16

6,
64

0.
00

78
,6

83
.1

0
0.

00
78

,6
83

.1
0

87
,9

56
.9

0
47

.2
2

   
   

  5
12

0 
- O

VE
R 

TI
M

E 
W

AG
ES

3,
01

1.
00

3,
01

1.
00

71
4.

00
0.

00
71

4.
00

2,
29

7.
00

23
.7

1
   

   
  5

13
0 

- A
LL

OW
AN

CE
S

4,
41

5.
00

4,
41

5.
00

3,
27

0.
38

0.
00

3,
27

0.
38

1,
14

4.
62

74
.0

7
   

   
  5

14
0 

- T
RA

IN
IN

G
11

,7
75

.0
0

11
,7

75
.0

0
9,

48
6.

29
69

.7
9

9,
41

6.
50

2,
35

8.
50

79
.9

7
   

   
  5

14
5 

- P
HY

SI
CA

LS
 &

 H
EP

 B
 S

HO
TS

7,
14

0.
00

7,
14

0.
00

3,
56

9.
00

0.
00

3,
56

9.
00

3,
57

1.
00

49
.9

9
   

   
  5

15
0 

- D
UE

S/
M

EM
BE

RS
HI

PS
/L

IC
EN

SE
S/

SU
BS

3,
54

5.
00

3,
54

5.
00

4,
09

9.
25

0.
00

4,
09

9.
25

-5
54

.2
5

11
5.

63
   

   
  5

15
1 

- B
ad

 A
cc

ou
nt

0.
00

0.
00

19
9.

00
19

9.
00

0.
00

0.
00

---
-

   
   

  5
21

1 
- C

EL
L 

PH
ON

E 
RE

IM
BU

RS
EM

EN
T

1,
98

0.
00

1,
98

0.
00

1,
40

4.
53

0.
00

1,
40

4.
53

57
5.

47
70

.9
4

   
   

  5
21

4 
- A

DV
ER

TI
SI

NG
0.

00
0.

00
92

.0
0

0.
00

92
.0

0
-9

2.
00

---
-

   
   

  5
21

6 
- S

OF
TW

AR
E

10
,9

95
.0

0
10

,9
95

.0
0

8,
21

4.
71

0.
00

8,
21

4.
71

2,
78

0.
29

74
.7

1
   

   
  5

22
2 

- S
PE

CI
AL

 E
VE

NT
S

1,
25

0.
00

1,
25

0.
00

1,
10

8.
09

0.
00

1,
10

8.
09

14
1.

91
88

.6
5

   
   

  5
22

4 
- O

FF
IC

E 
SU

PP
LI

ES
1,

30
0.

00
1,

30
0.

00
46

3.
73

0.
00

46
3.

73
83

6.
27

35
.6

7
   

   
  5

22
6 

- O
FF

IC
E 

EQ
UI

PM
EN

T
5,

87
0.

00
5,

87
0.

00
5,

30
6.

35
0.

00
5,

30
6.

35
56

3.
65

90
.4

0
   

   
  5

24
0 

- C
ON

TR
AC

T 
SE

RV
IC

ES
8,

16
2.

00
8,

16
2.

00
6,

33
2.

80
0.

00
6,

33
2.

80
1,

82
9.

20
77

.5
9

   
   

  5
41

2 
- I

NT
ER

NE
T 

CA
BL

E
1,

44
0.

00
1,

44
0.

00
1,

49
9.

88
0.

00
1,

49
9.

88
-5

9.
88

10
4.

16
   

   
  5

41
4 

- E
LE

CT
RI

CI
TY

3,
78

0.
00

3,
78

0.
00

2,
59

7.
93

0.
00

2,
59

7.
93

1,
18

2.
07

68
.7

3
   

   
  5

41
8 

- P
RO

PA
NE

1,
20

0.
00

1,
20

0.
00

87
7.

90
0.

00
87

7.
90

32
2.

10
73

.1
6

   
   

  5
42

0 
- W

AT
ER

56
0.

00
56

0.
00

25
7.

36
0.

00
25

7.
36

30
2.

64
45

.9
6

   
   

  5
51

0 
- A

LA
RM

S
80

0.
00

80
0.

00
76

2.
60

0.
00

76
2.

60
37

.4
0

95
.3

3
   

   
  5

51
2 

- P
ES

T 
CO

NT
RO

L
20

0.
00

20
0.

00
40

5.
00

0.
00

40
5.

00
-2

05
.0

0
20

2.
50

   
   

  5
51

4 
- F

LO
OR

 M
AT

S
90

0.
00

90
0.

00
77

6.
78

0.
00

77
6.

78
12

3.
22

86
.3

1
   

   
  5

51
6 

- C
US

TO
DI

AL
 M

AI
NT

EN
AN

CE
 S

UP
PL

IE
S

2,
10

0.
00

2,
10

0.
00

92
6.

75
0.

00
92

6.
75

1,
17

3.
25

44
.1

3
   

   
  5

51
7 

- B
UI

LD
IN

G 
RE

PA
IR

S
4,

12
0.

00
4,

12
0.

00
3,

30
3.

64
0.

00
3,

30
3.

64
81

6.
36

80
.1

9
   

   
  5

52
2 

- E
QU

IP
M

EN
T 

M
AI

NT
EN

AN
CE

 &
RE

PA
IR

S
32

,1
26

.0
0

32
,1

26
.0

0
30

,0
05

.0
6

45
.8

8
29

,9
59

.1
8

2,
16

6.
82

93
.2

6
   

   
  5

52
4 

- V
EH

IC
LE

 M
AI

NT
EN

AN
CE

36
,9

00
.0

0
36

,9
00

.0
0

27
,1

97
.4

3
27

3.
54

26
,9

23
.8

9
9,

97
6.

11
72

.9
6

   
   

  5
52

6 
- G

AS
/D

IE
SE

L
13

,0
00

.0
0

13
,0

00
.0

0
9,

15
3.

01
1,

58
5.

54
7,

56
7.

47
5,

43
2.

53
58

.2
1

   
   

  5
52

7 
- H

EA
TI

NG
 E

XP
EN

SE
4,

90
0.

00
4,

90
0.

00
4,

70
2.

33
0.

00
4,

70
2.

33
19

7.
67

95
.9

7
   

   
  5

53
0 

- P
AR

AM
ED

IC
 S

ER
VI

CE
15

,9
00

.0
0

15
,9

00
.0

0
7,

20
0.

00
0.

00
7,

20
0.

00
8,

70
0.

00
45

.2
8

   
   

  5
53

1 
- R

ES
CU

E 
FE

E 
CO

LL
EC

TI
ON

 S
ER

VI
CE

5,
00

0.
00

5,
00

0.
00

6,
10

1.
06

0.
00

6,
10

1.
06

-1
,1

01
.0

6
12

2.
02

   
   

  5
53

2 
- M

ED
IC

AL
 S

UP
PL

IE
S

15
,0

00
.0

0
15

,0
00

.0
0

12
,8

52
.9

3
0.

00
12

,8
52

.9
3

2,
14

7.
07

85
.6

9
   

   
  5

53
4 

- P
ER

SO
NA

L 
PR

OT
EC

TI
VE

 E
QU

IP
M

EN
T

23
,0

25
.0

0
23

,0
25

.0
0

18
,2

92
.6

3
0.

00
18

,2
92

.6
3

4,
73

2.
37

79
.4

5
   

   
  5

53
5 

- E
M

ER
GE

NC
Y 

M
AN

AG
EM

EN
T 

/ W
AR

M
IN

G
1,

00
0.

00
1,

00
0.

00
82

7.
85

0.
00

82
7.

85
17

2.
15

82
.7

9
   

   
  5

71
0 

- H
EA

LT
H 

& 
LI

FE
 IN

SU
RA

NC
E

36
,8

00
.0

0
36

,8
00

.0
0

22
,0

83
.4

9
0.

00
22

,0
83

.4
9

14
,7

16
.5

1
60

.0
1

   
   

  5
72

0 
- D

EN
TA

L 
IN

SU
RA

NC
E

2,
13

4.
00

2,
13

4.
00

1,
26

9.
73

0.
00

1,
26

9.
73

86
4.

27
59

.5
0

   
   

  5
73

0 
- I

CM
A 

RE
TI

RE
M

EN
T

0.
00

0.
00

34
1.

67
0.

00
34

1.
67

-3
41

.6
7

---
-

69



EX
PE

N
SE

 S
U

M
M

AR
Y 

RE
PO

RT

JU
LY

 T
O 

M
AR

CH
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T(
S)

: 1
10

 - 
17

0
10

:5
8 

AM
No

rth
 Y

ar
m

ou
th

Pa
ge

 9
04

/0
8/

20
24

BU
DG

ET
BU

DG
ET

CU
RR

 M
NT

H
CU

RR
 M

NT
H

YT
D

UN
EX

PE
ND

ED
PE

RC
EN

T
AC

CO
UN

T
OR

IG
IN

AL
NE

T
DE

BI
TS

CR
ED

IT
S

NE
T

BA
LA

NC
E

SP
EN

T
13

0 
- P

UB
LI

C 
SA

FE
TY

 C
ON

T'
D

   
   

  5
73

5 
- M

EP
ER

S 
RE

TI
RE

M
EN

T
14

,8
63

.0
0

14
,8

63
.0

0
8,

06
0.

98
0.

00
8,

06
0.

98
6,

80
2.

02
54

.2
4

   
   

  5
74

0 
- F

IC
A

21
,6

32
.0

0
21

,6
32

.0
0

11
,4

04
.5

3
0.

00
11

,4
04

.5
3

10
,2

27
.4

7
52

.7
2

   
   

  5
75

0 
- W

OR
KE

RS
 C

OM
PE

NS
AT

IO
N

28
,3

44
.0

0
28

,3
44

.0
0

12
,3

01
.7

5
0.

00
12

,3
01

.7
5

16
,0

42
.2

5
43

.4
0

   
   

  5
76

0 
- U

NE
M

PL
OY

M
EN

T
9,

72
4.

00
9,

72
4.

00
59

9.
79

0.
00

59
9.

79
9,

12
4.

21
6.

17
   

   
  5

77
5 

- L
IF

E 
OV

ER
 5

0K
0.

00
0.

00
75

.9
0

75
.9

0
0.

00
0.

00
---

-
   

   
  5

78
0 

- F
IR

EF
IG

HT
ER

'S
 S

UP
PL

EM
EN

TA
L 

IN
S

1,
67

8.
00

1,
67

8.
00

1,
29

2.
00

0.
00

1,
29

2.
00

38
6.

00
77

.0
0

   
   

  5
90

0 
- C

AP
IT

AL
 P

RO
JE

CT
S

16
0,

60
0.

00
16

0,
60

0.
00

13
0,

97
5.

74
18

,7
96

.1
2

11
2,

17
9.

62
48

,4
20

.3
8

69
.8

5
   

   
  5

95
8 

- G
EN

ER
AT

OR
 E

XP
EN

SE
80

0.
00

80
0.

00
39

5.
00

0.
00

39
5.

00
40

5.
00

49
.3

8
   

 0
2 

- C
O

N
TR

AC
TS

 /
 P

RO
FE

SS
IO

N
AL

 S
VC

S
13

3,
64

6.
00

13
3,

64
6.

00
77

,9
51

.4
3

7,
00

4.
79

70
,9

46
.6

4
62

,6
99

.3
6

53
.0

9
   

   
  5

32
4 

- D
IS

PA
TC

H 
SE

RV
IC

ES
33

,6
76

.0
0

33
,6

76
.0

0
16

,8
37

.7
2

0.
00

16
,8

37
.7

2
16

,8
38

.2
8

50
.0

0
   

   
  5

32
6 

- A
NI

M
AL

 C
ON

TR
OL

 S
ER

VI
CE

S
25

,0
00

.0
0

25
,0

00
.0

0
4,

46
3.

68
0.

00
4,

46
3.

68
20

,5
36

.3
2

17
.8

5
   

   
  5

32
7 

- A
NI

M
AL

 S
HE

LT
ER

4,
27

6.
00

4,
27

6.
00

4,
27

5.
60

0.
00

4,
27

5.
60

0.
40

99
.9

9
   

   
  5

33
0 

- H
YD

RA
NT

S
65

,0
00

.0
0

65
,0

00
.0

0
43

,0
78

.6
4

0.
00

43
,0

78
.6

4
21

,9
21

.3
6

66
.2

7
   

   
  5

33
2 

- S
TR

EE
T 

LI
GH

TS
4,

00
0.

00
4,

00
0.

00
1,

78
4.

30
0.

00
1,

78
4.

30
2,

21
5.

70
44

.6
1

   
   

  5
33

4 
- C

CS
D 

SP
EE

D 
PA

TR
OL

S
1,

69
4.

00
1,

69
4.

00
50

0.
00

0.
00

50
0.

00
1,

19
4.

00
29

.5
2

   
   

  5
74

0 
- F

IC
A

0.
00

0.
00

11
.4

9
4.

79
6.

70
-6

.7
0

---
-

   
   

  5
90

0 
- C

AP
IT

AL
 P

RO
JE

CT
S

0.
00

0.
00

7,
00

0.
00

7,
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

---
-

70



EX
PE

N
SE

 S
U

M
M

AR
Y 

RE
PO

RT

JU
LY

 T
O 

M
AR

CH
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T(
S)

: 1
10

 - 
17

0
10

:5
8 

AM
No

rth
 Y

ar
m

ou
th

Pa
ge

 1
0

04
/0

8/
20

24

BU
DG

ET
BU

DG
ET

CU
RR

 M
NT

H
CU

RR
 M

NT
H

YT
D

UN
EX

PE
ND

ED
PE

RC
EN

T
AC

CO
UN

T
OR

IG
IN

AL
NE

T
DE

BI
TS

CR
ED

IT
S

NE
T

BA
LA

NC
E

SP
EN

T
14

0 
- P

UB
LI

C 
W

OR
KS

 C
ON

T'
D

14
0 

- P
UB

LI
C 

W
OR

KS
95

0,
63

2.
00

95
0,

63
2.

00
73

7,
08

0.
81

48
,4

30
.6

5
68

8,
65

0.
16

26
1,

98
1.

84
72

.4
4

   
 0

1 
- O

PE
RA

TI
O

N
S

56
0,

23
0.

00
56

0,
23

0.
00

46
1,

45
8.

17
34

,8
36

.7
7

42
6,

62
1.

40
13

3,
60

8.
60

76
.1

5
   

   
  5

10
0 

- F
UL

L 
TI

M
E 

W
AG

ES
13

4,
99

4.
00

13
4,

99
4.

00
93

,5
63

.8
5

22
5.

00
93

,3
38

.8
5

41
,6

55
.1

5
69

.1
4

   
   

  5
11

0 
- O

TH
ER

 W
AG

ES
12

,7
20

.0
0

12
,7

20
.0

0
6,

20
1.

57
0.

00
6,

20
1.

57
6,

51
8.

43
48

.7
5

   
   

  5
12

0 
- O

VE
R 

TI
M

E 
W

AG
ES

5,
00

0.
00

5,
00

0.
00

2,
90

0.
47

0.
00

2,
90

0.
47

2,
09

9.
53

58
.0

1
   

   
  5

13
0 

- A
LL

OW
AN

CE
S

6,
67

5.
00

6,
67

5.
00

4,
62

2.
87

60
3.

76
4,

01
9.

11
2,

65
5.

89
60

.2
1

   
   

  5
14

0 
- T

RA
IN

IN
G

1,
00

0.
00

1,
00

0.
00

74
5.

00
0.

00
74

5.
00

25
5.

00
74

.5
0

   
   

  5
14

5 
- P

HY
SI

CA
LS

 &
 H

EP
 B

 S
HO

TS
50

0.
00

50
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
50

0.
00

0.
00

   
   

  5
15

0 
- D

UE
S/

M
EM

BE
RS

HI
PS

/L
IC

EN
SE

S/
SU

BS
30

0.
00

30
0.

00
50

.0
0

0.
00

50
.0

0
25

0.
00

16
.6

7
   

   
  5

16
0 

- D
RU

G 
TE

ST
IN

G
77

5.
00

77
5.

00
98

7.
00

0.
00

98
7.

00
-2

12
.0

0
12

7.
35

   
   

  5
21

6 
- S

OF
TW

AR
E

12
,6

00
.0

0
12

,6
00

.0
0

6,
50

0.
00

0.
00

6,
50

0.
00

6,
10

0.
00

51
.5

9
   

   
  5

22
4 

- O
FF

IC
E 

SU
PP

LI
ES

1,
00

0.
00

1,
00

0.
00

12
4.

09
0.

00
12

4.
09

87
5.

91
12

.4
1

   
   

  5
24

1 
- P

RO
FE

SS
IO

NA
L 

SE
RV

IC
ES

5,
00

0.
00

5,
00

0.
00

3,
67

2.
88

0.
00

3,
67

2.
88

1,
32

7.
12

73
.4

6
   

   
  5

31
7 

- L
IC

EN
SE

S
40

0.
00

40
0.

00
40

7.
00

0.
00

40
7.

00
-7

.0
0

10
1.

75
   

   
  5

41
2 

- I
NT

ER
NE

T 
CA

BL
E

1,
20

0.
00

1,
20

0.
00

67
9.

93
0.

00
67

9.
93

52
0.

07
56

.6
6

   
   

  5
41

4 
- E

LE
CT

RI
CI

TY
4,

97
5.

00
4,

97
5.

00
4,

39
1.

56
0.

00
4,

39
1.

56
58

3.
44

88
.2

7
   

   
  5

41
6 

- H
EA

T
1,

00
0.

00
1,

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
1,

00
0.

00
0.

00
   

   
  5

41
8 

- P
RO

PA
NE

35
0.

00
35

0.
00

72
.0

0
0.

00
72

.0
0

27
8.

00
20

.5
7

   
   

  5
42

0 
- W

AT
ER

60
0.

00
60

0.
00

17
9.

93
0.

00
17

9.
93

42
0.

07
29

.9
9

   
   

  5
51

0 
- A

LA
RM

S
60

0.
00

60
0.

00
60

0.
00

0.
00

60
0.

00
0.

00
10

0.
00

   
   

  5
51

2 
- P

ES
T 

CO
NT

RO
L

60
0.

00
60

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

60
0.

00
0.

00
   

   
  5

51
4 

- F
LO

OR
 M

AT
S

1,
30

0.
00

1,
30

0.
00

1,
55

1.
16

0.
00

1,
55

1.
16

-2
51

.1
6

11
9.

32
   

   
  5

51
6 

- C
US

TO
DI

AL
 M

AI
NT

EN
AN

CE
 S

UP
PL

IE
S

1,
05

0.
00

1,
05

0.
00

71
9.

51
0.

00
71

9.
51

33
0.

49
68

.5
2

   
   

  5
51

7 
- B

UI
LD

IN
G 

RE
PA

IR
S

3,
60

0.
00

3,
60

0.
00

99
4.

55
0.

00
99

4.
55

2,
60

5.
45

27
.6

3
   

   
  5

51
8 

- L
AN

D 
FI

LL
 C

OV
ER

 (M
OW

IN
G)

37
5.

00
37

5.
00

35
0.

00
0.

00
35

0.
00

25
.0

0
93

.3
3

   
   

  5
52

2 
- E

QU
IP

M
EN

T 
M

AI
NT

EN
AN

CE
 &

RE
PA

IR
S

3,
00

0.
00

3,
00

0.
00

2,
89

0.
54

0.
00

2,
89

0.
54

10
9.

46
96

.3
5

   
   

  5
52

4 
- V

EH
IC

LE
 M

AI
NT

EN
AN

CE
18

,0
00

.0
0

18
,0

00
.0

0
17

,4
32

.2
2

2,
79

9.
77

14
,6

32
.4

5
3,

36
7.

55
81

.2
9

   
   

  5
52

6 
- G

AS
/D

IE
SE

L
8,

60
0.

00
8,

60
0.

00
15

,0
27

.6
2

6,
18

6.
85

8,
84

0.
77

-2
40

.7
7

10
2.

80
   

   
  5

53
4 

- P
ER

SO
NA

L 
PR

OT
EC

TI
VE

 E
QU

IP
M

EN
T

3,
00

0.
00

3,
00

0.
00

1,
21

0.
05

0.
00

1,
21

0.
05

1,
78

9.
95

40
.3

4
   

   
  5

54
0 

- R
AD

IO
 R

EP
AI

RS
2,

50
0.

00
2,

50
0.

00
36

4.
43

0.
00

36
4.

43
2,

13
5.

57
14

.5
8

   
   

  5
54

2 
- E

QU
IP

M
EN

T 
RE

NT
AL

S
2,

20
0.

00
2,

20
0.

00
57

1.
50

0.
00

57
1.

50
1,

62
8.

50
25

.9
8

   
   

  5
54

3 
- E

QU
IP

M
EN

T 
PU

RC
HA

SE
S

5,
50

0.
00

5,
50

0.
00

5,
44

9.
99

0.
00

5,
44

9.
99

50
.0

1
99

.0
9

   
   

  5
54

4 
- S

UP
PL

IE
S

4,
00

0.
00

4,
00

0.
00

5,
79

1.
48

52
.1

2
5,

73
9.

36
-1

,7
39

.3
6

14
3.

48
   

   
  5

54
8 

- L
UB

RI
CA

NT
S

4,
42

0.
00

4,
42

0.
00

2,
17

9.
64

0.
00

2,
17

9.
64

2,
24

0.
36

49
.3

1
   

   
  5

55
0 

- T
IR

ES
13

,5
00

.0
0

13
,5

00
.0

0
3,

72
8.

40
0.

00
3,

72
8.

40
9,

77
1.

60
27

.6
2

   
   

  5
55

2 
- S

IG
NS

10
,0

00
.0

0
10

,0
00

.0
0

5,
14

4.
85

0.
00

5,
14

4.
85

4,
85

5.
15

51
.4

5
   

   
  5

55
4 

- C
UL

VE
RT

S
7,

50
0.

00
7,

50
0.

00
68

.4
1

0.
00

68
.4

1
7,

43
1.

59
0.

91
   

   
  5

55
8 

- C
RA

CK
 S

EA
LI

NG
7,

20
0.

00
7,

20
0.

00
3,

80
7.

30
0.

00
3,

80
7.

30
3,

39
2.

70
52

.8
8

71



EX
PE

N
SE

 S
U

M
M

AR
Y 

RE
PO

RT

JU
LY

 T
O 

M
AR

CH
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T(
S)

: 1
10

 - 
17

0
10

:5
8 

AM
No

rth
 Y

ar
m

ou
th

Pa
ge

 1
1

04
/0

8/
20

24

BU
DG

ET
BU

DG
ET

CU
RR

 M
NT

H
CU

RR
 M

NT
H

YT
D

UN
EX

PE
ND

ED
PE

RC
EN

T
AC

CO
UN

T
OR

IG
IN

AL
NE

T
DE

BI
TS

CR
ED

IT
S

NE
T

BA
LA

NC
E

SP
EN

T
14

0 
- P

UB
LI

C 
W

OR
KS

 C
ON

T'
D

   
   

  5
56

0 
- S

TR
IP

IN
G

15
,6

45
.0

0
15

,6
45

.0
0

12
,3

13
.3

1
0.

00
12

,3
13

.3
1

3,
33

1.
69

78
.7

0
   

   
  5

56
2 

- S
W

EE
PI

NG
/C

AT
CH

 B
AS

IN
S

2,
15

8.
00

2,
15

8.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

2,
15

8.
00

0.
00

   
   

  5
56

4 
- T

RE
E 

CU
TT

IN
G

6,
00

0.
00

6,
00

0.
00

5,
80

0.
00

0.
00

5,
80

0.
00

20
0.

00
96

.6
7

   
   

  5
56

6 
- E

RO
SI

ON
 C

ON
TR

OL
5,

19
7.

00
5,

19
7.

00
2,

87
9.

20
0.

00
2,

87
9.

20
2,

31
7.

80
55

.4
0

   
   

  5
56

8 
- G

RA
VE

L 
PI

T 
OP

ER
AT

IO
NS

21
,0

00
.0

0
21

,0
00

.0
0

21
,0

00
.0

0
0.

00
21

,0
00

.0
0

0.
00

10
0.

00
   

   
  5

57
0 

- C
UT

TI
NG

 E
DG

ES
3,

75
0.

00
3,

75
0.

00
24

.5
3

0.
00

24
.5

3
3,

72
5.

47
0.

65
   

   
  5

57
2 

- S
AL

T
0.

00
0.

00
7,

10
9.

05
7,

10
9.

05
0.

00
0.

00
---

-
   

   
  5

57
8 

- S
AF

ET
Y 

IN
SP

EC
TI

ON
S

2,
02

5.
00

2,
02

5.
00

72
5.

00
0.

00
72

5.
00

1,
30

0.
00

35
.8

0
   

   
  5

58
0 

- P
AV

IN
G

12
6,

07
3.

00
12

6,
07

3.
00

12
6,

07
3.

00
0.

00
12

6,
07

3.
00

0.
00

10
0.

00
   

   
  5

71
0 

- H
EA

LT
H 

& 
LI

FE
 IN

SU
RA

NC
E

30
,1

63
.0

0
30

,1
63

.0
0

21
,8

11
.3

5
0.

00
21

,8
11

.3
5

8,
35

1.
65

72
.3

1
   

   
  5

71
5 

- H
EA

LT
H 

PA
YO

UT
70

8.
00

70
8.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
70

8.
00

0.
00

   
   

  5
72

0 
- D

EN
TA

L 
IN

SU
RA

NC
E

1,
45

1.
00

1,
45

1.
00

1,
07

1.
75

0.
00

1,
07

1.
75

37
9.

25
73

.8
6

   
   

  5
73

0 
- I

CM
A 

RE
TI

RE
M

EN
T

0.
00

0.
00

88
8.

68
0.

00
88

8.
68

-8
88

.6
8

---
-

   
   

  5
73

5 
- M

EP
ER

S 
RE

TI
RE

M
EN

T
13

,0
60

.0
0

13
,0

60
.0

0
16

,1
61

.0
5

0.
00

16
,1

61
.0

5
-3

,1
01

.0
5

12
3.

74
   

   
  5

74
0 

- F
IC

A
12

,1
52

.0
0

12
,1

52
.0

0
8,

85
1.

70
0.

00
8,

85
1.

70
3,

30
0.

30
72

.8
4

   
   

  5
75

0 
- W

OR
KE

RS
 C

OM
PE

NS
AT

IO
N

10
,0

64
.0

0
10

,0
64

.0
0

5,
05

7.
75

0.
00

5,
05

7.
75

5,
00

6.
25

50
.2

6
   

   
  5

76
0 

- U
NE

M
PL

OY
M

EN
T

1,
05

0.
00

1,
05

0.
00

91
.0

8
0.

00
91

.0
8

95
8.

92
8.

67
   

   
  5

77
5 

- L
IF

E 
OV

ER
 5

0K
0.

00
0.

00
17

4.
24

17
4.

24
0.

00
0.

00
---

-
   

   
  5

90
0 

- C
AP

IT
AL

 P
RO

JE
CT

S
23

,0
00

.0
0

23
,0

00
.0

0
38

,4
46

.6
8

17
,6

85
.9

8
20

,7
60

.7
0

2,
23

9.
30

90
.2

6
   

   
  5

95
8 

- G
EN

ER
AT

OR
 E

XP
EN

SE
70

0.
00

70
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
70

0.
00

0.
00

   
 0

2 
- W

IN
TE

R 
O

PE
RA

TI
O

N
S

37
4,

96
2.

00
37

4,
96

2.
00

27
2,

71
1.

89
13

,2
63

.8
8

25
9,

44
8.

01
11

5,
51

3.
99

69
.1

9
   

   
  5

10
0 

- F
UL

L 
TI

M
E 

W
AG

ES
13

4,
99

5.
00

13
4,

99
5.

00
10

0,
22

1.
39

0.
00

10
0,

22
1.

39
34

,7
73

.6
1

74
.2

4
   

   
  5

11
0 

- O
TH

ER
 W

AG
ES

0.
00

0.
00

5,
27

7.
55

5,
27

7.
55

0.
00

0.
00

---
-

   
   

  5
12

0 
- O

VE
R 

TI
M

E 
W

AG
ES

30
,0

00
.0

0
30

,0
00

.0
0

22
,1

87
.6

1
0.

00
22

,1
87

.6
1

7,
81

2.
39

73
.9

6
   

   
  5

21
4 

- A
DV

ER
TI

SI
NG

0.
00

0.
00

10
4.

00
0.

00
10

4.
00

-1
04

.0
0

---
-

   
   

  5
52

2 
- E

QU
IP

M
EN

T 
M

AI
NT

EN
AN

CE
 &

RE
PA

IR
S

3,
00

0.
00

3,
00

0.
00

2,
19

5.
69

0.
00

2,
19

5.
69

80
4.

31
73

.1
9

   
   

  5
52

4 
- V

EH
IC

LE
 M

AI
NT

EN
AN

CE
18

,0
00

.0
0

18
,0

00
.0

0
13

,4
31

.7
9

50
.0

0
13

,3
81

.7
9

4,
61

8.
21

74
.3

4
   

   
  5

52
6 

- G
AS

/D
IE

SE
L

17
,2

00
.0

0
17

,2
00

.0
0

19
,5

25
.4

5
7,

93
6.

33
11

,5
89

.1
2

5,
61

0.
88

67
.3

8
   

   
  5

54
3 

- E
QU

IP
M

EN
T 

PU
RC

HA
SE

S
6,

50
0.

00
6,

50
0.

00
5,

66
3.

00
0.

00
5,

66
3.

00
83

7.
00

87
.1

2
   

   
  5

54
4 

- S
UP

PL
IE

S
9,

50
0.

00
9,

50
0.

00
2,

96
8.

13
0.

00
2,

96
8.

13
6,

53
1.

87
31

.2
4

   
   

  5
55

6 
- C

OL
D 

PA
TC

H
2,

20
0.

00
2,

20
0.

00
1,

34
0.

00
0.

00
1,

34
0.

00
86

0.
00

60
.9

1
   

   
  5

57
0 

- C
UT

TI
NG

 E
DG

ES
10

,7
00

.0
0

10
,7

00
.0

0
9,

83
4.

99
0.

00
9,

83
4.

99
86

5.
01

91
.9

2
   

   
  5

57
2 

- S
AL

T
68

,3
86

.0
0

68
,3

86
.0

0
41

,8
85

.5
3

0.
00

41
,8

85
.5

3
26

,5
00

.4
7

61
.2

5
   

   
  5

57
4 

- L
IQ

UI
D 

CA
LC

IU
M

 C
HL

OR
ID

E
8,

90
0.

00
8,

90
0.

00
8,

05
6.

79
0.

00
8,

05
6.

79
84

3.
21

90
.5

3
   

   
  5

71
0 

- H
EA

LT
H 

& 
LI

FE
 IN

SU
RA

NC
E

30
,1

62
.0

0
30

,1
62

.0
0

22
,6

39
.2

6
0.

00
22

,6
39

.2
6

7,
52

2.
74

75
.0

6
   

   
  5

71
5 

- H
EA

LT
H 

PA
YO

UT
70

8.
00

70
8.

00
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
70

8.
00

0.
00

   
   

  5
72

0 
- D

EN
TA

L 
IN

SU
RA

NC
E

1,
45

2.
00

1,
45

2.
00

1,
20

3.
69

0.
00

1,
20

3.
69

24
8.

31
82

.9
0

   
   

  5
73

5 
- M

EP
ER

S 
RE

TI
RE

M
EN

T
13

,0
60

.0
0

13
,0

60
.0

0
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
13

,0
60

.0
0

0.
00

72



EX
PE

N
SE

 S
U

M
M

AR
Y 

RE
PO

RT

JU
LY

 T
O 

M
AR

CH
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T(
S)

: 1
10

 - 
17

0
10

:5
8 

AM
No

rth
 Y

ar
m

ou
th

Pa
ge

 1
2

04
/0

8/
20

24

BU
DG

ET
BU

DG
ET

CU
RR

 M
NT

H
CU

RR
 M

NT
H

YT
D

UN
EX

PE
ND

ED
PE

RC
EN

T
AC

CO
UN

T
OR

IG
IN

AL
NE

T
DE

BI
TS

CR
ED

IT
S

NE
T

BA
LA

NC
E

SP
EN

T
14

0 
- P

UB
LI

C 
W

OR
KS

 C
ON

T'
D

   
   

  5
74

0 
- F

IC
A

12
,1

53
.0

0
12

,1
53

.0
0

9,
07

6.
61

0.
00

9,
07

6.
61

3,
07

6.
39

74
.6

9
   

   
  5

75
0 

- W
OR

KE
RS

 C
OM

PE
NS

AT
IO

N
6,

99
3.

00
6,

99
3.

00
6,

99
3.

00
0.

00
6,

99
3.

00
0.

00
10

0.
00

   
   

  5
76

0 
- U

NE
M

PL
OY

M
EN

T
1,

05
3.

00
1,

05
3.

00
10

7.
41

0.
00

10
7.

41
94

5.
59

10
.2

0
   

 0
3 

- P
AR

KS
4,

22
0.

00
4,

22
0.

00
2,

49
0.

16
0.

00
2,

49
0.

16
1,

72
9.

84
59

.0
1

   
   

  5
42

0 
- W

AT
ER

22
0.

00
22

0.
00

59
.3

6
0.

00
59

.3
6

16
0.

64
26

.9
8

   
   

  5
63

5 
- P

AR
K 

M
AI

NT
EN

AN
CE

4,
00

0.
00

4,
00

0.
00

2,
43

0.
80

0.
00

2,
43

0.
80

1,
56

9.
20

60
.7

7
   

 0
6 

- C
EM

ET
ER

IE
S

11
,2

20
.0

0
11

,2
20

.0
0

42
0.

59
33

0.
00

90
.5

9
11

,1
29

.4
1

0.
81

   
   

  5
42

0 
- W

AT
ER

22
0.

00
22

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

22
0.

00
0.

00
   

   
  5

52
5 

- M
AI

NT
EN

AN
CE

/S
UP

PL
IE

S
2,

00
0.

00
2,

00
0.

00
42

0.
59

33
0.

00
90

.5
9

1,
90

9.
41

4.
53

   
   

  5
90

0 
- C

AP
IT

AL
 P

RO
JE

CT
S

9,
00

0.
00

9,
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

0.
00

9,
00

0.
00

0.
00

73



EX
PE

N
SE

 S
U

M
M

AR
Y 

RE
PO

RT

JU
LY

 T
O 

M
AR

CH
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T(
S)

: 1
10

 - 
17

0
10

:5
8 

AM
No

rth
 Y

ar
m

ou
th

Pa
ge

 1
3

04
/0

8/
20

24

BU
DG

ET
BU

DG
ET

CU
RR

 M
NT

H
CU

RR
 M

NT
H

YT
D

UN
EX

PE
ND

ED
PE

RC
EN

T
AC

CO
UN

T
OR

IG
IN

AL
NE

T
DE

BI
TS

CR
ED

IT
S

NE
T

BA
LA

NC
E

SP
EN

T
15

0 
- S

OL
ID

 W
AS

TE
 &

 R
EC

YC
LI

NG
 C

ON
T'

D
15

0 
- S

OL
ID

 W
AS

TE
 &

 R
EC

YC
LI

NG
52

8,
78

0.
00

52
8,

78
0.

00
41

5,
70

9.
01

0.
00

41
5,

70
9.

01
11

3,
07

0.
99

78
.6

2
   

 0
1 

- S
O

LI
D

 W
AS

TE
52

8,
78

0.
00

52
8,

78
0.

00
41

5,
70

9.
01

0.
00

41
5,

70
9.

01
11

3,
07

0.
99

78
.6

2
   

   
  5

65
5 

- M
SW

 D
IS

PO
SA

L
11

3,
25

0.
00

11
3,

25
0.

00
85

,2
12

.4
9

0.
00

85
,2

12
.4

9
28

,0
37

.5
1

75
.2

4
   

   
  5

66
0 

- R
EC

YC
LA

BL
ES

 C
OL

LE
CT

IO
N

11
3,

25
0.

00
11

3,
25

0.
00

84
,2

51
.9

2
0.

00
84

,2
51

.9
2

28
,9

98
.0

8
74

.3
9

   
   

  5
67

0 
- E

CO
M

AI
NE

 T
ON

AG
E

87
,5

00
.0

0
87

,5
00

.0
0

59
,4

72
.5

0
0.

00
59

,4
72

.5
0

28
,0

27
.5

0
67

.9
7

   
   

  5
68

5 
- C

LE
AN

UP
 D

AY
15

,0
00

.0
0

15
,0

00
.0

0
0.

00
0.

00
0.

00
15

,0
00

.0
0

0.
00

   
   

  5
68

8 
- G

AR
BA

GE
 T

O 
GA

RD
EN

4,
78

0.
00

4,
78

0.
00

2,
74

2.
00

0.
00

2,
74

2.
00

2,
03

8.
00

57
.3

6
   

   
  5

69
0 

- T
OT

E 
PU

RC
HA

SE
S

19
5,

00
0.

00
19

5,
00

0.
00

18
4,

03
0.

10
0.

00
18

4,
03

0.
10

10
,9

69
.9

0
94

.3
7

74



EX
PE

N
SE

 S
U

M
M

AR
Y 

RE
PO

RT

JU
LY

 T
O 

M
AR

CH
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T(
S)

: 1
10

 - 
17

0
10

:5
8 

AM
No

rth
 Y

ar
m

ou
th

Pa
ge

 1
4

04
/0

8/
20

24

BU
DG

ET
BU

DG
ET

CU
RR

 M
NT

H
CU

RR
 M

NT
H

YT
D

UN
EX

PE
ND

ED
PE

RC
EN

T
AC

CO
UN

T
OR

IG
IN

AL
NE

T
DE

BI
TS

CR
ED

IT
S

NE
T

BA
LA

NC
E

SP
EN

T
16

0 
- F

IX
ED

 E
XP

EN
SE

S 
CO

NT
'D

16
0 

- F
IX

ED
 E

XP
EN

SE
S

0.
00

0.
00

12
6,

50
3.

52
3,

57
9.

52
12

2,
92

4.
00

-1
22

,9
24

.0
0

---
-

   
 0

2 
- E

M
PL

O
YE

E 
BE

N
EF

IT
S

0.
00

0.
00

3,
25

3.
45

3,
25

3.
45

0.
00

0.
00

--
--

   
   

  5
74

0 
- F

IC
A

0.
00

0.
00

3,
25

3.
45

3,
25

3.
45

0.
00

0.
00

---
-

   
 0

5 
- N

Y/
CU

M
BE

RL
AN

D
 S

H
AR

ED
 S

ER
VI

CE
S

0.
00

0.
00

12
2,

92
4.

00
0.

00
12

2,
92

4.
00

-1
22

,9
24

.0
0

--
--

   
   

  5
80

0 
- P

RI
NC

E 
M

EM
OR

IA
L 

LI
BR

AR
Y

0.
00

0.
00

10
7,

45
2.

00
0.

00
10

7,
45

2.
00

-1
07

,4
52

.0
0

---
-

   
   

  5
81

0 
- R

EC
RE

AT
IO

N
0.

00
0.

00
15

,4
72

.0
0

0.
00

15
,4

72
.0

0
-1

5,
47

2.
00

---
-

   
 0

7 
- O

VE
RL

AY
0.

00
0.

00
32

6.
07

32
6.

07
0.

00
0.

00
--

--
   

   
  5

85
0 

- O
VE

RL
AY

0.
00

0.
00

32
6.

07
32

6.
07

0.
00

0.
00

---
-

75



EX
PE

N
SE

 S
U

M
M

AR
Y 

RE
PO

RT

JU
LY

 T
O 

M
AR

CH
DE

PA
RT

M
EN

T(
S)

: 1
10

 - 
17

0
10

:5
8 

AM
No

rth
 Y

ar
m

ou
th

Pa
ge

 1
5

04
/0

8/
20

24

BU
DG

ET
BU

DG
ET

CU
RR

 M
NT

H
CU

RR
 M

NT
H

YT
D

UN
EX

PE
ND

ED
PE

RC
EN

T
AC

CO
UN

T
OR

IG
IN

AL
NE

T
DE

BI
TS

CR
ED

IT
S

NE
T

BA
LA

NC
E

SP
EN

T
17

0 
- C

AP
IT

AL
 R

ES
. A

PP
RO

PR
IA

TI
ON

S 
 C

ON
T'

D
17

0 
- C

AP
IT

AL
 R

ES
. A

PP
RO

PR
IA

TI
ON

S
15

0,
00

0.
00

15
0,

00
0.

00
15

0,
00

0.
00

0.
00

15
0,

00
0.

00
0.

00
10

0.
00

   
 0

1 
- B

U
D

G
ET

ED
 A

PP
RO

PR
IA

TI
O

N
15

0,
00

0.
00

15
0,

00
0.

00
15

0,
00

0.
00

0.
00

15
0,

00
0.

00
0.

00
10

0.
00

   
   

  5
89

5 
- E

QU
IP

M
EN

T 
RE

SE
RV

E
15

0,
00

0.
00

15
0,

00
0.

00
15

0,
00

0.
00

0.
00

15
0,

00
0.

00
0.

00
10

0.
00

Fi
na

l T
ot

al
s

5,
08

0,
98

3.
00

14
,6

38
,7

06
.8

0
10

,9
53

,4
24

.3
7

88
,8

48
.7

6
10

,8
64

,5
75

.6
1

3,
77

4,
13

1.
19

74
.2

2

76



REVENUE SUMMARY REPORT

JULY TO MARCH
DEPARTMENT(S): 10011:02 AM

North Yarmouth
Page 1

04/08/2024

BUDGET YTD UNCOLL PCT
ACCOUNT NET NET BALANCE COLL

100 - REVENUES 14,638,706.81 14,243,188.23 395,518.58 97.30
    4010 - AGENT FEES 15,000.00 13,129.00 1,871.00 87.53
    4020 - RESCUE FEES 70,000.00 99,494.66 -29,494.66 142.14
    4021 - INTEREST INCOME 70,000.00 118,672.10 -48,672.10 169.53
    4030 - APPEALS 50.00 0.00 50.00 0.00
    4035 - BAD CHECK FEES 0.00 80.00 -80.00 ----
    4040 - BETE REIMBURSEMENT 70,047.28 70,047.00 0.28 100.00
    4050 - BOAT EXCISE 4,200.00 2,888.80 1,311.20 68.78
    4060 - BUILDING PERMITS 65,000.00 26,380.71 38,619.29 40.59
    4070 - CASH SHORT/OVER 0.00 -8.33 8.33 ----
    4080 - CATV FRANCHISE FEES 30,000.00 13,989.29 16,010.71 46.63
    4090 - CELL TOWER RENTAL 45,000.00 38,698.84 6,301.16 86.00
    4100 - CEO FINES 100.00 0.00 100.00 0.00
    4110 - CEO MISC. PERMITS 800.00 450.00 350.00 56.25
    4115 - CEO ADMINISTRATION FEES 8,000.00 5,225.00 2,775.00 65.31
    4130 - CLERK FEES 600.00 750.00 -150.00 125.00
    4140 - CUSTOMER SERVICES FEES 500.00 393.52 106.48 78.70
    4156 - GRANTS RECIVABLE - FUND 10 15,000.00 0.00 15,000.00 0.00
    4157 - PARK USE PERMIT DOGS 500.00 0.00 500.00 0.00
    4160 - ELECTRICAL PERMITS 11,000.00 12,688.75 -1,688.75 115.35
    4190 - FOAA FEES 0.00 186.25 -186.25 ----
    4200 - GENEOLOGY SEARCH 0.00 15.00 -15.00 ----
    4210 - GENERAL ASSISTANCE 2,100.00 0.00 2,100.00 0.00
    4220 - HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION 391,551.07 275,237.00 116,314.07 70.29
    4230 - RENEWABLE ENERGY EXEMPTION 0.00 345.00 -345.00 ----
    4255 - EMA REIMBURSEMENTS 0.00 10,716.51 -10,716.51 ----
    4260 - LOCAL ROAD ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 27,000.00 32,012.00 -5,012.00 118.56
    4265 - PROPERTY & CASUALTY POOL 2,500.00 0.00 2,500.00 0.00
    4270 - MSAD ELECTIONS 1,700.00 0.00 1,700.00 0.00
    4280 - MISC REVENUES 200.00 15,313.78 -15,113.78 999.99
    4290 - BMV EXCISE 1,000,000.00 865,964.35 134,035.65 86.60
    4320 - PLANNING BOARD 3,000.00 500.00 2,500.00 16.67
    4330 - PLUMBING PERMITS 10,000.00 5,903.75 4,096.25 59.04
    4335 - PRIVATE ROAD SIGNS 800.00 295.26 504.74 36.91
    4340 - SHARP HOUSE RENTAL FEES 10,200.00 8,075.00 2,125.00 79.17
    4342 - ROAD ORDINANCE PERMITS 100.00 425.00 -325.00 425.00
    4343 - SOLAR TAX REIMBURSEMENT 0.00 7,266.00 -7,266.00 ----
    4345 - WH&CC FEES 25,000.00 15,640.00 9,360.00 62.56
    4350 - REVENUE SHARING 748,498.00 574,343.87 174,154.13 76.73
    4370 - SITE PLAN REVIEW 1,500.00 0.00 1,500.00 0.00
    4390 - SOLID WASTE/RECYCLING 100,000.00 120,290.80 -20,290.80 120.29
    4400 - SW HAULER PERMIT 75.00 0.00 75.00 0.00
    4410 - TAX COMMITMENT 11,785,285.46 11,785,285.98 -0.52 100.00
    4415 - TAX SUPPLEMENTAL 0.00 18,368.68 -18,368.68 ----
    4420 - TAX INTEREST 15,000.00 5,091.58 9,908.42 33.94
    4480 - TREE GROWTH EXEMPTION 4,300.00 4,551.68 -251.68 105.85
    4485 - CONSOLIDATED COMM. LEASE 6,000.00 4,500.00 1,500.00 75.00
    4500 - VETERAN'S EXEMPTION 2,200.00 0.00 2,200.00 0.00
    4510 - VITAL RECORDS 3,000.00 2,081.40 918.60 69.38
    4991 - WH DONATIONS 15,000.00 10,000.00 5,000.00 66.67
    4993 - TRANSFER IN TIF 77,900.00 77,900.00 0.00 100.00

Final Totals 14,638,706.81 14,243,188.23 395,518.58 97.30

77



 

 
49 Pineland Drive, Suite 102  |  New Gloucester, Maine  04260 

207-400-6097  |  www.northstar-planning.com 

 
April 11, 2024 
 
Diane Barnes, Town Manager 
North Yarmouth Town Office 
10 Village Square Road 
North Yarmouth, ME 04097 
 
Subject:  Letter of Agreement, Municipal Planning Services 2024-2025 
 
Hello Diane, 
 
This letter of agreement (Agreement) is between the Town of North Yarmouth, 
Maine (“TOWN”) and North Star Planning (“PLANNER”), with a place of business at 49 
Pineland Drive, Suite 102, New Gloucester ME 04260. Pursuant to this Agreement, 
PLANNER will complete work based on the approved Work Scope, below, and as 
directed by the Town Manager and Code Enforcement Officer. 
 
Work Scope 

1. Planning Board Support & Development Review, as requested by the Code 
Enforcement Officer. 

a. Review proposed development that requires Planning Board approval 
for compliance with Town ordinances and regulations.  

• Coordinate reviews with the Town staff through the Code 
Enforcement Officer. 

• Attend daytime meetings with staff, developers, and/or potential 
applicants on an as needed basis in order to review and explain 
various regulatory and procedural requirements. 

• Correspond with applicants directly, as authorized by the Code 
Enforcement Officer. 

b. Prepare materials for Planning Board packets, including draft findings 
and conclusions with permit conditions.  The departmental Executive 
Assistant is to distribute the packets to Board members and post 
agendas, hearing notices and meeting packets to the Town website 
and other posting locations. 

c. Attend Planning Board meetings as required.  These meetings are 
generally scheduled for the 2st and 4rd Tuesdays. 

d. Correspond with Code Enforcement Officer or Planning Board Chair, as 
needed. 

 
  

78



 
 

2 

2. Provide policy advice and provide targeted updates of TOWN Ordinance as 
directed by the Code Enforcement Officer.  
 

3. Other tasks as assigned and agreed to in advance to clarify task scope and 
authorized billable hours. 

 
Timeframe 
This agreement shall remain in effect from July 1, 2024 through June 30, 2025, unless 
sooner terminated by either party at any time for any reason upon written notice 
with fourteen (14) calendar days’ notice.  
 
Compensation 
The Town Manager will authorize compensation by the TOWN for work completed 
on a time and materials basis.  These services will be billed based on the following 
rates: 

• Principal Planner = $160/hour 
• Senior Planner = $150-135/hour 
• Planner = $125-110/hour 
• Associate Planner = $100/hour 

 
Billing associated with this Scope of Work shall be submitted monthly. Invoices will 
be due upon receipt. Payments are to be reported to the IRS in accordance with 
applicable regulations (Form 1099-MISC). 
 
Insurance 
PLANNER will provide TOWN with proof of liability insurance, naming TOWN (and its 
officers, officials, employees, agents, insurers, and representatives) as an additional 
insured under the insurance policy.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing shall be 
construed to waive the TOWN’S statutory immunities, defenses, and limits to liability 
for any claim brought against PLANNER or the TOWN under the Maine Tort Claims 
Act.  
 
General 
All work products completed or under development are the property of the TOWN 
and any work in progress under development at the end of this agreement shall be 
transmitted to the TOWN, in editable format, within three days of the termination 
date or expiration of this Agreement. 
 
  

79



 
 

3 

Contractor Status 
PLANNER is an independent contractor, and the parties acknowledge that nothing 
in this Agreement shall confer an employer-employee relationship with TOWN. 
PLANNER shall be responsive to obtain, maintain and provide unemployment 
insurance coverage and workers compensation coverage, and shall provide TOWN 
with proof of such coverage before commencing work.  
 
Governing Law 
The parties agree that this Agreement shall be construed, interpreted, and governed 
by the laws and in the courts of the State of Maine.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
North Star Planning, LLC 
Ben Smith, AICP 
Principal  
 
TOWN      PLANNER 
 
Town of North Yarmouth, Maine   North Star Planning, LLC 
 
By: _____________________________   By: _____________________________  
 
Title: ___________________________   Title: ___________________________ 
 
Date: __________________________   Date: __________________________ 

80


	5- B Forest Management Plan Service Agreement.pdf
	Blank Page




